# **JMIR** Diabetes

Emerging Technologies, Medical Devices, Apps, Sensors, and Informatics to Help People with Diabetes Volume 2 (2017), Issue 1 ISSN 2371-4379 Editors-in-Chief: Ricardo Correa, MD, EdD; Sheyu Li, MD

# Contents

## **Original Papers**

XSL•F<del>0</del> RenderX

Smartphone App Use for Diabetes Management: Evaluating Patient Perspectives (e2)	
Kirstie Lithgow, Alun Edwards, Doreen Rabi	. 3
Mixed-Methods Research in Diabetes Management via Mobile Health Technologies: A Scoping Review (e3)	
Cigdem Sahin, Patti-Jean Naylor.	. 8
A Novel Intervention Including Individualized Nutritional Recommendations Reduces Hemoglobin A1c Level, Medication Use, and Weight in Type 2 Diabetes (e5)	
Amy McKenzie, Sarah Hallberg, Brent Creighton, Brittanie Volk, Theresa Link, Marcy Abner, Roberta Glon, James McCarter, Jeff Volek, Stephen Phinney.	24
How's Your Sugar? Evaluation of a Website for Aboriginal People With Diabetes (e6)	
Karen Adams, Anna Liebzeit, Jennifer Browne, Petan Atkinson.	38
Machine or Human? Evaluating the Quality of a Language Translation Mobile App for Diabetes Education Material (e13)	
Xuewei Chen, Sandra Acosta, Adam Barry	49
Telemonitoring and Health Counseling for Self-Management Support of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial (e10)	
Inger Lindberg, Astrid Torbjørnsen, Siv Söderberg, Lis Ribu.	59
The Use of Mobile Health to Deliver Self-Management Support to Young People With Type 1 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Survey (e4)	
Rosie Dobson, Robyn Whittaker, Rinki Murphy, Manish Khanolkar, Steven Miller, Joanna Naylor, Ralph Maddison.	74
Phone Messaging to Prompt Physical Activity and Social Support Among Low-Income Latino Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Pilot Study (e8)	
Magaly Ramirez, Shinyi Wu	83
Situation of Diabetes and Related Factors Among Qatari Adults: Findings From a Community-Based Survey (e7)	
Akram.	96
Import of Foodback on Olyapon Control in Type 4 Disbetter, A Three Year Cohort Study (-0)	
Goran Petrovski, Marija Zivkovic.	113

# Viewpoint

The Case for Jointly Targeting Diabetes and Depression Among Vulnerable Patients Using Digital	
Technology (e1)	
Adrian Aguilera, Courtney Lyles.	108

**Original Paper** 

# Smartphone App Use for Diabetes Management: Evaluating Patient Perspectives

Kirstie Lithgow<sup>1</sup>, MD; Alun Edwards<sup>1</sup>, MD, FRCPC; Doreen Rabi<sup>1,2</sup>, MD, MSc, FRCPC

<sup>1</sup>Department of Medicine, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada <sup>2</sup>Institute for Public Health, Cumming School of Medicine, University of Calgary, Calgary, AB, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** Kirstie Lithgow, MD Department of Medicine Cumming School of Medicine University of Calgary 1820 Richmond Road SW Calgary, AB, T2T 5C7 Canada Phone: 1 403 605 0811 Fax: 1 403 955 8249 Email: kclithgo@ucalgary.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Finding novel ways to engage patients in chronic disease management has led to increased interest in the potential of mobile health technologies for the management of diabetes. There is currently a wealth of smartphone apps for diabetes management that are available for free download or purchase. However, the usability and desirability of these apps has not been extensively studied. These are important considerations, as these apps must be accepted by the patient population at a practical level if they are to be utilized.

**Objective:** The purpose of this study was to gain insight into patient experiences related to the use of smartphone apps for the management of type 1 diabetes.

**Methods:** Adults with type 1 diabetes who had previously (or currently) used apps to manage their diabetes were eligible to participate. Participants (n=12) completed a questionnaire in which they were required to list the names of preferred apps and indicate which app functions they had used. Participants were given the opportunity to comment on app functions that they perceived to be missing from the current technology. Participants were also asked whether they had previously paid for an app and whether they would be willing to do so.

**Results:** MyFitnessPal and iBGStar were the apps most commonly listed as the best available on the market. Blood glucose tracking, carbohydrate counting, and activity tracking were the most commonly used features. Ten participants fulfilled all eligibility criteria, and indicated that they had not encountered any one app that included all of the functions that they had used. The ability to synchronize an app with a glucometer or insulin pump was the most common function that participants stated was missing from current app technology. One participant had previously paid for a diabetes-related app and the other 9 participants indicated that they would be willing to pay.

**Conclusions:** Despite dissatisfaction with the currently available apps, there is interest in using these tools for diabetes management. Adapting existing technology to better meet the needs of this patient population may allow these apps to become more widely utilized.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e2) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6643

#### KEYWORDS

type 1 diabetes; mobile health; smartphone

# Introduction

Finding novel ways to engage patients in chronic disease management has led to an increased interest in the potential of mobile health (mHealth) technologies for the management of diabetes. There is currently a wealth of smartphone apps for diabetes management that are available for free download or purchase [1]. The functions of diabetes apps vary, with glucose tracking, calorie counting, activity tracking, and education among the many available features [2,3]. There is evidence from small studies that app use may have a beneficial effect on health outcomes [4], however user preferences and desired features of these apps is a topic in need of further study [5,6]. A previous systematic review on this topic demonstrated that the usability of many apps is suboptimal, and advocated for greater patient input in the development of such apps [1]. Conway et al [7] illustrated that preferences of diabetes app users may not be well represented in the available technology, as education features are highly desired, yet only present in a minority of apps. There also appear to be differences in user preferences according to gender [8] and age [1,9]. Other studies [9,10] have highlighted the importance of user satisfaction and ease of use in acceptance of apps as diabetes self-management tools. These are important considerations, as these apps must be accepted by the patient population at a practical level if they are to be utilized. The objective of this study was to gain insight into patient perspectives and experiences related to the use of available diabetes apps. Specifically, we were interested in which diabetes apps were being used, what features of these apps were valued by patients, and what perceived gaps exist in app technology.

Figure 1. Patient recruitment strategy.



The procedures followed in this study were in accordance with the ethical standards of the Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board. Over a period of 8 months we recruited patients from nine diabetes clinics, one diabetes and pregnancy clinic, and one insulin pump support group to participate in a short survey about their experiences using smartphone apps for diabetes. We used a purposive sampling strategy to target patients with a high probability of having sufficient experience with smartphone apps. Recent work with a patient portal at our center suggested that patients with type 1 diabetes have higher rates of e-literacy and diabetes self-efficacy than patients with type 2 diabetes. Based on this premise, we limited our recruitment to patients with type 1 diabetes. To be eligible for participation, patients had to have a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes mellitus, along with experience using smartphone apps for some aspect of their diabetes management. During recruitment, each clinic schedule was reviewed in advance to identify patients with type 1 diabetes. These individuals were then approached and screened for eligibility based on whether they had any experience using smartphone apps for diabetes self-management. A total of 60 patients were approached for recruitment from the clinics (n=49) and support group (n=11; Figure 1). The high number of patients that did not participate was due to ineligibility based on a lack of experience with smartphone apps; all eligible patients chose to participate. Our original targeted sample size was 20, but recruitment was stopped at 12 patients due to time constraints and the emergence of some consistent patterns.



The 12 eligible participants answered a short questionnaire. Participants were required to provide demographic information including age, gender, number of years with type 1 diabetes diagnosis, number of years using a smartphone, and what type of smartphone they were using. Participants were asked to provide the specific names of up to 3 of the best apps they had encountered for managing their diabetes. From a list of known functions of available diabetes apps, participants were asked to indicate which features they had used. Participants were then asked if any of the apps they had encountered included all of the functions that they had used, and were asked to provide the names of any such apps. Participants were given space to make specific comments about app functions that they perceived were absent from currently available technology. Finally, participants were asked whether they had ever paid for an app, along with if (and how much) they would be willing to pay.

### Results

Data was collected from 12 eligible participants, however 2 respondents were excluded from the final analysis, as incomplete data was provided. The age of participants ranged from 18 to 64 years (mean 34.5). We recruited 7 men and 3 women. The average length of time with a diagnosis of type 1 diabetes was 20.6 years. We did not collect data regarding the use of insulin pumps or continuous glucose monitors (CGMs). MyFitnessPal

Figure 2. Use of different app functions, as self-reported by participants.

and iBGStar were the apps most commonly listed as the best available on the market; each was listed by 2 participants. The remainder of the apps that were listed included Diabetes App, Guide Resto, Glucose Buddy, Carb Control, Lose it, S health, Bike tracks, Mountain Bike Pro, and iPhone health App; each of these apps was listed by 1 participant. Two participants indicated that they were no longer using apps due to dissatisfaction with apps that they had previously used. In terms of functions used, blood glucose tracking, carbohydrate counting, and activity tracking were the most commonly used features (Figure 2). In response to whether any apps they had encountered included all functions that they were using, all participants answered no. The function most frequently indicated by participants as being absent from app technology was the ability to synch the app with a glucometer or insulin pump, which was a response given by 5 participants. Reminder to check blood glucose was indicated as a missing feature by 2 participants, Canadian units for blood glucose values was mentioned by 1 participant, and a more comprehensive graphing function was listed by 1 participant. Only 1 participant reported previously paying for an app related to diabetes management, and 9 patients indicated that they would be willing to pay for an app. Of the participants willing to pay, 8 stated that they would be willing to pay between Can \$5 and \$20, and 1 participant indicated that there was no upper limit to what they would be willing to pay.



# Discussion

Despite the presence of hundreds of diabetes-related apps, recruiting patients that currently use these apps was a challenge. Furthermore, the apps that are currently being used do not meet all of the patients' expectations of a self-management tool. However, there remains a desire to continue using these apps despite their shortcomings, and a high willingness to pay for this technology.

We acknowledge that this study has some limitations regarding its generalizability. The collected data represent the views of a population of patients with type 1 diabetes, which may differ from patients with type 2 diabetes. These findings do not extend to mobile apps that might be part of a larger patient or electronic medical record platform. In our small study, we were not able

#### Lithgow et al

JMIR DIABETES

to make any specific correlations with the nature of app use and patient factors, such as duration of diabetes, gender, and concurrent use of insulin pump or CGM. Previous studies have shown that duration of diabetes diagnosis influences how patients engage with self-management technology [11]. An average duration of 20.6 years of diabetes diagnosis reflects extensive experience with diabetes self-management, which may limit the perceived value of diabetes apps by our participants.

The most commonly used functions cited by participants (blood glucose tracking, carbohydrate counting, and activity tracking) all relate to logging and tracking data, while more sophisticated functions such as education, feedback, and social networking were relatively underutilized. Further analysis of the specific apps preferred by participants revealed that the functions performed by these apps align with the most commonly used functions. This finding may suggest that the nature of participant app use is primarily based on what functions are included in currently available apps, and does not necessarily reflect patient preferences. Previous authors have illustrated that many patients feel that existing apps are missing important functions [9]. From a patient perspective, education has been specifically identified as an area in need of further development for diabetes apps [7]. Importantly, perceived lack of additional benefit from apps for diabetes management has been shown to be a barrier to app use [9]. Development of apps that take patients' desires and preferences into consideration, and offer novel tools for self-management, is therefore necessary to improve patient engagement.

Interestingly, despite the ubiquitous use of smartphones and high acceptance of mHealth by patients, only a small proportion of patients are currently utilizing smartphone technology to manage their diabetes [7]. One factor potentially contributing to this trend is that most currently available apps are not capable of synchronization with a glucometer or insulin pump.

One insulin pump user specifically commented that carrying both an insulin pump and a smartphone while doing more intense physical activity was unappealing. Lack of interoperability of apps with other devices has been identified as an area of concern from a patient perspective [9]. Redundant data tracking and entry into a smartphone app, in addition to an insulin pump or glucometer, could therefore be an important barrier to utilization of diabetes apps by patients, representing a potential implication for future development in mHealth technology.

Finally, while the vast majority of participants had never paid for an app, an equal proportion expressed a willingness to do so. Although the overall results of this study reflect general dissatisfaction with the currently available technology, these findings suggest that there is desire and interest for using diabetes apps from a patient perspective. To ensure that these tools are fully harnessed, existing technology must be adapted to better meet the needs of this patient population.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Naomi Popeski for her contribution to this work. Doreen Rabi is supported by an Alberta Innovates - Health Solutions Population Health Investigator Award.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- Tran J, Tran R, White JR. Smartphone-based glucose monitors and applications in the management of diabetes: an overview of 10 salient "apps" and a novel smartphone-connected blood glucose monitor. Clinical Diabetes 2012 Oct 15;30(4):173-178. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.30.4.173]
- 3. Rao A, Hou P, Golnik T, Flaherty J, Vu S. Evolution of data management tools for managing self-monitoring of blood glucose results: a survey of iPhone applications. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2010 Jul;4(4):949-957 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 20663461]
- 4. Garabedian LF, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Mobile phone and smartphone technologies for diabetes care and self-management. Curr Diab Rep 2015 Dec;15(12):109. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0680-8] [Medline: 26458380]
- Chomutare T, Fernandez-Luque L, Arsand E, Hartvigsen G. Features of mobile diabetes applications: review of the literature and analysis of current applications compared against evidence-based guidelines. J Med Internet Res 2011;13(3):e65 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1874] [Medline: 21979293]
- 6. Holtz B, Lauckner C. Diabetes management via mobile phones: a systematic review. Telemed J E Health 2012 Apr;18(3):175-184. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0119] [Medline: 22356525]
- Conway N, Campbell I, Forbes P, Cunningham S, Wake D. mHealth applications for diabetes: user preference and implications for app development. Health Informatics J 2016 Dec;22(4):1111-1120. [doi: 10.1177/1460458215616265] [Medline: 26635324]

- Arora S, Ford K, Terp S, Abramson T, Ruiz R, Camilon M, et al. Describing the evolution of mobile technology usage for Latino patients and comparing findings to national mHealth estimates. J Am Med Inform Assoc 2016 Sep;23(5):979-983. [doi: 10.1093/jamia/ocv203] [Medline: 26995564]
- 9. Scheibe M, Reichelt J, Bellmann M, Kirch W. Acceptance factors of mobile apps for diabetes by patients aged 50 or older: a qualitative study. Med 2 0 2015 Mar 02;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/med20.3912] [Medline: 25733033]
- Kim YJ, Rhee SY, Byun JK, Park SY, Hong SM, Chin SO, et al. A smartphone application significantly improved diabetes self-care activities with high user satisfaction. Diabetes Metab J 2015 Jun;39(3):207-217 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4093/dmj.2015.39.3.207] [Medline: 26124991]
- 11. Klasnja P, Kendall L, Pratt W, Blondon K. Long-term engagement with health-management technology: a dynamic process in diabetes. AMIA Annu Symp Proc 2015;2015:756-765 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 26958211]

#### Abbreviations

CGM: continuous glucose monitor **mHealth**: mobile health

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 12.09.16; peer-reviewed by K Blondon, C Sahin; comments to author 10.10.16; revised version received 20.11.16; accepted 22.12.16; published 23.01.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lithgow K, Edwards A, Rabi D

Smartphone App Use for Diabetes Management: Evaluating Patient Perspectives JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e2 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e2/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6643 PMID:30291051

©Kirstie Lithgow, Alun Edwards, Doreen Rabi. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 23.01.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Mixed-Methods Research in Diabetes Management via Mobile Health Technologies: A Scoping Review

Cigdem Sahin<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Patti-Jean Naylor<sup>2</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Social Dimensions of Health Program, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada
 <sup>2</sup>School of Exercise Science, Physical and Health Education, University of Victoria, Victoria, BC, Canada

**Corresponding Author:** Cigdem Sahin, PhD Social Dimensions of Health Program University of Victoria PO Box 3050 STN CSC Victoria, BC, V8W 3P5 Canada Phone: 1 250 472 5185 Fax: 1 250 721 7212 Email: csahin@uvic.ca

# Abstract

**Background:** Considering the increasing incidence and prevalence of diabetes worldwide and the high level of patient involvement it requires, diabetes self-management is a serious issue. The use of mobile health (mHealth) in diabetes self-management has increased, but so far research has not provided sufficient information about the uses and effectiveness of mHealth-based interventions. Alternative study designs and more rigorous methodologies are needed. Mixed-methods designs may be particularly useful because both diabetes self-management and mHealth studies require integrating theoretical and methodological approaches.

**Objective:** This scoping review aimed to examine the extent of the use of mixed-methods research in mHealth-based diabetes management studies. The methodological approaches used to conduct mixed-methods studies were analyzed, and implications for future research are provided.

**Methods:** Guided by Arksey and O'Malley's framework, this scoping review implemented a comprehensive search strategy including reviewing electronic databases, key journal searches, Web-based research and knowledge centers, websites, and handsearching reference lists of the studies. The studies focusing on mHealth technologies and diabetes management were included in the review if they were primary research papers published in academic journals and reported using a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods. The key data extracted from the reviewed studies include purpose of mixing, design type, stage of integration, methods of legitimation, and data collection techniques.

**Results:** The final sample (N=14) included studies focused on the feasibility and usability of mHealth diabetes apps (n=7), behavioral measures related to the mHealth apps (n=6), and challenges of intervention delivery in the mHealth context (n=1). Reviewed studies used advanced forms of mixed-methods designs where integration occurred at multiple points and data were collected using multiple techniques. However, the majority of studies did not identify a specific mixed-methods design or use accepted terminology; nor did they justify using this approach.

**Conclusions:** This review provided important insights into the use of mixed methods in studies focused on diabetes management via mHealth technologies. The prominent role of qualitative methods and tailored measures in diabetes self-management studies was confirmed, and the importance of using multiple techniques and approaches in this field was emphasized. This review suggests defining specific mixed-methods questions, using specific legitimation methods, and developing research designs that overcome sampling and other methodological problems in future studies.

#### (JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e3) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6667

**KEYWORDS** mHealth; self-management; methods; review



#### Introduction

#### The Increasing Need for mHealth and Mixed-Methods Research in Diabetes Management

Increases in diabetes incidence and prevalence are a major concern in today's health care system. There are nearly 385 million diabetic patients in the world, and almost 90% of them have type 2 diabetes, which can be treated with appropriate lifestyle and nutrition changes. Diabetes is a complicated disease and requires a high level of patient involvement; 95% of its management is patient initiated. Considering the additional 235 million patients with type 2 diabetes expected worldwide by the year 2035, the development of diabetic patients' self-management skills is critical [1].

Mobile health (mHealth) apps that offer personalized, fast, cost-effective, and engaging services to patients have been used increasingly in diabetes self-management [2,3]. The "disease and treatment" apps category currently includes more than 2250 diabetes apps (iOS and Android systems in total). The number of mobile apps for diabetes is growing rapidly and market penetration is expected to grow to 7.8% by 2018, reaching 24 million diabetic patients [4].

Despite the increase in the diabetes cases and rapid growth in the mobile app market, research does not yet provide sufficient information about the factors fostering or hindering the adoption of these apps, patients' attitudes toward using them, or their effectiveness in terms of health behavior change [2,5,6,7,8]. Therefore, the controversy over whether research methodologies or mHealth-based interventions are ineffective [9,10] still remains. Alternative study designs and more rigorous methodologies to advance mHealth research, especially in diabetes management, are strongly suggested [2,11].

There is a growing interest in using mixed-methods research in mHealth-based diabetes management studies because both diabetes self-management and mHealth studies require using different approaches, techniques, and measures cooperatively within an integrated perspective [7,12,13]. This scoping review examined the extent of mixed-methods research used in mHealth-based diabetes management studies. The methodological approaches used to conduct mixed-methods studies were also investigated, and implications for future mHealth and diabetes management research are provided.

#### A Brief Review of Mixed-Methods Research

Mixed-methods research grew out of the "paradigm" controversy between positivist (quantitative) and constructivist (qualitative) research traditions in the 1980s and 1990s [14]. Mixed-methods research relies on both theory and practice to integrate knowledge from multiple approaches, perspectives, tools, positions, and opinions. The term "method" is used to cover a broad range of methodological (data collection techniques, design types, research methods, and so on) and related philosophical issues (eg, ontology, epistemology, axiology) [15].

The main goal of mixed-methods research is to use both quantitative and qualitative approaches to provide a better

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/
```

XSL•FC

understanding of the research phenomena [16]. Because of the complementary strengths of different research paradigms, methodologies, and methods, mixed-methods research may provide new and different perspectives about an issue, expanding study findings beyond those produced by only one approach. Mixed-methods research increases the credibility of results when different approaches suggest the same conclusion, so it's a value-added methodology [17,18].

Mixed-methods research is generally used for (1) triangulation of different approaches and methodologies to explain a single phenomenon; (2) complementarity of the research methods where one method is used to elaborate, illustrate, enhance, or clarify the results from another method; (3) sequential development of a study in which the results of one method are used to inform the other; (4) initiation of a study by using one method to find contradictions and paradoxes in findings from another method; and (5) expansion of a research study by using different methods to gain new perspectives or insights about a research problem [19].

Selecting an appropriate research design is a crucial step in a mixed-methods research. The purpose of a study and the nature of the research question help shape the design used in a mixed-methods study. In addition, using either concurrent or sequential time orientation affects study design, sampling, and data collection.

In a concurrent time orientation, data collection is completed for quantitative and qualitative phases of the study at approximately the same time to answer the same question. Both datasets are processed during data analysis and interpretation stages.

In a sequential time orientation, data can be obtained in stages, so the data from the first stage are used to shape the selection of data in the second stage (exploratory or explanatory sequential design). On the basis of their study purposes, questions, designs, and resources, researchers might place equal emphasis on both methods or use one of them primarily [16,20].

Integration is the central issue of mixed-methods research because it enables researchers to examine both types of data intensively [20]. Integration can be achieved at the method level or at the interpretation and reporting level. Bryman [21] reported that 57% of social science studies using mixed methods collected qualitative and quantitative data separately, while in approximately 27% both quantitative and qualitative data were derived from a single data source (eg, survey questionnaires including closed and open-ended questions). A growing scholarly interest has advanced mixed-methods research in various areas. Especially in health sciences, several important applications of mixed-methods research have been reported [22,23]. However, the majority of these studies failed to provide a detailed description of their data collection techniques, methods of analysis, stages of integration, and justifications for the use of mixed methods [24].

#### Methods

The 5-stage scoping review framework developed by Arksey and O'Malley [25] was used to identify and examine the related

#### Sahin & Naylor

JMIR DIABETES

literature in this review. This framework allows researchers to clearly describe the methods used at each stage to increase the transparency and replicability of the studies.

#### Framework Stage 1: Identifying the Research Question

The research questions addressed in this review are as follows: (1) what is the extent and nature of mixed-methods research in mHealth-based diabetes management studies and (2) what are the current methodological approaches for designing and conducting mixed methods in these studies?

As a scoping review, this study did not intend to evaluate the scientific rigor of the selected studies as seen in systematic

reviews [25]. It aimed to present the different ways in which researchers have used mixed methods.

#### Framework Stage 2: Identifying Relevant Studies

Because the key purpose of the study was scoping the area of research, a comprehensive search strategy using multiple sources was used to identify all the relevant studies. Content-specific electronic databases, key journals, Web-based research and knowledge centers, websites, and handsearches of reference lists from studies and reviews were included in the search. The search was run between May 15, 2016, and June 30, 2016, and included all articles published by July 1, 2016. Table 1 presents the literature sources used for this review.

 Table 1. Sources used to search the literature in this scoping review.

Source type	Literature sources used
Electronic databases	PubMed, CINAHL <sup>a</sup> , Web of Science, PsycINFO, Google Scholar
Key journal search	Journal of Medical Internet Research, The Journal of mHealth, The Diabetes Educator, The Journal of Mixed Methods Research, Journal of Diabetes, Journal of Diabetes Research, Journal of Telemedicine and Telecare, Telemedicine and e-Health
Research and knowledge net- works	mHealth Evidence US NIDDK <sup>b</sup> Diabetes Research Center, ResearchGate
Reference lists search	Systematic reviews, meta-analyses, narrative reviews, and similar article searches of the Web-based publishers

<sup>a</sup>CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature.

<sup>b</sup>NIDDK: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases.

Three sets of search term combinations were used in the search, and they were entered and combined using Boolean operators where applicable. Combination 1 was the most detailed and was used in each electronic database and on the mHealth Evidence website. It included "mobile health," "mHealth," "m-Health," "mobile," "mobile phone," "smartphone," "cellular phone," "texting," "text messaging," "SMS," "telemedicine," "telehealth," "telecare," "telemonitoring," "diabetes," "diabetes mellitus," "diabetic," "mixed method," "multi-method," and "mix methodology."

Because some studies do not explicitly indicate their methodologies as mixed methods, mix methodology, or multimethod, combination 2 was applied without using the methodology terms (mixed methods, multimethod, mix methodology). Because of the excessive number of records that resulted in the search with combination 2 in Google Scholar, PubMed, and Web of Science, this search was only completed in CINAHL (Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature) and PsycINFO databases.

Combination 3 used the terms most relevant to our research question. "Mobile health," "diabetes," and "mixed methods" search terms were used in US NIDDK (National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases) Diabetes Research Center and in Google Scholar. Wide search options were used in terms of text availability, publication dates, and document formats, and only the English-language and academic journal filters were applied in electronic sources. ResearchGate was only used to search for the authors' personal files and to obtain full-text articles. Table 2 summarizes the search term combinations used in each electronic source.

Search terms	Web of Science	CINAHL <sup>a</sup>	PubMed	PsycINFO	Google Scholar	mHealth Evi- dence	US NIDDK <sup>b</sup> Diabetes Research Center
Combination 1	✓	<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>	✓	✓	✓	✓	
Combination 2	✓	1	1	✓	1		
Combination 3					1		1

Table 2. Search combinations used in electronic sources.

<sup>a</sup>CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature.

<sup>b</sup>NIDDK: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases.

#### Framework Stage 3: Study Selection

Several inclusion and exclusion criteria were applied to the identified studies. The review included the primary research

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/

studies published in English-language academic journals that focused on using mHealth technologies in the context of type

1, type 2, or gestational diabetes management and included a combination of qualitative and quantitative methods.

In this review, the term "mobile health technologies" was used to cover mobile phones, portable monitoring devices (ie, accelerometer), and wireless devices used in medical care (ie, cell phones). Studies whose focus was Internet (computer)-based, telephone (landline)-based, or home-based monitoring were excluded. Examples of such studies include a mixed-methods diabetes telemonitoring study [26], using a Web-enabled glucometer for self-monitoring blood glucose, and a home-based monitoring study [27] including a randomized controlled trial and a series of interviews that used a transmission device to be attached to an analog telephone line or via USB to a computer to upload blood glucose and blood pressure measurements to a server. In addition, there were telephone coaching and counseling studies (ie, [28,29]) that did not match the inclusion criteria. The studies related to diabetic retinography were also excluded. Figure 1 presents the article selection process in this review.

Figure 1. Study selection process.



#### Framework Stage 4: Charting the Data

The descriptive-analytical method [25] was followed in order to standardize and chart key items of information acquired from the reviewed articles. The information collected and charted included the following elements:

- Authors, year of publication
- Main purpose of the study
- Recognition of mixed methods (mixed-methods terminology used or not)
- Purpose of mixing

Table 3.	Common	design	types	used	in	mixed-methods research	
----------	--------	--------	-------	------	----	------------------------	--

- Formal mixed-methods research question formulated (yes or no)
- Prioritized method
- Design type
- Stage of integration
- Legitimation methods used
- Sources of qualitative data
- Sources of quantitative data
- Limitations described

Tables 3-5 present the definitions used to analyze the design types (Table 3), integration strategies (Table 4), and legitimation methods (Table 5) in this review.

Designs <sup>a</sup>		Objectives
Concurrent		This design aims to compare and contrast the results of both quantitative and qualitative findings, or to validate or expand quantitative results with qualitative data. This design is also labeled as parallel or convergent design. The researchers use different methods complementarily to investigate the same topic.
Sequential		
	Exploratory	If a study has one dataset built on the results from the other, it is classified as a sequential design. It is a 2-phase mixed-methods design that collects only one type of data at a time. This design aims to explore first by placing a qualitative phase before a quan- titative phase, and the data from the first phase are used to develop the second phase.
	Explanatory	This design aims to clarify or interpret unexpected or confusing results from the quantitative phase with a follow-up qualitative phase. It can also be used to form groups based on quantitative results and monitor the groups through follow-up qualitative re- search.
Embedded		This includes the combination of both quantitative and qualitative data, but one data type has a supportive, secondary role within the overall design. One type of data is embedded within a methodology adapted by the other data type. It can be either a 1- or a 2-phase study. Unlike the conventional mixed-methods researchers, who think both methods should answer the same question in the research, some researchers have different questions requiring different types of data. Some complex interventions and experimental studies need embedded designs because this design is more manageable in terms of time and resources.
Multiphase		This design includes multiple qualitative, quantitative, or mixed measurement phases conducted over time and linked together so that one phase builds on another with a common overall objective. They usually include convergent and sequential elements.

<sup>a</sup>Developed based on the frameworks presented in Creswell [20], Creswell and Plano Clark [30], and Creswell et al [22].

#### Table 4. Integration through methods.

Approach <sup>a</sup>	Description
Connecting	One dataset links to the other through sampling.
Building	One dataset informs the data collection approach of the other.
Merging	The two datasets are brought together for analysis.
Multiple integration	Data collection and analysis are linked at multiple points.

<sup>a</sup>Adapted from Fetters et al [31].



#### Table 5. Methods of legitimation

Approach <sup>a</sup>	Description
Inside-outside legitimation	Insider (emic) viewpoint refers to viewpoint of a group member while outsider (etic) viewpoint refers to an objective viewpoint gathered from an external source. Peer reviews, expert reviews, participant views, and team members' views are used for legitimation.
Paradigmatic or philosophical validity	Successful integration of philosophical and methodological beliefs, defining the paradigm assumptions explic- itly, and conducting research accordingly are the main indicators of legitimation.
Commensurability legitimation	This type of validity is obtained when researchers develop a third, mixed view, which helps them make broader and richer explanations about their study conclusions.
Weakness minimization	This type of validity is related to the integration of the research; researchers must continuously work to have nonoverlapping weaknesses while planning and designing their study.
Sequential legitimation	This type of validity is used to understand whether the sequential order of qualitative and quantitative phases in a study influences the results.
Conversion legitimation	By quantifying the narrative descriptions and creating a narrative profile for quantitative results (qualitizing), researchers can interpret their data in a broader perspective.
Sample integration	This type of validity refers to making appropriate generalizations from mixed samples. The relationship between the sampling designs in quantitative and qualitative phases is an important indicator of validity.
Sociopolitical legitimation	In order to achieve this type of legitimation, mixed-methods researchers should advocate pluralism of perspec- tives and try to build a practical theory or result that research consumers will find valuable.
Multiple legitimation	This type of validity indicates the extent to which all the pertinent validities (quantitative, qualitative, and mixed) are addressed and resolved successfully.

<sup>a</sup>Adapted from Onwuegbuzie and Johnson [32].

## Results

#### Framework Stage 5: Collating, Summarizing, and Reporting the Results

#### Collating and Summarizing the Results

The database search revealed 8 articles; with handsearches of reference lists and key journals, a total of 14 articles were identified. The final sample included studies focusing on feasibility and usability of mHealth diabetes technologies (n=7), behavioral measures related to mHealth apps (n=6), and challenges in patient recruitment, fidelity, and intervention delivery in the context of mHealth (n=1).

For this scoping review, the first author derived the data from the articles and completed the initial coding, which was verified by the second author. In addition, an independent researcher (an experienced researcher and doctoral student in social sciences) separately coded the articles based on the study design framework used in this review. Comparing the results revealed an interrater reliability level of more than 90%.

The characteristics of mixed-methods research used in the reviewed studies and the summary of the findings are presented in Tables 6 and 7. Table 6 presents the data gathered on formal recognition of mixed methods and purpose of using mixed methodology, indicating a formal mixed-methods question, priority of the methods used, stages of integration, and the design type used in the studies. Table 7 lists the data gathered on legitimation methods, qualitative and quantitative sources of data, and limitations as described in the studies.



Sahin & Naylor

Table 6. The characteristics of mixed-methods research in mHealth-based diabetes management studies examined in this review (part 1).

				8			
Author, year	Main purpose of the study	Recognition of MM <sup>a</sup>	Purpose of mixing	Formal MM research question	Prioritized method	Stage of integra- tion	Design type
Allen et al, 2009 [33]	To assess feasibility and acceptability of continu- ous glucose monitoring and accelerometer tech- nology in exercising type 2 diabetic patients	Yes, as multi- method	Complementarity	No	Equal	Sampling and in- terpretation	Explanatory se- quential
Baron et al, 2015 [34]	To identify the chal- lenges related to recruit- ment, fidelity, implemen- tation, and context of mobile telehealth inter- ventions targeting diabet- ic patients	Yes	Complementarity: different measures for different parts of the research phenomenon	No	QUAN <sup>b</sup>	Sampling, data collection, data analysis, and in- terpretation	Embedded
Baron et al, 2016 [35]	To examine the behav- ioral effects of a mobile phone–based home tele- health intervention in dia- betic patients	No	Triangulation	No	QUAN	Sampling and in- terpretation	Embedded
Burner et al, 2013 [36]	To explore the attitudes of inner-city Latino pa- tients toward TExT- MED <sup>d</sup> program and other health information sources	Yes	Initiation: the qual- itative study was conducted to under- stand the contradic- tory findings of the quantitative method	No	Equal	Sampling and in- terpretation	Explanatory se- quential
Carroll et al, 2007 [37]	To evaluate user satisfac- tion with an mHealth dia- betes monitoring system	Yes	Sequential develop- ment	No	QUAN	Discussion or in- terpretation	Exploratory sequen- tial
Franklin et al, 2008 [38]	To explore the interac- tions of type 1 patients with SMS text messaging support	Yes	Triangulation	No	Equal	Sampling, data analysis, and in- terpretation	Concurrent
Froisland et al, 2012 [39]	To explore ways mobile apps can be used to mon- itor adolescents with type 1 diabetes	Yes	Triangulation	No	QUAL <sup>c</sup>	Sampling, data collection, and interpretation	Embedded
Georgsson and Stag- gers, 2016 [40]	To test the feasibility of a multimethod approach for patients' experienced usability of a diabetes mHealth system	Yes, as multi- method	Triangulation	No	Equal	Sampling, data analyses, and in- terpretation	Concurrent
Grindrod et al, 2014 [41]	To examine the usability and usefulness of mobile medication apps with older adults	Yes	Triangulation	No	Equal	Sampling, inter- pretation, and da- ta analysis	Concurrent
Jones et al, 2015 [42]	To evaluate the attitudes of American Indian women toward postpar- tum intervention ap- proaches (including mHealth) and risk factors for developing gestation- al diabetes	Yes	Complementarity: different measures for different parts of the research phenomenon	No	QUAL	Sampling and in- terpretation	Embedded



#### Sahin & Naylor

Author, year	Main purpose of the study	Recognition of MM <sup>a</sup>	Purpose of mixing	Formal MM research question	Prioritized method	Stage of integra- tion	Design type
Nundy et al, 2014 [43]	To investigate the behav- ioral effects of a theory- driven mobile phone–based intervention using an automated, inter- active SMS text messag- ing system	Yes	Triangulation	No	QUAN	Sampling and in- terpretation	Embedded design
Osborn and Mulvaney, 2013 [44]	To examine the capabili- ty of an SMS text messag- ing and interactive voice response intervention for low-income adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus	Yes	Sequential develop- ment	No	Equal	Sampling, data analysis, and in- terpretation	Embedded
Verwey et al, 2016 [45]	To examine the reach, implementation, and sat- isfaction with a counsel- ing tool combining an accelerometer, a mobile phone, and a Web appli- cation	Yes	Triangulation	No	Equal	Sampling, inter- pretation, and da- ta analysis	Embedded
van der Wee- gen et al, 2014 [46]	To test the usability of a monitoring and feedback tool targeting diabetic patients	Yes	Sequential develop- ment	No	Equal	Sampling, data collection, data analysis, and in- terpretation	Multiphase study

<sup>a</sup>MM: mixed methods.

<sup>b</sup>QUAN: quantitative.

<sup>c</sup>QUAL: qualitative.

 $^{d}\text{TExt-MED: Trial to Examine Text Message-Based mHealth in Emergency Department Patients With Diabetes.}$ 



Sahin & Naylor

Table 7. The characteristics of mixed-methods research in mHealth-based diabetes management studies examined in this review (part 2).

			8	4,
Author, year	Legitimation methods de- scribed	Sources of qualitative data	Sources of quantitative data	Limitations described
Allen et al, 2009 [33]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	A 1-hour, structured, focus group inter- view (n=7) following the completion of the quantitative phase. Field notes were also taken on key discussion points and observations (eg, body language and group mood).	Descriptive measures of the sample (n=9). Wearable Continuous Glucose Monitoring System, activity monitor da- ta, and activity counts reviewed for each participant.	Small sample size and lack of control group setting in quanti- tative phase were reported.
Baron et al, 2015 [34]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	Interviews, meetings, field notes, and communications between team members.	A 9-month randomized controlled trial (n=81) to assess intervention delivery and fidelity (patients and nurses).	A possible sample selection bias was indicated.
Baron et al, 2016 [35]	Inside-outside le- gitimation and conversion legiti- mation (quantiz- ing the qualita- tive data)	Semistructured interviews (n=26) on perceived effects of mobile telehealth system on diabetes self-management.	A randomized controlled trial (n=81) with intervention and control groups was conducted. Self-report measures of self- efficacy, illness beliefs, and self-care were taken at baseline and 3- and 9- month points.	Sample size was indicated as insufficient to make generalizations.
Burner et al, 2013 [36]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	Two focus groups of 90-minute duration, one in English, one in Spanish (n=8), were conducted with a structured guide.	A 1-month bilingual diabetes SMS text messaging intervention (n=23). Quanti- tative data included demographic, clini- cal, and biometric data of patients, and measures of health behaviors, knowl- edge, and beliefs were taken.	Small sample size was indicat- ed as a limitation to the general- izability of the results.
Carroll et al, 2007 [37]	Weakness mini- mization legitima- tion: large focus groups to support small-scale usabil- ity test	A series of focus groups (10; n=59) was conducted before testing a prototype cell phone with a glucose monitoring system.	A pilot usability test to evaluate satisfac- tion with the new system (n=10). A 15- item questionnaire is used.	Sample size and sample selec- tion, intervention duration, and incentives to the participants were seen as barriers to general- izability of findings.
Franklin et al, 2008 [38]	Inside-outside le- gitimation and conversion legiti- mation	Content analysis of text messages and messaging patterns of a 12-month Sweet Talk intervention period.	A 12-month 3-armed randomized con- trolled trial of a text messaging support system, Sweet Talk (n=64), was conduct- ed. Observational data on messaging patterns were triangulated with patient clinical and demographic data. Post hoc analyses combining qualitative data and demographic variables were made.	Small sample size was indicat- ed as a limitation to generaliz- ability of the results.
Froisland et al, 2012 [39]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	Semistructured in-depth interviews last- ing between 45 and 90 minutes $(n=12)$ were conducted at the end of the quanti- tative phase.	A pilot test of 2 mobile apps (n=12), after a 3-month trial.	Possible sampling bias, small sample size, and short intervention period were indicated.
Georgs- son and Staggers, 2016 [40]	Inside-outside le- gitimation, con- version legitima- tion	Think aloud protocol and open-ended interviews (15-20 minutes) were conducted (n=20).	First, a brief demographic questionnaire, and, at the end of the intervention, a posttest questionnaire measuring the us- ability of an interactive SMS <sup>a</sup> - text mes- saging system for a randomly selected sample of patients with diabetes (n=10) were conducted.	Using a convenient sample frame and the novelty of the system to patients were indicat- ed as a limitation to the general- izability of the findings.
Grindrod et al, 2014 [41]	Outside legitima- tion, sequential legitimation, sample integra- tion legitimation	A 10-minute group discussion of what medication management meant before each usability evaluation and 30-minute focus group discussion after each session (n=35).	A 2-hour usability testing (n=35) of dif- ferent mobile apps using a 10-item sys- tem usability scale and a visual analog scale was used.	Short intervention period was indicated as a limitation of the study.
Jones et al, 2015 [42]	Inside legitima- tion	Four focus groups consisting of 2-5 par- ticipants (n=11 in total) were conducted, maximum duration of 60 minutes. Indi- vidual interviews (n=15) ranged from 25-45 minutes.	A cross-sectional study (n=26) was con- ducted with eligible group of patients. The questionnaire included measures for personal and family health history and technology feasibility and acceptability.	The purposive sampling and small sample size were seen as barriers to the generalizability of the results.

JMIR DIA	ABETES			Sahin & Naylor
Author, year	Legitimation methods de- scribed	Sources of qualitative data	Sources of quantitative data	Limitations described
Nundy et al, 2014 [43]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	Approximately 1-hour, semistructured, in-depth interviews (n=14) based on topic guides and open-ended questions after the intervention.	A longitudinal observational cohort study (n=74) was conducted and data were collected at baseline, 3 months (mid-intervention), and 6 months (end of intervention). Diabetes self-care, medication adherence, self-efficacy, health beliefs, and social support mea- sures were used.	The limitations were described as the lack of control group measure and sole use of SMS text messaging intervention, which may create a causality problem. Sample size was small to make proper generalizations.
Osborn and Mul- vaney, 2013 [44]	Inside-outside le- gitimation	Motivational interviewing, face-to-face interviews (n=20) before and after trial, at baseline, and after week 3.	Secondary research: previous descriptive data on target population obtained, and self-administered daily text messages and interactive voice response calls are collected for analysis (n=20).	Sampling size was indicated as small to generalize results.
Verwey et al, 2016 [45]	Inside and out- side legitimation, conversion legiti- mation, sample integration	30-Minute semistructured telephone in- terviews with the nurses about the receipt of intervention and the evaluation forms regarding consultations were used.	A longitudinal 3-armed cluster random- ized controlled trial in a total of 24 fami- ly practice locations; evaluation question- naire after intervention with practice nurses (n=20) and patients (n=131; 71 with type 2 diabetes and 42 with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease).	A possible sample bias was in- dicated as a limitation of the study.
van der Weegen et al, 2014 [46]	Multiple legitima- tion: weakness minimization, conversion legiti- mation, inside- outside legitima- tion	Heuristic evaluation with 6 experts, thinking aloud procedure and video recordings of 5 patients at two different stages, a series of interviews with pa- tients in the pilot test.	A usability test with 5 patients, a pilot test in real-life settings with 20 patients, and a poststudy system usability test were conducted.	The small sample size was indi- cated as a limitation to the gen- eralizability of the findings.

<sup>a</sup>SMS: short message service.

#### **Reporting the Results**

# Recognizing Mixed Methods and Purpose of Using Mixed Methods

According to Creswell and Plano Clark [47], mixed-methods studies should have a properly defined methodology and a formal terminology. This review shows that almost all the studies (13/14, 93%) defined their methodologies explicitly as either mixed methods or multimethod.

Only a few studies (4/14, 29%; Verwey et al [45], Georgsson and Staggers [40], Froisland et al [39], and Franklin et al [38]) used mixed-methods terminology or explained its purpose explicitly. For example, Franklin et al [38] stated that their purpose was to triangulate the messaging patterns and contents of an automated, scheduled SMS text messaging with diabetic patients' clinical and demographic data, and Froisland et al [39] reported that they triangulated the usability assessments of a picture-based diabetes diary app and an SMS (short message service) text messaging with semistructured, in-depth interviews and field notes.

In other studies, information about the purpose of mixing methods had to be extracted from the methodology and discussion sections of the studies. Particularly for the embedded design studies, a decision rule was used based on the phases of a study because they could signify the purpose of mixing the methods in a study [30]. If different measurements using different types of data were addressing different parts of the research phenomena, it was evaluated as complementarity [30].

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/

For example, in an embedded design study, the attitudes of a group of American Indian women toward potential Internet or mHealth interventions were examined using qualitative interviews and focus groups that were complementary to a cross-sectional study assessing their risk perceptions of diabetes [42]. If one method was embedded into the other method and used to compare and validate its results, it was evaluated as triangulation. For example, Nundy et al [43] conducted a longitudinal cohort study and compared and validated the results with in-depth interviews. In addition, if one type of data was used to inform the other type during the sequential development of a study, its mixing purpose was evaluated as sequential development. For example, motivational interviews before the intervention and follow-up phone interviews during the testing period were used in a study focusing on the development and feasibility of a text messaging and interactive voice response intervention [44].

In total, the purpose of mixing methods was triangulation in 7 studies [35,38,39,40,41,43,45], complementarity in 3 studies [33,34,42], sequential development in 3 studies [37,44,46], and initiation in 1 study [36].

#### **Design Types**

Because the studies did not use a formal mixed-methods terminology when describing their design types, stages of integration, and priority of the methods they used, information on these categories was extracted from the methodology sections of the studies.



The most common design used by the studies was embedded design (n=7). These studies (ie, [34,39,42,43,45]) were designed to mix different datasets at the design level. For example, Vervey et al [45] conducted a 3-armed cluster randomized controlled trial with nurses and patients to evaluate the physical activity counseling process with and without the use of mobile technology. During the intervention, data were gathered from nurses who interviewed the patients periodically, collected evaluation forms, and logged data. They conducted in-depth interviews with nurses after the trial to compare and cross-validate their findings.

There were 3 concurrent design studies in the review [38,40,41]. In their text messaging intervention, Franklin et al [38] conducted a content analysis and derived qualitative themes from the messaging patterns, which were also analyzed by quantitative methods. In addition, 3 sequential design studies were identified: 1 exploratory [37] and 2 explanatory design studies [33,36]. After completing the qualitative phase and establishing the framework of the research, Carroll et al [37] implemented a usability test of a diabetes monitoring system. On the contrary, Burner et al [36] conducted a focus group study to clarify the results of their quantitative study, measuring behavioral effects of an mHealth intervention in Latino diabetic patients.

The only multiphase design study in this review was the study by van der Weegen et al [46], which measured the usability of a monitoring tool targeting diabetic patients. They conducted different qualitative and quantitative measurements focusing on different aspects of a study including 4 phases.

#### **Stages of Integration**

All the studies enabled integration by connecting samples. The studies used either identical or nested sampling methods. On the basis of their designs and time orientation, they used samples sequentially or concurrently. Some studies (ie, [35,38,45,46]) made the integration at multiple points throughout their studies. They largely connected their samples, analyzed the data, merged their datasets, and interpreted their findings with an integrated view.

Some studies also enabled integration through the merging of both datasets in the data analysis stage. In an explanatory sequential design study on diabetes self-management [36], the themes from the qualitative analysis were merged with the demographic variables. In another study [33], descriptive measures of physical activity patterns and glucose levels of patients with type 2 diabetes were merged with the focus group data on the feasibility and acceptability of a new glucose monitoring and accelerometer technology.

The studies also presented various forms of data integration at the stage of interpretation or discussion. They identified themes or concepts and integrated their qualitative and quantitative findings into these themes [35,39,40,42,44,45]. In addition, the findings of a multiphase design study were reported in a series. After each stage was completed, its findings were written separately [46]. In some studies, specific findings were written in the separate parts of their reports and then an overall interpretation of the findings was made [34,38,43].

#### http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/

#### **Prioritized Methods**

More than half the studies evaluated their quantitative and qualitative methods equally; neither method was prioritized (8/14, 57%). Some studies with randomized controlled trial data [38,40,45] highlighted their comprehensive qualitative methodologies and their contributions to the results. For example, in order to completely measure young diabetic patients' engagement with a new text messaging support system, a comprehensive content analysis of messages and message patterns of patients was performed [38]. Interestingly, in an explanatory design study [36], focus group results led researchers to reanalyze their quantitative data.

In another study [44], face-to-face interviews conducted before and after a text messaging trial provided important insights about the intervention's technical features, tailored text messaging content, and motivational messaging. Researchers were guided to develop a better design for their apps. Three studies [34,35,43] primarily highlighted quantitative methods (QUAN + qual) and used qualitative methods to support quantitative data.

#### **Data Collection Techniques**

The most frequently used qualitative method in the studies was in-depth interviews (n=9). The studies conducted semistructured interviews [35,39,42,43,45,46], open-ended interviews [40], and motivational interviews [44]. Several studies conducted focus group meetings to collect data [33,36,37,41,42]. The interview or discussion duration varied from approximately 30 minutes to 90 minutes in these studies. In addition, 2 think aloud protocols [40,46], a content analysis [38], and a video-recording technique [46] were used to generate qualitative data.

Surveys were the most common quantitative data collection method (n=10), such as pre- and posttest questionnaires used to measure the usability of an interactive SMS text messaging intervention developed for patients with diabetes [40]. Perceptions of a group of American Indian women about gestational diabetes risk and related Internet and mHealth interventions were surveyed in a cross-sectional study [42]. In addition, there was a longitudinal cohort study [43] that collected survey data at multiple periods.

Quantitative data were also generated from descriptive measures, such as glucose and exercise levels of patients after a 72-hour trial of a continuous glucose monitoring system [33], usage data of patients after a 12-month trial of a text messaging support system [38], and interactive voice response calls and previous descriptive data [36,44].

#### The Methods of Legitimation and the Limitations Described

Although the studies in this review explicitly mentioned their procedures and strategies to increase the objectivity and credibility of their research, they did not use formal mixed-methods terminology. Therefore, the information on legitimation methods was extrapolated from the methodology and discussion sections of the studies.

Almost all the studies in this review applied an "inside and outside" legitimation method (13/14, 93%). For example, Nundy et al [43] assigned a team of 5 experienced research investigators

XSL•FO

to make an initial transcript coding and then randomly assigned 2 reviewers to code each transcript independently. In addition to peer reviews, team members' views were important means for legitimation. For instance, conducting separate analyses helped the researchers compare their coding results and increased the validity of their study [39].

In addition to inside-outside legitimation, different methods of legitimation were identified in the studies. For instance, the qualitative and quantitative methods were used to complement each other and to minimize weaknesses (weakness minimization method) in a small-scale usability test study [37]. A small number of questionnaires were supported by conducting 10 different focus groups to increase the legitimacy of the results. The use of conversion legitimation was observed in 4 studies [35,43,45,46]. In 1 study [41], sequential legitimation was applied to minimize possible sequential order effects on the results.

Because the studies used either identical or nested sampling methods, sample integration legitimation was another frequently observed method of legitimation. Using similar samples in each phase minimizes lack of representativeness in qualitative findings and increases overall generalizability of the study [32]. For example, Grindrod et al [41] used identical samples in their qualitative and quantitative phases and performed multiple measurements to increase the validity of their small-scale intervention design, which lacked control group measurements.

Although various legitimation methods were used, they were also the source of study limitations. Many of the limitations were related to insufficient sample sizes and possible generalizability problems associated with them (ie, [35,36,38,44,46]). Sample selection problems and possible sample biases were also pointed out [33,39,40,42,43,45]. The duration of intervention [37,39,41], fidelity to the study [42], and other interventional issues, such as incentives (ie, lending cell phones, paying call charges) [37], and technical problems [39] were further limitations.

## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This scoping review identified comprehensive mixed-methods applications in the growing field of mHealth-based diabetes management. Mixed methods research can be effectively used if there is a strong and appropriate design dictated by research questions [48,49]. Creswell and Tashakkori [50] suggest using at least one clearly defined mixed methods question. Although none of the studies defined a separate mixed-methods research question and a very few studies (4/14, 29%) used formal mixed-methods terminology, the studies showed promise in their uses of multiple approaches and techniques. In addition to the common uses of mixed methods (triangulation and complementarity), studies with advanced designs presented various forms of combining different methods and techniques in sequential development of their studies. These studies are good examples for the field of diabetes management via mHealth technologies in which complicated interventions and multiple measurements are often required.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/

This study confirms the prominent role of qualitative methods in mixed-methods research. Qualitative measures were very important for the evolution of the majority of the papers reviewed, and they strongly influenced study findings. Because of the growing need for interpreting complex longitudinal studies and interventions [51] and big and sophisticated data coming from Web-based and mobile technology usage statistics, the importance of qualitative methods seems to be increasing.

The studies in this review presented various forms of integration at the method level. Some studies enabled integration at multiple points, linking their data collection and analysis at each point in the research. This is also noteworthy for mixed-methods studies in which integration is generally made at the level of data interpretation or discussion [52].

In terms of validity or legitimation strategies, little variation existed among the studies. In addition to inside-outside legitimation, these advanced designs should have also used weakness minimization and conversion legitimation methods because they are very specific to mixed-methods research.

The major limitations of the studies included in this review were related to data collection processes. Surveys were the most common data collection method used in the studies, but (as opposed to experimental studies) descriptive studies do not show causality, as they have poor control over external factors and external validity problems due to standardized question types. In addition, almost all studies acknowledged sampling problems (13/14, 93%). Small sample sizes, sampling bias, and use of convenient sampling are important barriers to the generalizability of findings in any type of study.

When various data collection techniques are used together, researchers are able to provide rich analysis and interpretations. This study shows that in addition to the common qualitative data collection techniques (focus group discussions and semistructured interviews), multiple data collection techniques (including think aloud protocols, interviews, field notes, content analysis, and evaluation forms) are used.

It is also noteworthy that these studies failed to discuss the advantages gained by using mixed-methods approaches. The majority of the studies (13/14, 93%) failed to provide a methodological discussion concerning the inconsistency or consistency between quantitative and qualitative data. Thus, this study supports Brown et al [24], who indicated that mixed-methods studies still lack justifications for using this approach.

#### **Study Strengths and Limitations**

This study is an early exploration into the scope of mixed-methods studies in the field of mHealth-based diabetes management. This paper itself provides a demonstration of how to classify, analyze, and evaluate mixed-methods research. Regardless of field of interest, we believe many researchers could benefit from the guidelines, criteria, and examples provided in this review.

Although the database search was quite comprehensive, it was limited to the papers published in scientific journals and written in English. To increase the consistency of the coding, some

XSL•FO RenderX

established frameworks were used to identify design types [20], integration methods [31], and legitimation methods [32]. Because related information was not always clearly reported in the studies, some decision rules were applied and the most relevant choices presented in the frameworks were adopted. Another limitation is related to the coding process. Although the design types were classified by 2 coders, and a high level of agreement between them was established, the rest of the coding was done by the first author. However, to increase the confirmability of our analysis, she took the role of a "devil's advocate" with respect to the results, checking and rechecking each coding and analysis throughout the study.

#### **Conclusions and Future Recommendations**

This review provided important insights into the evaluation of mixed-methods studies focusing on diabetes management via mHealth technologies. The prominent role of qualitative methods in mixed-methods research and tailored measures in diabetes self-management studies was confirmed, and the importance of using multiple methods and techniques in this field was emphasized. Future studies could continue to use different qualitative approaches and try to integrate new tools and approaches that seem to be effective in health care settings, such as participatory video, photovoice, online communities, and chat and discussion groups [3].

Considering the opportunities provided by mixed methods, it is surprising to see such a small number of studies in this field. The lack of systematic approaches in establishing rigor in mixed-methods studies seems to be a major barrier to the adoption and recognition of this research by a large group of social researchers [20]. However, in the field of mHealth-based diabetes management both usability studies and behavioral change interventions require complex measurements, so researchers could utilize the advantages of mixed methods more frequently. Future research should focus on the ways to improve precision in measurements by incorporating experimental designs with properly selected, adequate number of participants and new and creative data collection techniques.

In the future, researchers should incorporate formal mixed-methods terminology, starting with defining a mixed-methods question separately at the beginning, aiming to answer this question, and discussing the value of using the methodology at the end. In this growing field of diabetes management, future reviews should systematically analyze rigor in mixed-methods studies and compare the results with those of single-method studies.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank our JMIR DIabetes reviewers for their valuable comments and contributions.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- Conway N, Campbell I, Forbes P, Cunningham S, Wake D. mHealth applications for diabetes: user preference and implications for app development. Health Informatics J 2016 Dec;22(4):1111-1120. [doi: 10.1177/1460458215616265] [Medline: 26635324]
- Hood M, Wilson R, Corsica J, Bradley L, Chirinos D, Vivo A. What do we know about mobile applications for diabetes self-management? A review of reviews. J Behav Med 2016 Dec;39(6):981-994. [doi: <u>10.1007/s10865-016-9765-3</u>] [Medline: <u>27412774</u>]
- 3. Lapointe L, Mignerat M, Vedel I. Using telecare for diabetic patients: a mixed systematic review. Health Policy Technol 2014;3(2):90-112.
- 4. Research2guidance. 2015. mHealth App Developer Economics 2015 URL: <u>http://research2guidance.com/product/</u> <u>mhealth-developer-economics-2015</u> [accessed 2017-01-16] [WebCite Cache ID 6nZFTVRqN]
- Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- Jones KR, Lekhak N, Kaewluang N. Using mobile phones and short message service to deliver self-management interventions for chronic conditions: a meta-review. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2014 Apr;11(2):81-88. [doi: <u>10.1111/wvn.12030</u>] [Medline: <u>24597522</u>]
- Or CK, Tao D. Does the use of consumer health information technology improve outcomes in the patient self-management of diabetes? A meta-analysis and narrative review of randomized controlled trials. Int J Med Inform 2014 May;83(5):320-329.
   [doi: <u>10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.009</u>] [Medline: <u>24534118</u>]
- Arnhold M, Quade M, Kirch W. Mobile applications for diabetics: a systematic review and expert-based usability evaluation considering the special requirements of diabetes patients age 50 years or older. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(4):e104 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2968] [Medline: 24718852]
- Martin T. Assessing mHealth: opportunities and barriers to patient engagement. J Health Care Poor Underserved 2012 Aug;23(3):935-941. [doi: <u>10.1353/hpu.2012.0087</u>] [Medline: <u>24212144</u>]

- 10. Cole-Lewis H. mHealthy behavior studies: Lessons from a systematic review. In: Donner J, Mecheal P, editors. mHealth in practice: Mobile technology for health promotion in the developing world. Bloomsbury Open Access: Bloomsbury Academic; 2013:32-47.
- Arambepola C, Ricci-Cabello I, Manikavasagam P, Roberts N, French DP, Farmer A. The impact of automated brief messages promoting lifestyle changes delivered via mobile devices to people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2016;18(4):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5425] [Medline: 27095386]
- 12. Serrano-Gil M, Jacob S. Engaging and empowering patients to manage their type 2 diabetes, Part I: a knowledge, attitude, and practice gap? Adv Ther 2010 Jun;27(6):321-333. [doi: 10.1007/s12325-010-0034-5] [Medline: 20552306]
- 13. Matthew-Maich N, Harris L, Ploeg J, Markle-Reid M, Valaitis R, Ibrahim S, et al. Designing, implementing, and evaluating mobile health technologies for managing chronic conditions in older adults: a scoping review. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2016 Jun 09;4(2):e29 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.5127] [Medline: 27282195]
- 14. Muncey T. Does mixed methods constitute a change in paradigm? In: Andrew S, Halcomb EJ, editors. Mixed Methods Research for Nursing and the Health Sciences. Oxford, UK: Wiley-Blackwell; 2009:13-30.
- 15. Johnson RB, Onwuegbuzie AJ, Turner LA. Toward a definition of mixed methods research. J Mix Methods Res 2007 Apr;1(2):112-133. [doi: 10.1177/1558689806298224]
- 16. Johnson B, Christensen L. Educational Research: Quantitative, qualitative and mixed approaches. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2014:978.
- Carroll LJ, Rothe JP. Levels of reconstruction as complementarity in mixed methods research: a social theory-based conceptual framework for integrating qualitative and quantitative research. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2010 Sep;7(9):3478-3488 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph7093478] [Medline: 20948937]
- 18. Pluye P, Hong QN. Combining the power of stories and the power of numbers: mixed methods research and mixed studies reviews. Annu Rev Public Health 2014;35:29-45. [doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-032013-182440] [Medline: 24188053]
- 19. Greene JC, Caracelli VJ, Graham WF. Toward a conceptual framework for mixed-method evaluation designs. Educ Eval Policy Anal 1989 Jan 01;11(3):255-274. [doi: 10.3102/01623737011003255]
- 20. Creswell J. A Concise Introduction to Mixed Methods Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2015:152.
- 21. Bryman A. Integrating quantitative and qualitative research: how is it done? Qual Res 2006 Feb 01;6(1):97-113. [doi: 10.1177/1468794106058877]
- 22. Creswell JW, Klassen AC, Plano Clark VL, Smith KC. Jabsom.hawaii. Best practices for mixed methods research in the health sciences URL: <u>https://www2.jabsom.hawaii.edu/native/docs/tsudocs/</u>
- Best\_Practices\_for\_Mixed\_Methods\_Research\_Aug2011.pdf [accessed 2017-01-19] [WebCite Cache ID 6nd2mhXfN]
- 23. Zhang W, Creswell J. The use of "mixing" procedure of mixed methods in health services research. Med Care 2013 Aug;51(8):e51-e57. [doi: 10.1097/MLR.0b013e31824642fd] [Medline: 23860333]
- 24. Brown KM, Elliott SJ, Leatherdale ST, Robertson-Wilson J. Searching for rigour in the reporting of mixed methods population health research: a methodological review. Health Educ Res 2015 Dec;30(6):811-839 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/her/cyv046] [Medline: 26491072]
- 25. Arksey H, O'Malley L. Scoping studies: towards a methodological framework. Int J Soc Res Methodol 2005 Feb;8(1):19-32. [doi: 10.1080/1364557032000119616]
- Lee JY, Lee SW, Nasir NH, How S, Tan CS, Wong CP. Diabetes telemonitoring reduces the risk of hypoglycaemia during Ramadan: a pilot randomized controlled study. Diabet Med 2015 Dec;32(12):1658-1661. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12836] [Medline: 26103794]
- 27. Koopman RJ, Wakefield BJ, Johanning JL, Keplinger LE, Kruse RL, Bomar M, et al. Implementing home blood glucose and blood pressure telemonitoring in primary care practices for patients with diabetes: lessons learned. Telemed J E Health 2014 Mar;20(3):253-260 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0188] [Medline: 24350806]
- 28. Plotnikoff RC, Johnson ST, Luchak M, Pollock C, Holt NL, Leahy A, et al. Peer telephone counseling for adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a case-study approach to inform the design, development, and evaluation of programs targeting physical activity. Diabetes Educ 2010;36(5):717-729. [doi: 10.1177/0145721710376327] [Medline: 20668214]
- McGloin H, Timmins F, Coates V, Boore J. A case study approach to the examination of a telephone-based health coaching intervention in facilitating behaviour change for adults with Type 2 diabetes. J Clin Nurs 2015 May;24(9-10):1246-1257. [doi: 10.1111/jocn.12692] [Medline: 25319572]
- 30. Creswell J, Plano Clark VL. Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2006:296.
- 31. Fetters MD, Curry LA, Creswell JW. Achieving integration in mixed methods designs-principles and practices. Health Serv Res 2013 Dec;48(6 Pt 2):2134-2156 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/1475-6773.12117] [Medline: 24279835]
- 32. Onwuegbuzie AJ, Johnson RB. The validity issue in mixed research. Res Sch 2006;13(1):48-63 [FREE Full text]
- Allen NA, Jacelon CS, Chipkin SR. Feasibility and acceptability of continuous glucose monitoring and accelerometer technology in exercising individuals with type 2 diabetes. J Clin Nurs 2009 Feb;18(3):373-383 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2008.02533.x] [Medline: 19191984]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/
```



- 34. Baron J, Hirani S, Newman S. Challenges in patient recruitment, implementation, and fidelity in a mobile telehealth study. Telemed J E Health 2016 May;22(5):400-409. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.0095</u>] [Medline: <u>26540238</u>]
- 35. Baron JS, Hirani SP, Newman SP. Investigating the behavioural effects of a mobile-phone based home telehealth intervention in people with insulin-requiring diabetes: results of a randomized controlled trial with patient interviews. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul 03. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X16655911] [Medline: 27377790]
- Burner E, Menchine M, Taylor E, Arora S. Gender differences in diabetes self-management: a mixed-methods analysis of a mobile health intervention for inner-city Latino patients. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 Jan 01;7(1):111-118 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23439166]
- 37. Carroll AE, Marrero DG, Downs SM. The HealthPia GlucoPack Diabetes phone: a usability study. Diabetes Technol Ther 2007 Apr;9(2):158-164. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2006.0002] [Medline: 17425441]
- Franklin VL, Greene A, Waller A, Greene SA, Pagliari C. Patients' engagement with "Sweet Talk" a text messaging support system for young people with diabetes. J Med Internet Res 2008;10(2):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.962] [Medline: 18653444]
- Frøisland DH, Arsand E, Skårderud F. Improving diabetes care for young people with type 1 diabetes through visual learning on mobile phones: mixed-methods study. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(4):e111 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2155] [Medline: 22868871]
- 40. Georgsson M, Staggers N. An evaluation of patients' experienced usability of a diabetes mHealth system using a multi-method approach. J Biomed Inform 2016 Feb;59:115-129 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jbi.2015.11.008] [Medline: 26639894]
- 41. Grindrod KA, Li M, Gates A. Evaluating user perceptions of mobile medication management applications with older adults: a usability study. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014;2(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3048] [Medline: 25099993]
- 42. Jones EJ, Peercy M, Woods JC, Parker SP, Jackson T, Mata SA, et al. Identifying postpartum intervention approaches to reduce cardiometabolic risk among American Indian women with prior gestational diabetes, Oklahoma, 2012-2013. Prev Chronic Dis 2015 Apr 02;12:E45 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd12.140566] [Medline: 25837258]
- Nundy S, Mishra A, Hogan P, Lee SM, Solomon MC, Peek ME. How do mobile phone diabetes programs drive behavior change? Evidence from a mixed methods observational cohort study. Diabetes Educ 2014;40(6):806-819 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0145721714551992] [Medline: 25278512]
- 44. Osborn CY, Mulvaney SA. Development and feasibility of a text messaging and interactive voice response intervention for low-income, diverse adults with type 2 diabetes mellitus. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2013 May;7(3):612-622 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23759393]
- 45. Verwey R, van der Weegen S, Spreeuwenberg M, Tange H, van der Weijden T, de Witte L. Process evaluation of physical activity counselling with and without the use of mobile technology: a mixed methods study. Int J Nurs Stud 2016 Jan;53:3-16. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2015.10.008] [Medline: 26518108]
- 46. van der Weegen S, Verwey R, Tange HJ, Spreeuwenberg MD, de Witte LP. Usability testing of a monitoring and feedback tool to stimulate physical activity. Patient Prefer Adherence 2014;8:311-322 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2147/PPA.S57961] [Medline: 24669188]
- 47. Creswell J, Plano Clark VL. Designing and Conducting Mixed-Methods Research. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2011:488.
- 48. Teddlie C, Tashakkori A. Methodological thought since the 20th century. In: Teddlie C, Tashakkori A, editors. Foundations of Mixed Methods Research: Integrating Qualitative and Quantitative Approaches in The Social and Behavioral Sciences. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2009:62-88.
- 49. Bergman MM. Quality of inferences in mixed methods research: Calling for an integrative framework. In: Bergman MM, editor. Advances in Mixed Methods Research: Theories and Applications. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications; 2008:101-119.
- 50. Tashakkori A, Creswell JW. Editorial: exploring the nature of research questions in mixed methods research. J Mixed Methods Res 2007 Jul;1(3):207-211. [doi: 10.1177/1558689807302814]
- 51. Petticrew M, Rehfuess E, Noyes J, Higgins JP, Mayhew A, Pantoja T, et al. Synthesizing evidence on complex interventions: how meta-analytical, qualitative, and mixed-method approaches can contribute. J Clin Epidemiol 2013 Nov;66(11):1230-1243. [doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2013.06.005] [Medline: 23953082]
- 52. Hanson WE, Creswell JW, Clark VLP, Petska KS, Creswell JD. Mixed methods research designs in counseling psychology. J Couns Psychol 2005;52(2):224-235. [doi: 10.1037/0022-0167.52.2.224]

#### Abbreviations

CINAHL: Cumulative Index to Nursing and Allied Health Literature mHealth: mobile health NIDDK: National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases SMS: short message service TExT-MED: Trial to Examine Text Message–Based mHealth in Emergency Department Patients with Diabetes

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/
```

PMID: 30291052

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 19.09.16; peer-reviewed by J Baron, B Thompson; comments to author 10.10.16; revised version received 08.12.16; accepted 07.01.17; published 06.02.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Sahin C, Naylor PJ Mixed-Methods Research in Diabetes Management via Mobile Health Technologies: A Scoping Review JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e3 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e3/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6667

©Cigdem Sahin, Patti-Jean Naylor. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 06.02.2017. This is an distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons open-access article Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# A Novel Intervention Including Individualized Nutritional Recommendations Reduces Hemoglobin A1c Level, Medication Use, and Weight in Type 2 Diabetes

Amy L McKenzie<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Sarah J Hallberg<sup>1,2</sup>, DO, MS; Brent C Creighton<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Brittanie M Volk<sup>1</sup>, RD, PhD; Theresa M Link<sup>1</sup>, RD, CDE; Marcy K Abner<sup>1</sup>, RD; Roberta M Glon<sup>1</sup>, RN, BSN; James P McCarter<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD; Jeff S Volek<sup>1</sup>, RD, PhD; Stephen D Phinney<sup>1</sup>, MD, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Virta Health, San Francisco, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Indiana University Health Arnett, Medically Supervised Weight Loss, Lafayette, IN, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Stephen D Phinney, MD, PhD Virta Health 535 Mission St 14th Floor San Francisco, CA, 94105 United States Phone: 1 9188974301 Fax: 1 (888) 974 1469 Email: steve@virtahealth.com

# Abstract

**Background:** Type 2 diabetes (T2D) is typically managed with a reduced fat diet plus glucose-lowering medications, the latter often promoting weight gain.

**Objective:** We evaluated whether individuals with T2D could be taught by either on-site group or remote means to sustain adequate carbohydrate restriction to achieve nutritional ketosis as part of a comprehensive intervention, thereby improving glycemic control, decreasing medication use, and allowing clinically relevant weight loss.

**Methods:** This study was a nonrandomized, parallel arm, outpatient intervention. Adults with T2D (N=262; mean age 54, SD 8, years; mean body mass index 41, SD 8, kg·m<sup>-2</sup>; 66.8% (175/262) women) were enrolled in an outpatient protocol providing intensive nutrition and behavioral counseling, digital coaching and education platform, and physician-guided medication management. A total of 238 participants completed the first 10 weeks. Body weight, capillary blood glucose, and beta-hydroxybutyrate (BOHB) levels were recorded daily using a mobile interface. Hemoglobin A<sub>1c</sub> (HbA<sub>1c</sub>) and related biomarkers of T2D were evaluated at baseline and 10-week follow-up.

**Results:** Baseline HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was 7.6% (SD 1.5%) and only 52/262 (19.8%) participants had an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of <6.5%. After 10 weeks, HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was reduced by 1.0% (SD 1.1%; 95% CI 0.9% to 1.1%, *P*<.001), and the percentage of individuals with an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of <6.5% increased to 56.1% (147/262). The majority of participants (234/262, 89.3%) were taking at least one diabetes medication at baseline. By 10 weeks, 133/234 (56.8%) individuals had one or more diabetes medications reduced or eliminated. At follow-up, 47.7% of participants (125/262) achieved an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of <6.5% while taking metformin only (n=86) or no diabetes medications (n=39). Mean body mass reduction was 7.2% (SD 3.7%; 95% CI 5.8% to 7.7%, *P*<.001) from baseline (117, SD 26, kg). Mean BOHB over 10 weeks was 0.6 (SD 0.6) mmol·L<sup>-1</sup> indicating consistent carbohydrate restriction. Post hoc comparison of the remote versus on-site means of education revealed no effect of delivery method on change in HbA<sub>1c</sub> (*F*<sub>1.260</sub>=1.503, *P*=.22).

**Conclusions:** These initial results indicate that an individualized program delivered and supported remotely that incorporates nutritional ketosis can be highly effective in improving glycemic control and weight loss in adults with T2D while significantly decreasing medication use.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e5) doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.6981</u>



#### **KEYWORDS**

type 2 diabetes; ketosis; Hb A1c; weight loss; mobile health

#### Introduction

Type 2 diabetes is generally regarded as a chronic, progressive disease that can be slowed by the vigorous use of lifestyle changes and medications but eventually results in vascular damage and end-organ failure [1,2]. Current medical treatment interventions result in virtually no disease remission, as seen in a study within the Kaiser health care population where the spontaneous remission rate is 0.5% [3]. As the disease progresses, it has been shown that glucose-lowering medication use, health care costs, and complications all rise. At 9 years, less than 25% of patients are able to control their blood glucose level with only one medication [4], and 10-15 years after the diagnosis of type 2 diabetes, more than 50% of patients will require insulin [5].

Despite the overall paucity of type 2 diabetes remission data, there exist three notable treatment exceptions. Bariatric surgery, such as gastric bypass, is effective at reversing type 2 diabetes, with 40%-60% of surgical patients demonstrating remission 1 year after the surgery. The most comprehensive study of surgical intervention to prevent or reverse type 2 diabetes is the Swedish Obese Subjects Trial [6], demonstrating an 8-fold reduction in the incidence of the disease at 2 years. However, further out into the postoperative experience, many of these patients regain weight and relapse into diabetes, and they are at risk of developing nutritional deficiencies as well [7].

There have been many reports of short-term improvement in glycemic control with very low-calorie diets (VLCDs) consisting of either common foods or chemically defined formulas, ranging in energy from 400-800 kcal·day<sup>-1</sup>. Bistrian et al [8] administered a common-food 600-800 kcal·day<sup>-1</sup> VLCD to 7 insulin-using subjects with type 2 diabetes for inpatient and outpatient durations of 2-12 months. All 7 subjects achieved rapid improvement in glycemic control despite the cessation of insulin therapy, and 6 of 7 subjects experienced substantial weight loss. Bauman et al [9] hospitalized 64 patients with type 2 diabetes, including 42 patients taking insulin, and administered a VLCD for a mean of 23 days. After 19 months, 10 patients remained in remission. Wing et al [10] randomized 93 obese individuals with type 2 diabetes to either a low-calorie diet or an intermittent formula VLCD for 1 year. The VLCD group achieved greater initial weight loss and greater hemoglobin A<sub>1c</sub> (HbA<sub>1c</sub>) reductions, but these differences between the 2 diet arms were not sustained over the duration of the study. In a recent study by Steven et al [11], 13 of 30 individuals with type 2 diabetes but not using insulin achieved normal blood glucose values after 8 months of lifestyle intervention. In this case, a chemically defined, liquid, low-carbohydrate VLCD was prescribed for 8 weeks, followed by 6 months of an unspecified energy maintenance diet.

These 4 studies [8-11] used VLCDs to control blood glucose level while stopping or reducing diabetes medications. The limitation of using a VLCD to manage a chronic disease is that

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e5/
```

RenderX

this type of diet is necessarily temporary, given that it provides less than 800 kcal·day<sup>-1</sup> and thus is unsustainable in the long term.

Alternatively, nutritional ketosis, defined as a dietary regimen resulting in serum beta-hydroxybutyrate (BOHB) levels between 0.5 and 3.0 mmol· $L^{-1}$  [12], may yield similar or better results over longer periods of time by not explicitly prescribing caloric restriction. Nutritional ketosis is often achieved by reduced carbohydrate, moderate protein, and increased fat intake. In this setting, moderately reduced energy intake may occur in association with the proportionately high fat intake, reduced circulating insulin due to reduced carbohydrate consumption, and potential metabolic benefits of mild ketonemia. For example, Boden et al [13] reported that in patients with type 2 diabetes fed a ketogenic diet to satiety improved insulin sensitivity by 75% within 2 weeks. When given free access to a ketogenic buffet, daily energy intake dropped by about one-third, resulting in a total weight loss of 2 kg over 2 weeks. The authors concluded that this modest weight loss in and of itself could not explain the improved insulin sensitivity.

There have been a number of studies using low-carbohydrate, high-fat dietary strategies in the management of type 2 diabetes [14-20], but these group sizes have been small and often excluded subjects taking insulin. In addition, the dietary interventions used in these studies frequently were not sufficiently low in carbohydrate or protein to induce sustained nutritional ketosis. However, multiple studies of ketogenic diets prescribed without energy restriction have demonstrated both tolerability and effectiveness of this dietary approach to improve a broad range of cardiometabolic markers in prediabetic and dyslipidemic outpatients [21-23]. And finally, recent studies have identified BOHB in the nutritional ketosis range as a potent epigenetic signal that decreases oxidative stress [24], hepatic glucose output [25], and insulin resistance [26].

We therefore hypothesized that a comprehensive program with individualized nutritional recommendations that supports participants in achieving sustained nutritional ketosis while eating to satiety may have unique benefits in the management of type 2 diabetes. Specifically, this study was designed to assess the practical utility of an intensive digital intervention supported by medical management, continuous digital health coaching, nutrition education, behavioral support, biometric feedback, and peer support via an online community. We refer to this technology-enabled medical service as the Virta Clinic.

#### Methods

#### Subjects

Adults with type 2 diabetes between the ages of 21 and 65 years were recruited via clinical referrals, media advertising, and word of mouth in the greater Lafayette, Indiana, region. Exclusion criteria included advanced renal, cardiac, and hepatic dysfunction, history of ketoacidosis, dietary fat intolerance, or pregnancy or planned pregnancy.

#### The Virta Clinic

Virta utilizes a technology-enabled, full-service clinic model for metabolic recovery from type 2 diabetes including medical management by physicians, health coaching, nutrition and behavior change education, biometric feedback, and peer support. Physicians and health coaches were trained in the basic principles of achieving and maintaining nutritional ketosis based on previous published works [21,22,27]. In this study, educational content was delivered via either on-site weekly 90-minute group-based classes or Web-based recorded educational content, and participants self-selected their preferred mode of content delivery. The same educational content was provided by each delivery method. Educational content included discussion of the pathophysiology of diabetes, practical management of carbohydrate restriction while consuming protein in moderation and increasing fat intake, the utilization of ketones as a biofeedback mechanism, and appropriate utilization of behavior change techniques. No modifications to participants' physical activity were encouraged in the first 10 weeks of the intervention.

Remote support was provided to each subject through tracking of daily biometrics, the assignment of a personal health coach available daily via one-on-one texting for advice and problem solving, support via an online community of his or her peers, and physician supervision. Subjects were instructed to monitor and report glucose level via the Web to the care team 1-3 times per day, and a physician made medication changes as appropriate. Additionally, the medication status of each participant was reviewed by the care team and the principal investigator weekly.

#### **Nutritional Ketosis**

The Virta Clinic includes individualized nutritional recommendations to sustain nutritional ketosis by titrating carbohydrate and protein intake to the patient's individual tolerance [27]. With the insulin resistance characteristic of type 2 diabetes, subjects typically require total dietary carbohydrates to be restricted to  $<30 \text{ g} \cdot \text{day}^{-1}$ . Daily protein intake was targeted to a level of 1.5 g·kg<sup>-1</sup> of reference (ie, medium-frame "ideal") body weight and participants were coached to incorporate dietary fats to satiety. Other aspects of the diet were individually prescribed to ensure safety, effectiveness, and satisfaction, including consumption of 3-5 servings of nonstarchy vegetables and adequate mineral and fluid intake for the ketogenic state. BOHB was monitored routinely via finger-stick blood monitoring using a handheld device (Abbott Precision Xtra Blood Glucose and Ketone Monitoring System, Alameda, CA, USA) and participants were encouraged to obtain BOHB readings  $\geq 0.5 \text{ mmol} \cdot \text{L}^{-1}$ .

#### **Outcome Measures and Testing Procedures**

Type 2 diabetes status was determined by  $HbA_{1c}$  level at baseline and again at 10-11 weeks into the program. A value of

6.5% or greater, or HbA<sub>1c</sub> level <6.5% but taking at least one hypoglycemic medication, was considered indicative of type 2 diabetes. Secondary outcome measures included assessment of (1) body weight determined daily on a cellular-connected scale (BodyTrace BT003 cellular-connected scale, New York, New York, USA); (2) medication use for control of diabetes; and (3) blood pressure obtained in the seated position. Fasting blood was analyzed for total cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, triglycerides, C-reactive protein, total white blood cell count, and kidney and liver functions. All laboratory test results were analyzed by standard procedures. Hunger was assessed using a 4-point Likert scale from 1 (no) to 4 (always), representing the participant's subjective level of hunger over the previous 24-hours.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Descriptive statistics were calculated for each variable as mean (SD). Baseline and 10- to 11-week follow-up measures were compared with paired-sample t tests to evaluate for significant differences in primary (HbA1c level) and secondary outcome variables over time, following implementation of carbohydrate restriction per the Virta Clinic. Statistical significance was set a priori at P < .05; for secondary outcome variables, we applied a Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons, setting P < .003 as the level of significance for those outcome measures. McNemar test with continuity correction and Bonferroni adjustment for multiple comparisons was utilized to assess for a difference in the proportion of participants who were prescribed each of the 7 medication classes at baseline compared with follow-up, setting P < .007 as the level of significance. We utilized an intention-to-treat analysis with the last observation carried forward for analyses of all participants; separate subanalyses were performed for participants who completed follow-up testing (completers). Given that 2 different modes were utilized for delivery of educational content, we performed a post hoc analysis on the primary outcome measure to determine if differences existed between groups.

#### **Institutional Review Board Approval**

The protocol was reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board at Franciscan Health Lafayette East, Lafayette, Indiana. Subjects were informed of the purpose and possible risks of the investigation before signing an informed consent document approved by the institutional review board.

# Results

#### **Characteristics of Subjects**

A total of 262 subjects with diagnosis of type 2 diabetes were enrolled in this study. The mean age was 54 (SD 8) years and 66.8% (175/262) were female. Additional baseline data are provided in Table 1.



 Table 1. Participant characteristics at baseline and follow-up.

Characteristics	n <sup>a</sup>	Baseline	Follow-up	Mean difference		t <sub>n-1</sub>	P <sup>b</sup>	
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	95% CI			
Hemoglobin A <sub>1c</sub> (%)							·	
All	262	7.6 (1.5)	6.6 (1.1)	-1.0 (1.1)	-1.1 to -0.9	14.9	<.001	
Completers	238	7.6 (1.5)	6.5 (1.0)	-1.1 (1.1)	-1.2 to -1.0	15.6	<.001	
Fasting glucose ( $mg \cdot dL^{-1}$ )								
All	259	162 (61)	131 (37)	-30 (56)	-37 to -25	8.68	<.001	
Completers	236	163 (62)	129 (34)	-33 (58)	-41 to -26	8.8	<.001	
Body mass index (kg·m <sup>-2</sup> )								
All	262	40.8 (8.9)	37.9 (8.5)	-2.9 (1.2)	-3.1 to -2.7	30	<.001	
Completers	238	40.7 (8.5)	37.7 (8.0)	-3.1 (1.5)	-3.3 to -2.9	31.3	<.001	
Weight (kg)								
All	262	117 (26.3)	109 (24.9)	-8 (4.6)	-9 to -8	29.1	<.001	
Completers	238	117 (25.7)	109 (24.3)	-9 (4.5)	-9 to -8	30.7	<.001	
Systolic blood pressure (mm Hg)								
All	260	132 (16)	126 (15)	-6 (19)	-8 to -4	5.29	<.001	
Completers	236	132 (17)	125 (15)	-7 (20)	-9 to -4	5.32	<.001	
Diastolic blood pressure (mm Hg)								
All	260	82 (10)	78 (10)	-4 (12)	-5 to -2	5.22	<.001	
Completers	236	82 (10)	78 (9)	-4 (12)	−6 to −3	5.25	<.001	
Total cholesterol (mg·dL <sup><math>-1</math></sup>	)							
All	262	177 (41)	172 (41)	-5 (31)	−9 to −1	2.64	.009	
Completers	238	177 (41)	172 (41)	-6 (33)	-10 to -1	2.64	.009	
LDL-C <sup>c</sup> (calculated; mg·dL	L <sup>-1</sup> )							
All	245	97 (33)	99 (36)	2 (25)	-2 to 5	0.987	.32	
Completers	223	98 (34)	99 (37)	2 (27)	-2 to 5	0.987	.32	
$HDL\text{-}C^{d}(mg\text{-}dL^{-1})$								
All	262	44 (13)	44 (13)	0.5 (8)	-0.5 to 1	0.966	.33	
Completers	238	44 (14)	45 (13)	0.5 (8)	-0.5 to 1.5	0.966	.33	
Triglycerides (mg·dL <sup>-1</sup> )								
All	262	185 (127)	147 (87)	-37 (107)	-50 to -24	5.61	<.001	
Completers	238	185 (129)	145 (84)	-41 (112)	-55 to -27	5.64	<.001	
Serum creatinine (mg·dL <sup>-1</sup> )								
All	259	0.88 (0.24)	0.85 (0.22)	-0.03 (0.12)	-0.04 to -0.01	3.61	<.001	
Completers	236	0.88 (0.24)	0.85 (0.22)	-0.03 (0.13)	-0.05 to -0.01	3.61	<.001	
$ALT^{e}$ (units $\cdot L^{-1}$ )								
All	259	31 (23)	26 (16)	-4 (19)	-7 to -2	3.82	<.001	
Completers	236	31 (24)	26 (16)	-5 (20)	-7 to -2	3.83	<.001	
$AST^{f}$ (units·L <sup>-1</sup> )								
All	259	24 (15)	21 (9)	-3 (13)	-4 to -1	3.31	<.001	
Completers	236	24 (16)	21 (9)	-3 (14)	-5 to -1	3.31	<.001	

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e5/

XSL•FO RenderX

Characteristics	n <sup>a</sup>	Baseline	Follow-up	Mean difference		t <sub>n-1</sub>	P <sup>b</sup>
		Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	Mean (SD)	95% CI		
Alkaline phosphatase (units·L <sup>-1</sup> )							
All	259	74 (22)	68 (20)	-6(11)	-8 to -5	9.78	<.001
Completers	236	75 (22)	67 (20)	-8 (11)	-9 to -6	9.96	<.001
C-reactive protein (mg·L <sup>-1</sup> )							
All	247	8.1 (8.2)	9.2 (11.5)	1.2 (7.5)	-0.2 to 2.1	2.45	.01
Completers	225	8.2 (8.1)	9.6 (12.1)	1.4 (8.1)	-0.3 to 2.1	2.6	.01
Total WBC <sup>g</sup> (x10 <sup>9</sup> $\cdot$ L <sup>-1</sup> )							
All	236	7.2 (1.9)	6.7 (1.9)	-0.5 (1.3)	-0.6 to -0.3	5.37	<.001
Completers	234	7.2 (1.8)	6.7 (1.9)	-0.5 (1.3)	-0.6 to -0.3	5.36	<.001

<sup>a</sup>Reductions in the number of participants (n) are due to missed laboratory orders, except in the case of LDL-C, where LDL-C was incalculable. <sup>b</sup>We set P<.003 as the level of significance for multiple comparisons.

<sup>c</sup>LDL-C: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

<sup>d</sup>HDL-C: high-density lipoprotein cholesterol.

<sup>e</sup>ALT: alanine aminotransferase.

<sup>f</sup>AST: aspartate aminotransferase.

<sup>g</sup>WBC: white blood cell.

#### Retention

At 11 weeks, 21 of the 262 subjects had dropped out and 3 had not obtained the follow-up laboratory test results, yielding 238 or 90.8% retention for this phase of the study. Among the noncompleters, the most common reasons to leave the study were as follows: removed for noncompliance (n=6), unrelated health issue took priority (n=3), family illness or other issues (n=3), cost of medical appointments (n=2), and undisclosed personal choice (n=2). The age and sex distributions did not differ between noncompleters and completers.

#### **Program Adherence**

Daily BOHB level averaged over 10 weeks of the program was 0.6 (SD 0.6) mmol·L<sup>-1</sup> (see Figure 1). This range is indicative of a modest state of nutritional ketosis in most of the subjects, with highest value similar to levels observed during fasting. There were no cases of diabetic ketoacidosis (ie, hyperglycemia concurrent with serum BOHB level >6 mmol·L<sup>-1</sup>).



**Figure 1.** Relative frequency distribution of participant weekly average beta-hydroxybutyrate (BOHB) concentrations. An observed weekly average BOHB concentration on the border of 2 bins is placed in the bin holding the larger values. Evidence of carbohydrate restriction exhibited by elevated ketones was present in the first week in the majority of subjects and maintained for the duration of the study. All reported BOHB concentrations greater than 3.0 were in participants taking a sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitor, except for one (4.4 mmol·L-1) in which we suspect elevated BOHB due to increased exercise and another (6.0 mmol·L-1) in which we suspect participant data entry error. Excluding this 1 value, average BOHB concentrations for this participant ranged from 0.4 to  $1.4 \text{ mmol}\cdot\text{L}^{-1}$ .



#### Hemoglobin A1c

Baseline HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was 7.6% (SD 1.5%) and 210/262 (80.2%) participants had an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of  $\geq$ 6.5%. After 10 weeks, HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was reduced by 1.0% (SD 1.1%; 95% CI 0.9% to 1.1%, *P*<.001), and 56.1% (147/262) achieved an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of <6.5%. HbA<sub>1c</sub> level for the 238 completers was similarly reduced from 7.6% (SD 1.5%) at baseline to 6.5% (SD 1.0%; 95% CI of mean difference –1.2% to –1.0%, *P*<.001) at 10-11 weeks into the Virta Clinic program. The varying responses of HbA<sub>1c</sub> based upon starting level are shown in Figure 2. Of the 147 participants who achieved an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of less than 6.5%, 143 (97.3%) reached this goal without an increase in the number or dosage of diabetes medications. At follow-up, 47.7% of participants (125/262) achieved an HbA<sub>1c</sub> level of less than 6.5% while taking metformin only (n=86) or no diabetes medications (n=39).

Post hoc analysis of method of educational content delivery revealed there was no significant interaction between delivery method and time for HbA<sub>1c</sub> ( $F_{1,260}$ =0.18, P=.67), nor was there an effect of delivery method ( $F_{1,260}$ =1.503, P=.22). Baseline HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was similar (on-site: mean 7.7%, SD 1.6%, digital: mean 7.5%, SD 1.4%; mean difference = 0.2%, 95% CI of mean difference: -0.2% to 0.5%;  $t_{520}$ =0.94, P=.69), and HbA<sub>1c</sub> reductions of 1.0% (SD 1.1%) and 1.0% (SD 1.0%) for the on-site and digital content delivery methods, respectively, were achieved with no difference between delivery methods at follow-up (mean difference = 0.2%, 95% CI of mean difference: -0.2% to 0.6%;  $t_{520}$ =1.29, P=.39).

**Figure 2.** Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) changes by baseline level. Error bars represent SD; the dotted line represents the threshold for diagnosis of type 2 diabetes. Significant reductions in HbA1c level from baseline to follow-up were observed in subjects whose baseline HbA1c level was  $\geq$ 7.5% (mean 9.0%, SD 1.3% to 7.2%, SD 1.1%, *P*<.001) and between 6.5% and 7.4% (mean 6.9%, SD 0.3% to 6.2%, SD 0.5%, *P*<.001). For those whose baseline HbA1c level was <6.5%, HbA1c level was improved but not significantly after correcting for multiple comparisons (mean 6.1%, SD 0.3% to 5.8%, SD 0.4%, *P*=.03). \*Represents significant difference from baseline.



#### **Hypoglycemic Medications**

The majority of participants (234/262, 89.3%) were taking at least one diabetes medication at baseline. Both the number and dosage of most diabetes medications were reduced substantially in the first 10-11 weeks of the Virta Clinic program (Table 2, Figure 3). As shown in Table 2, of the initial 262 subjects, 112 (42.7%) experienced a decrease in their medications with another 21 (8.0%) having their medications eliminated. Only 13 (5.0%) of the 262 subjects were prescribed a new class or increased dose of medication. Of the 262 participants, 88 (33.6%) had no change in their medications and 28 (10.7%) were taking no hypoglycemic medications at entry into the study or at follow-up.

Change in medication prescription or dose between baseline and follow-up	n	HbA <sub>1c</sub> <sup>a</sup> <6.5% at fol- low-up, n (%)	Baseline HbA <sub>1c</sub> (%), mean (SD)	Follow-up HbA <sub>1c</sub> (%), mean (SD)
Increase	13	4 (31)	8.5 (2.0)	7.4 (1.4)
No change	88	57 (65)	7.2 (1.2)	6.5 (1.0)
Decrease	112	47 (42)	8 (1.6)	6.8 (1.1)
Complete elimination of medications	21	17 (81)	6.7 (0.9)	6.1 (0.5)
No medications prescribed	28	22 (79)	7.3 (1.3)	6.3 (1.1)

Table 2. Change in prescription of medication class or dose between baseline and follow-up.

<sup>a</sup>HbA<sub>1c</sub>: hemoglobin  $A_{1c}$ .

Figure 3 shows the changes in the 7 common classes of hypoglycemic medication prescribed to the subjects in this study. For sulfonylureas, sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors, and thiazolidinediones, the vast majority of subjects discontinued these medications (90.3%, 86.2%, and 75.0%, respectively). To a lesser degree, this was also the case for dipeptidyl peptidase-4 inhibitors (56.7%), insulin (35.9%), and glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists (27.9%). The exception to this trend was metformin. The proportion of participants who were prescribed insulin, sulfonylureas, and sodium-glucose cotransporter-2 inhibitors was significantly

different at follow-up compared with baseline (all *P*<.007, see Figure 3). Given the reduced risk for hypoglycemia with the glucagon-like peptide-1 receptor agonists relative to insulin and sulfonylureas, the former was added in some cases in order to withdraw the latter two. In the case of metformin, given its modest but significant efficacy in the prevention of diabetes, its continued use in this cohort was encouraged (ie, 186 users at baseline and 181 at follow-up).

Figure 4 shows changes in  $HbA_{1c}$  level over 10-11 weeks in subjects whose insulin dosage was increased, unchanged,

reduced, or eliminated. Only 5% (4 of 78 initial users) had their dosage increased in order to manage their initial  $HbA_{1c}$  value of 8.3% (SD 0.4%). For the other 74 subjects who entered the

study while taking insulin, the  $HbA_{1c}$  values declined significantly despite the same, reduced, or eliminated insulin dosages.

**Figure 3.** Frequency of medication dose changes by drug class. Bars represent total users of each drug with the type of dose change (increase, no change, decrease, or elimination) stacked within the bar and the relative frequency noted next to each section. The total number of users is noted at the top of each bar. The proportion of participants who were prescribed the drug was significantly different between baseline and follow-up for insulin ( $\chi_{21}=21.4$ , *P*<.001), sulfonylureas ( $\chi_{21}=54.0$ , *P*<.001), and sodium-glucose cotranporter-2 (SGLT-2) inhibitors ( $\chi_{21}=17.9$ , *P*<.001) but not for dipeptidyl peptidase-4 (DPP-4) inhibitors ( $\chi_{21}=6.9$ , *P*=.009), thiazolidinediones ( $\chi_{21}=1.3$ , *P*=.25), glucagon-like peptide-1 (GLP-1) receptor agonists ( $\chi_{21}=0.5$ , *P*=.50), or metformin ( $\chi_{21}=0.8$ , *P*=.36).





**Figure 4.** Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) level at baseline and 10-11 weeks per change in insulin dosage. Insulin users who were able to eliminate or reduce their use of the drug also significantly reduced their HbA1c level (7.9%, SD 1.5%, to 6.6%, SD 0.9%, P<.001 and 8.8%, SD 1.8%, to 7.4%, SD 1.2%, P<.001, respectively). Six users with no change in insulin dose achieved a reduction in HbA1c level, although it was not statistically significant (8.2%, SD 1.8%, to 7.6%, SD 1.2%, P=.25). Despite an increased insulin dosage in 4 users, HbA1c level increased but the difference was not significant (8.3%, SD 0.4%, to 8.7%, SD 0.8%, P=.61).



#### **Body Weight**

Weight and body mass index (BMI) changes from baseline to 10 weeks are presented in Table 1, and the mean weight change (as percentage of starting weight) over time is shown in Figure 5 (part "a"). Figure 5 (parts "b" and "c") also shows individual

subjects' weight change over 10 weeks for completers and at the time of dropout for noncompleters. Mean weight loss at 10 weeks for completers was 7.2% (SD 3.7%) of initial body weight. Only 5 out of 262 subjects (2 completers, 3 noncompleters) registered a weight gain, and 75% of completers lost 5% or more of their initial body weight in this time period.



**Figure 5.** Participant weight loss over 10 weeks. Part "a"—weight change over 10 weeks for all participants. Solid line represents the mean; dotted lines represent one standard deviation from the mean. Part "b"—individual body weight changes as percentage of starting body weight at 10 weeks for completers (n=238). Part "c"—individual body weight changes as percentage of starting body weight for each noncompleter at the time of removal from study. For the 21 dropouts, time to drop out was 6 (SD 3) weeks (n=3 participants are still enrolled in the study but did not complete 10-week follow-up testing).



#### Laboratory Test Results and Measures

Consistent with the HbA<sub>1c</sub> changes, the fasting glucose level (Table 1) declined markedly despite reduced hypoglycemic medication usage. There were no significant changes in total, low-density lipoprotein, or high-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, nor were any changes made to statin prescriptions during this time. Triglycerides were significantly reduced by 20%. There were modest but significant reductions in both systolic and diastolic blood pressure. Although not elevated at baseline, the mean serum creatinine, alanine aminotransferase, aspartate aminotransferase, and alkaline phosphatase levels were all significantly reduced at 10-11 weeks. Biomarkers of inflammation were mixed. While C-reactive protein was unchanged, total white blood cell count decreased significantly after 10 weeks of the ketogenic diet.

Baseline hunger on a scale from 1 (no) to 4 (always) was 1.6 (SD 0.6). At 10 weeks, subjective hunger was 1.3 (SD 0.4; 95%

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e5/
```

RenderX

CI of mean difference: -0.4 to -0.2,  $t_{134}$ =5.58, P<.001). Furthermore, 46/135 (34.1%) subjects at baseline reported no hunger, increasing to 78/135 (57.8%) at 10 weeks.

#### Side Effects

One subject withdrew from the study in the first 70 days because of a dietary side effect (diarrhea due to fat intolerance). There were no serious adverse events in this time period and, specifically, no serious symptomatic hypoglycemic events requiring medical intervention.

## Discussion

Although the American Diabetes Association has recently relaxed its advocacy for severe dietary fat restriction, the current paradigm for the management of type 2 diabetes is to prescribe a diet containing about 40% of energy from carbohydrates (eg, a Mediterranean diet) and then adjust medications as necessary to maintain glycemic control [28]. The Virta Clinic manages type 2 diabetes from the perspective that it is a disease of carbohydrate intolerance. Given that this investigation is a nonrandomized demonstration study without measurement against standard of care, no statistical comparisons are made. However, these data demonstrate that when participants were supported through a novel, individualized program including instruction for limiting dietary carbohydrates to <30 g·day<sup>-1</sup>, medications could be substantially reduced or eliminated in most subjects, overall glycemic control was improved, and clinically relevant weight loss (5% or greater) was achieved in a majority of participants.

Other group-based and digitally delivered programs have demonstrated improvements in HbA1c level with modest or no reduction in weight and often without a reduction in medication. A recent in-person group-based intervention for weight loss in adults with type 2 diabetes reduced HbA<sub>1c</sub> level by 0.7% and weight by 3.3% after 12-13 weeks [29], while our investigation reduced  $HbA_{1c}$  level by 1.0% and weight by 7.2% in 10-11 weeks. Digitally delivered programs have elicited a range of improvements in HbA1c (from none to significant) [30]; however, these results were often achieved by increased medication use due to improved adherence and without a reduction in weight [31]. This study demonstrated that these results (reduced HbA<sub>1c</sub> level, weight, and medication use) can be achieved concurrently. Specifically, 147 (56.1%) of the initial 262 subjects in this initial study of the Virta Clinic registered HbA<sub>1c</sub> values <6.5% at 10- to 11-week follow-up. Of these, 39 participants were able to achieve these results without taking any diabetes medication and 86 participants were able to achieve these results taking only metformin. Considering the equilibration time for HbA1c is approximately 120 days, the significant decrease after 70-77 days reported here is a conservative estimate of the true improvement in glucose metabolism.

Achieving an HbA<sub>1c</sub> value under 6.5% is considered "tight control" for type 2 diabetes. There are two commonly reported side effects of tight control—weight gain [32,33] and symptomatic hypoglycemia [28,33,34]. Paradoxically, in this study, we observed very consistent weight loss while observing no severe symptomatic hypoglycemic events. In addition to the very close mobile communication between the participant, coach, and physician in the Virta Clinic, this absence of severe hypoglycemic episodes despite very tight glucose control may be due to the protection of central nervous system function by circulating levels of BOHB. Two studies of starvation-adapted humans have demonstrated full preservation of central nervous system function despite profound hypoglycemia induced by exogenous insulin administration [35,36]. As it pertains to weight loss, it is all the more interesting that the Virta Clinic instructs its participants to strictly limit carbohydrates and eat protein in moderation but to eat fat to satiety. In daily Web-based questionnaires, patients reported reduced hunger once adapted to the ketogenic diet. This subjective decrease in hunger, albeit modest in magnitude, may have allowed the majority of subjects to experience significant weight loss. This concurrent combination of weight loss and reduced hunger is particularly interesting given that significant weight loss by caloric restriction typically increases hunger [37]. However, in light of the recent reports of epigenetic effects of BOHB reducing oxidative stress [24,38] and improving insulin sensitivity [26], it is possible that these paradoxical results can be ascribed to a combination of the metabolic and epigenetic effects of mild nutritional ketosis.

Although we have not calculated the economic implications of improved glycemic control with reduced medications, the removal of diabetes medications combined with clinically significant weight loss [39] has been shown to generate health care cost savings. The timing of these cost savings is immediate in the case of the medication reductions and could accrue over time because of the effect of lowering BMI. As for the HbA<sub>1c</sub> reduction observed in this study, when changes of this magnitude are attained with intensive medication use, this tends to increase both drug costs and adverse events [40]. However, given that a 0.5% reduction in HbA<sub>1c</sub> level was associated with a 17% reduction in diabetic vascular complications following aggressive medication management [2], our 1.0% HbA<sub>1c</sub> level reduction with less medication has the potential to yield even greater savings in the cost of complications over time.

In conclusion, we demonstrated for the first time that biomarkers of type 2 diabetes can be reversed in a substantial fraction of participants using a comprehensive digitally delivered intervention, including medical management by physicians, health coaching, nutrition education emphasizing individualized carbohydrate intake to induce nutritional ketosis, behavioral support, biometric feedback, and peer support. In contrast to current intensive pharmaceutical management strategies, the positive results were achieved with less use of medication and substantial weight loss. The brief duration of this initial study cannot predict the long-term outcomes or sustainability of the nutrition recommendations used by the Virta Clinic. Early results demonstrate markedly improved glycemic control with less medication and modest changes in blood pressure, total white blood cell count, and liver and kidney functions. Ongoing work will evaluate the efficacy and sustainability of this intervention over 2 years.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge Tamara Hazbun MD, Monica Keyes FNP, Nasir Bhanpuri PhD, Sydney Rivera, Deklin Veenhuizen, Hans Chiang, and Rachel Bolden for medical management and technical assistance. We also gratefully acknowledge the dedicated participation of our subjects. This study was funded by Virta Health Corp.



#### **Conflicts of Interest**

Virta Health Corp. funded this study, and all authors have a financial relationship with the study sponsor. ALM, SJH, BCC, BMV, TML, MKA, RMG, JPM, and SJP are employed by Virta. JSV serves as a consultant to Virta. JSV and SDP are cofounders of Virta. All authors have stock options in Virta. The organization contributed to study design, the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, and approval of the final manuscript. Potentially related conflicts of interest are as follows: SDP serves as a consultant to Atkins Nutritionals and has received royalties as an author of two science-based low-carbohydrate books published by Beyond Obesity LLC. JSV serves as a consultant to Atkins Nutritional Dairy Council and Malaysian Palm Oil Board, and has received royalties as an author of two science-based low-carbohydrate books published by Beyond Obesity LLC. SJH serves as a consultant to Atkins Nutritionals.

#### References

- 1. Saudek CD. Can diabetes be cured?: potential biological and mechanical approaches. J Am Med Assoc 2009 Apr 15;301(15):1588-1590. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2009.508</u>] [Medline: <u>19366779</u>]
- 2. UK Prospective Diabetes Study Group. Intensive blood-glucose control with sulphonylureas or insulin compared with conventional treatment and risk of complications in patients with type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 33). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. Lancet 1998 Sep 12;352(9131):837-853. [Medline: <u>9742976</u>]
- 3. Karter AJ, Nundy S, Parker MM, Moffet HH, Huang ES. Incidence of remission in adults with type 2 diabetes: the diabetes & aging study. Diabetes Care 2014 Dec;37(12):3188-3195 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc14-0874] [Medline: 25231895]
- 4. Turner RC, Cull CA, Frighi V, Holman RR. Glycemic control with diet, sulfonylurea, metformin, or insulin in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: progressive requirement for multiple therapies (UKPDS 49). UK Prospective Diabetes Study (UKPDS) Group. J Am Med Assoc 1999 Jun 02;281(21):2005-2012. [Medline: 10359389]
- 5. Nathan DM. Clinical practice. Initial management of glycemia in type 2 diabetes mellitus. N Engl J Med 2002 Oct 24;347(17):1342-1349. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp021106] [Medline: 12397193]
- Sjöström L, Lindroos A, Peltonen M, Torgerson J, Bouchard C, Carlsson B, Swedish Obese Subjects Study Scientific Group. Lifestyle, diabetes, and cardiovascular risk factors 10 years after bariatric surgery. N Engl J Med 2004 Dec 23;351(26):2683-2693. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa035622</u>] [Medline: <u>15616203</u>]
- Vargas-Ruiz AG, Hernández-Rivera G, Herrera MF. Prevalence of iron, folate, and vitamin B12 deficiency anemia after laparoscopic Roux-en-Y gastric bypass. Obes Surg 2008 Mar;18(3):288-293. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11695-007-9310-0</u>] [Medline: <u>18214631</u>]
- 8. Bistrian BR, Blackburn GL, Flatt JP, Sizer J, Scrimshaw NS, Sherman M. Nitrogen metabolism and insulin requirements in obese diabetic adults on a protein-sparing modified fast. Diabetes 1976 Jun;25(6):494-504. [Medline: <u>1278601</u>]
- 9. Bauman WA, Schwartz E, Rose HG, Eisenstein HN, Johnson DW. Early and long-term effects of acute caloric deprivation in obese diabetic patients. Am J Med 1988 Jul;85(1):38-46. [Medline: <u>3291612</u>]
- Wing RR, Blair E, Marcus M, Epstein LH, Harvey J. Year-long weight loss treatment for obese patients with type II diabetes: does including an intermittent very-low-calorie diet improve outcome? Am J Med 1994 Oct;97(4):354-362. [Medline: 7942937]
- Steven S, Hollingsworth KG, Al-Mrabeh A, Avery L, Aribisala B, Caslake M, et al. Very low-calorie diet and 6 months of weight stability in type 2 diabetes: pathophysiological changes in responders and nonresponders. Diabetes Care 2016 May;39(5):808-815. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc15-1942</u>] [Medline: <u>27002059</u>]
- 12. Phinney SD, Horton ES, Sims EA, Hanson JS, Danforth E, LaGrange BM. Capacity for moderate exercise in obese subjects after adaptation to a hypocaloric, ketogenic diet. J Clin Invest 1980 Nov;66(5):1152-1161 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1172/JCI109945] [Medline: 7000826]
- 13. Boden G, Sargrad K, Homko C, Mozzoli M, Stein TP. Effect of a low-carbohydrate diet on appetite, blood glucose levels, and insulin resistance in obese patients with type 2 diabetes. Ann Intern Med 2005 Mar 15;142(6):403-411. [Medline: 15767618]
- Yancy WS, Foy M, Chalecki AM, Vernon MC, Westman EC. A low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet to treat type 2 diabetes. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2005 Dec 01;2:34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-2-34] [Medline: 16318637]
- 15. Dashti HM, Mathew TC, Khadada M, Al-Mousawi M, Talib H, Asfar SK, et al. Beneficial effects of ketogenic diet in obese diabetic subjects. Mol Cell Biochem 2007 Aug;302(1-2):249-256. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11010-007-9448-z</u>] [Medline: <u>17447017</u>]
- Westman EC, Yancy WS, Mavropoulos JC, Marquart M, McDuffie JR. The effect of a low-carbohydrate, ketogenic diet versus a low-glycemic index diet on glycemic control in type 2 diabetes mellitus. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2008;5:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-5-36] [Medline: 19099589]
- Iqbal N, Vetter ML, Moore RH, Chittams JL, Dalton-Bakes CV, Dowd M, et al. Effects of a low-intensity intervention that prescribed a low-carbohydrate vs. a low-fat diet in obese, diabetic participants. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2010 Sep;18(9):1733-1738 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/oby.2009.460] [Medline: 20019677]
- Nielsen JV, Joensson EA. Low-carbohydrate diet in type 2 diabetes: stable improvement of bodyweight and glycemic control during 44 months follow-up. Nutr Metab (Lond) 2008;5:14 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1743-7075-5-14] [Medline: 18495047]

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e5/

- 19. Saslow LR, Kim S, Daubenmier JJ, Moskowitz JT, Phinney SD, Goldman V, et al. A randomized pilot trial of a moderate carbohydrate diet compared to a very low carbohydrate diet in overweight or obese individuals with type 2 diabetes mellitus or prediabetes. PLoS One 2014;9(4):e91027 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0091027] [Medline: 24717684]
- Tay J, Luscombe-Marsh ND, Thompson CH, Noakes M, Buckley JD, Wittert GA, et al. Comparison of low- and high-carbohydrate diets for type 2 diabetes management: a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2015 Oct;102(4):780-790. [doi: <u>10.3945/ajcn.115.112581</u>] [Medline: <u>26224300</u>]
- Forsythe CE, Phinney SD, Fernandez ML, Quann EE, Wood RJ, Bibus DM, et al. Comparison of low fat and low carbohydrate diets on circulating fatty acid composition and markers of inflammation. Lipids 2008 Jan;43(1):65-77. [doi: 10.1007/s11745-007-3132-7] [Medline: 18046594]
- 22. Volek JS, Phinney SD, Forsythe CE, Quann EE, Wood RJ, Puglisi MJ, et al. Carbohydrate restriction has a more favorable impact on the metabolic syndrome than a low fat diet. Lipids 2009 Apr;44(4):297-309. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11745-008-3274-2</u>] [Medline: <u>19082851</u>]
- Forsythe C, Phinney S, Feinman R, Volk B, Freidenreich D, Quann E, et al. Limited effect of dietary saturated fat on plasma saturated fat in the context of a low carbohydrate diet. Lipids 2010 Oct;45(10):947-962 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11745-010-3467-3] [Medline: 20820932]
- Shimazu T, Hirschey MD, Newman J, He W, Shirakawa K, Le MN, et al. Suppression of oxidative stress by β-hydroxybutyrate, an endogenous histone deacetylase inhibitor. Science 2013 Jan 11;339(6116):211-214 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1126/science.1227166] [Medline: 23223453]
- 25. Gumbiner B, Wendel JA, McDermott MP. Effects of diet composition and ketosis on glycemia during very-low-energy-diet therapy in obese patients with non-insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. Am J Clin Nutr 1996 Jan;63(1):110-115. [Medline: 8604657]
- 26. Newman JC, Verdin E. β-hydroxybutyrate: much more than a metabolite. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2014 Nov;106(2):173-181 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2014.08.009] [Medline: 25193333]
- 27. Volek JS, Phinney SD. The Art and Science of Low Carbohydrate Living. Florida, USA: Beyond Obesity, LLC; 2011.
- 28. American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes-2016 abridged for primary care providers. Clin Diabetes 2016 Jan;34(1):3-21 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.34.1.3] [Medline: 26807004]
- 29. O'Neil P, Miller-Kovach K, Tuerk P, Becker L, Wadden T, Fujioka K, et al. Randomized controlled trial of a nationally available weight control program tailored for adults with type 2 diabetes. Obesity (Silver Spring) 2016 Nov;24(11):2269-2277. [doi: 10.1002/oby.21616] [Medline: 27804264]
- 30. Garabedian LF, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Mobile phone and smartphone technologies for diabetes care and self-management. Curr Diab Rep 2015 Dec;15(12):109. [doi: <u>10.1007/s11892-015-0680-8</u>] [Medline: <u>26458380</u>]
- 31. Arambepola C, Ricci-Cabello I, Manikavasagam P, Roberts N, French D, Farmer A. The impact of automated brief messages promoting lifestyle changes delivered via mobile devices to people with type 2 diabetes: a systematic literature review and meta-analysis of controlled trials. J Med Internet Res 2016 Apr 19;18(4):e86 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5425] [Medline: 27095386]
- 32. The DCCT Research Group. Weight gain associated with intensive therapy in the diabetes control and complications trial. The DCCT Research Group. Diabetes Care 1988;11(7):567-573. [Medline: 2904881]
- Henry RR, Gumbiner B, Ditzler T, Wallace P, Lyon R, Glauber HS. Intensive conventional insulin therapy for type II diabetes. Metabolic effects during a 6-mo outpatient trial. Diabetes Care 1993 Jan;16(1):21-31. [Medline: <u>8422777</u>]
- 34. Duckworth W, Abraira C, Moritz T, Reda D, Emanuele N, Reaven PD, et al. Glucose control and vascular complications in veterans with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2009 Jan 08;360(2):129-139. [doi: <u>10.1056/NEJMoa0808431</u>] [Medline: <u>19092145</u>]
- 35. Drenick EJ, Alvarez LC, Tamasi GC, Brickman AS. Resistance to symptomatic insulin reactions after fasting. J Clin Invest 1972 Oct;51(10):2757-2762 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1172/JCI107095] [Medline: 5056667]
- 36. Cahill G, Aoki T. Alternate Fuel Utilization by Brain. In: Cerebral Metabolism and Neural Function. Baltimore/London: Williams and Wilkins; 1980:234-242.
- 37. Doucet E, Imbeault P, St-Pierre S, Alméras N, Mauriège P, Richard D, et al. Appetite after weight loss by energy restriction and a low-fat diet-exercise follow-up. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord 2000 Jul;24(7):906-914. [Medline: 10918539]
- Youm Y, Nguyen KY, Grant RW, Goldberg EL, Bodogai M, Kim D, et al. The ketone metabolite β-hydroxybutyrate blocks NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated inflammatory disease. Nat Med 2015 Mar;21(3):263-269 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1038/nm.3804] [Medline: 25686106]
- Cawley J, Meyerhoefer C, Biener A, Hammer M, Wintfeld N. Savings in medical expenditures associated with reductions in body mass index among US adults with obesity, by diabetes status. Pharmacoeconomics 2015 Jul;33(7):707-722 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s40273-014-0230-2] [Medline: 25381647]
- 40. Miller ME, Williamson JD, Gerstein HC, Byington RP, Cushman WC, Ginsberg HN, et al. Effects of randomization to intensive glucose control on adverse events, cardiovascular disease, and mortality in older versus younger adults in the ACCORD Trial. Diabetes Care 2014;37(3):634-643 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc13-1545] [Medline: 24170759]
## Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index BOHB: beta-hydroxybutyrate HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c VLCD: very low-calorie diet

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 11.11.16; peer-reviewed by W Yancy, MD, P Wang, L Quintana, E Magnan; comments to author 02.12.16; revised version received 12.01.17; accepted 11.02.17; published 07.03.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u>

McKenzie AL, Hallberg SJ, Creighton BC, Volk BM, Link TM, Abner MK, Glon RM, McCarter JP, Volek JS, Phinney SD A Novel Intervention Including Individualized Nutritional Recommendations Reduces Hemoglobin A1c Level, Medication Use, and Weight in Type 2 Diabetes JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e5 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e5/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6981 PMID:30291062

©Amy L McKenzie, Sarah J Hallberg, Brent C Creighton, Brittanie M Volk, Theresa M Link, Marcy K Abner, Roberta M Glon, James P McCarter, Jeff S Volek, Stephen D Phinney. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 07.03.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# How's Your Sugar? Evaluation of a Website for Aboriginal People With Diabetes

Karen Adams<sup>1</sup>, BHSci Nursing, MAE, PhD; Anna Liebzeit<sup>2</sup>, B Ed; Jennifer Browne<sup>3</sup>, MPH; Petah Atkinson<sup>1</sup>, MPH

<sup>1</sup>Gukwonderuk, Faculty of Medicine Nursing and Health Science, Monash University, Clayton, Australia

<sup>2</sup>Monash University, Clayton, Australia

<sup>3</sup>Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation, Collingwood, Australia

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Karen Adams, BHSci Nursing, MAE, PhD Gukwonderuk Faculty of Medicine Nursing and Health Science Monash University 27 Rainforest Walk Clayton, 3800 Australia Phone: 61 3 9902 4328 Fax: 61 3 9902 4333 Email: <u>karen.adams@monash.edu</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (hereafter referred to as "Aboriginal people") have the longest continuing culture in the world, living sustainably for at least 65,000 years on the Australian continent. In relatively recent times, colonization processes have resulted in Aboriginal people experiencing unacceptable health inequalities compared with other Australians. One disease introduced due to colonization is diabetes, the second leading cause of death for Aboriginal peoples.

**Objectives:** The objective of this study was to describe the construction and utilization of the website "How's Your Sugar," a website for Aboriginal people with type 2 diabetes (herein after referred to as diabetes). The questions for the evaluation were as follows: how was the website constructed; did target groups utilize the website; and did engagement with the website improve diabetes management.

**Methods:** A mixed-method study design was employed. A content analysis of project documents provided information about the website construction. Data from Google analytics provided information about website utilization. To describe patterns of website sessions, percentages and numbers were calculated. A voluntary survey provided more information on website utilization and diabetes self-management. Percentage, numbers, and 95% CIs were calculated for each variable. A chi-square test was performed for Aboriginal status, age, gender, and Aboriginal diabetic status using Australian population estimates and Aboriginal diabetes rates.

**Results:** The website development drew on Aboriginal health, social marketing, interactive health promotion frameworks, as well as evidence for diabetes self-management. The website build involved a multidisciplinary team and participation of Aboriginal diabetics, Aboriginal diabetic family members, and Aboriginal health workers. This participation allowed for inclusion of Aboriginal ways of knowing and being. The highest number of website sessions came from Australia, 98.15% (47,717/48,617) and within Australia, Victoria 50.97% (24,323/47,717). There were 129 survey respondents, and the distribution had more female, 82.9% (107/129, 95% CI 76-88), Aboriginal, 21.7% (28/129, 95% CI 16-30), and Aboriginal diabetic, 48% (13/27, 95% CI 31-66) respondents than expected with P<.001 for these three groups. Most common reasons for visits were university assignment research, 40.6% (41/101), and health workers looking for information, 20.8% (21/101). The sample size was too small to calculate diabetes self-management change.

**Conclusions:** Inclusion of Aboriginal ways of knowing and being alongside other theoretical and evidence models in Web design is possible. Aboriginal people do utilize Web-based health promotion, and further understanding about reaching to this population would be of use. Provision of an education resource would likely have enhanced educational engagement. Web-based technologies are rapidly evolving, and these can potentially measure behavior change in engaging ways that also have benefits for the participant. A challenge for designers is inclusivity of cultural diversity for self-determination.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e6) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6930

## **KEYWORDS**

Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples; type 2 diabetes mellitus; Indigenous populations; Internet

## Introduction

Australia's Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander peoples (hereafter referred to as "Aboriginal people") have the longest continuing culture in the world, living sustainably for at least 65,000 years on the Australian continent [1]. In relatively recent times (the last 230 years), the process of colonization has resulted in Aboriginal people experiencing unacceptable health inequalities compared with other Australians. Almost 10 years have passed since Australian governments agreed to closing the gap and improving Aboriginal health outcomes [2]. However, only minimal progress has been made. The median age at death for Aboriginal People is 24 years lower than that for non-Aboriginal Australians [3]. Despite this, there is a policy commitment to achieve equality in health status and life expectancy by 2031 [4].

One disease that colonization introduced to Aboriginal people is diabetes, the second leading cause of death among the Aboriginal population [5]. National surveys have estimated that approximately 1 in 10 Aboriginal people have diabetes, which is more than 3 times higher than that in the non-Aboriginal population [6,7]. In the 25- to 34-year age group, this prevalence is 5 times higher, indicating the earlier development of diabetes in the Aboriginal population [6]. Earlier onset of diabetes increases the chance of developing complications such as cardiovascular disease, renal failure, and retinopathy later in life [8]. Appropriate and effective diabetes management is essential for reducing morbidity and mortality among Aboriginal people.

Education and self-management are important components of diabetes care [9]. There is evidence that culturally appropriate self-management programs led by Aboriginal peers can be effective at improving participants' self-management practices, physical activity levels, and quality of life [10]. Professionaland nonprofessional-led Web-based programs for diabetics have been shown to provide improvement [11]. The recently released Australian National Diabetes Strategy [12], which includes a specific goal of reducing the impact of diabetes among Aboriginal people, calls for expansion of consumer engagement and self-management initiatives. One recommendation is that peer support programs (either face-to-face, telephonic, or Web-based) are accessible to all with diabetes [13].

Health promotion aimed at Aboriginal people is increasingly focusing on Web-based and digital environments [14]. These tools come in a range of formats with theory underpinning construction varied and often not described [14]. However, these

tools do have potential to influence health behaviors. Web-based interventions for diabetes can improve general knowledge, and tracking and monitoring of diabetes, however, have not been shown to improve depression or anxiety. In addition, theory-based Web designs are more effective for behavior change [11]. The types of Web-based tools available for people living with diabetes are evolving rapidly and now combine elements of patient records, interactivity, feedback loops, and multiple hardware devices, such as phone, glucometer, tablet, and computer [15].

Many Aboriginal people access the Internet. In the 2011 Census, 63% of Aboriginal households reported having Internet connection, up from 40% in 2006. The quality of connection was high with 85% most frequently connected using broadband, 11% other types of connections (eg, mobile phones), and 4% dial-up connections. Younger Aboriginal people (aged 24 years and less) were more likely to have home Internet connection than those aged 55 years and more (63% and 42%, respectively) [16].

Sparse data exist about Aboriginal engagement in various websites [13]. Information about end user experiences with the technologies is also rare. One study in Victoria, Australia, explored young women's research recruitment from social networking sites with an Aboriginal participant rate consistent with Aboriginal population proportion [17]. Another study of Aboriginal people's Facebook use found that Aboriginal people were engaging with the platform to actively express identity and network with other Aboriginal people [18]. This study aimed to describe the construction and utilization of the website "How's Your Sugar," a website for Aboriginal people with type 2 diabetes (herein after referred to as diabetes). The questions for the evaluation were as follows: how was the website constructed; did target groups utilize the website; and did engagement with the website improve diabetes management.

## Methods

## **Study Design**

The How's Your Sugar website was developed during October 2009 to May 2010, and launched in June 2010. The website build was supported by a 12-month grant from the Australian Department of Health and Aging. Ethics approval for the evaluation was obtained from the Victoria University Human Research Ethics Committee. The evaluation included creation of a Logframe Matrix [19] (Table 1), and mixed methods were used to collate evaluation data including project document content analysis, website data collection, and survey.



#### Table 1. Logframe matrix.

Adams et al

Objectives	Indicator	Data source	Assumption		
Goal: Develop a culturally relevant and evidence-based website to sup-	Was an evidence and theory base used to develop the website?	Program documents	Team has the skills required to build the website		
port Aboriginal people with type 2 diabetes to manage well-being.	Was cultural relevance included in the website?				
Outcome: To support Aboriginal people with type 2 diabetes to manage	Did the website focus on managing type 2 diabetes?	Program documents	A website can support people with type 2 diabetes to manage well-		
well-being	Did the resource support Aboriginal people	Website content	being		
	with type 2 diabetes?	Web-based survey			
Outputs: Website supports Aboriginal	Was the website utilized by the target	Website analytics	Aboriginal people with type 2 dia-		
people with type 2 diabetes to manage	group? For instance, Aboriginal people with	Web-based Survey	betes will engage with the website		
wen-being	Aboriginal people with diabetes, and health workers?		Health professionals will access the website		
Activities: Website is accessible, promoted, and utilized	Was the website accessed?	Google analytics	Aboriginal people with type 2 dia- betes engaging with the website		
r	Was the website promoted?	Web-based survey	will improve management of dia- betes and well-being		
	Did engagement occur with the website?				
			Health professionals will learn about Aboriginal people and stay- ing well with diabetes		

## Website Build

Data about the website build were extracted from documents generated by the project that described elements of the website build process. These project documents included minutes of project team meetings (6), reports to funding bodies (4), project planning session notes (8), communication strategy (1), conference presentations (2) and written notes taken at social marketing interviews (6), and a focus group (1). The documents were reviewed using content analysis with the aim to address the following logframe matrix indicators: was an evidence and theory base used, was cultural relevance included, did the website focus on diabetes management, and was the website promoted.

#### Website Utilization

To understand more about website access and usage, two sources of data were collected using Google Analytics [20] and SurveyMonkey (SurveyMonkey Inc) [21]. Google Analytics provided data on website sessions this data collection addressed the logframe matrix indicator questions: was the website accessed and did engagement occur with the website. To describe patterns of website sessions, percentages and numbers were calculated. A voluntary survey was developed using SurveyMonkey with a link to this on the website front page (Figure 1). The survey allowed only 1 response per respondent through IP address tracking. The survey addressed the logframe matrix indicator questions: did the resource support Aboriginal people with type 2 diabetes, was the website used by the target group, and did engagement occur with the website. The survey included an explanatory statement, which then led to the survey questions. The first survey page asked for age, gender, reason for visit, and Aboriginal status. Those affirming Aboriginal status went to a second page that asked for diabetic status. Those indicating they were diabetic went to a fourth page asking questions about diabetes management with questions relating to the 10 steps for living well with diabetes. These respondents were invited to provide an email to be asked further questions in a 6-month time period. Further details on these variables can be found in Table 2. Percentage, numbers, and 95% CIs were calculated for each variable. A chi-square test was performed for Aboriginal status, age, gender, and Aboriginal diabetic status using Australian population [22] and Aboriginal diabetes estimates [6-7]. Calculations were conducted in the Microsoft Excel version 14.4.2 (Microsoft Corporation) [23].



Figure 1. Opening page of the website.



## Results

## Website Build

The How's Your Sugar project team was based at Victoria University in Melbourne and consisted of an Aboriginal nurse and two Aboriginal educators experienced in adult education. The project team also drew on expertise from the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organization and an Aboriginal worker from Diabetes Victoria. Initially the team reviewed websites aiming to provide information to Indigenous people with diabetes in Australia, New Zealand, Canada, and the United States. These commonly featured static materials, such as written text, images, and downloadable PDF information. Imagery accompanying the writing commonly included a mix of Indigenous iconography and clinical elements, such as a health professional in a white coat with a stethoscope. The materials provided didactic information on what a person should do to manage their diabetes, and were written in simple English from the perspective of a non-Aboriginal health professional as expert speaking to a client. One project team member stated during this review of websites, "Who do they think they are talking to? It's like they stuck some Aboriginal artwork on it and said 'that'll do', its patronizing." The project team recognized the potential for greater use of engaging and interactive website elements that could be inclusive of adult learning pedagogy and Aboriginal ways of knowing and being [24]. Aboriginal websites reflecting this type of inclusion, such as 12canoes [25] and Mission Voices [26] influenced the How's Your Sugar construction.

The team identified the 10 steps for living well with diabetes as a practical and evidence-based health education message for the website target groups. The 10 steps recommended 30 minutes of daily physical activity, taking prescribed medications, regularly checking blood sugar levels, visiting a general practitioner regularly, eating fruits and vegetables, having an

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e6/
```

annual foot and eye check, ceasing smoking, drinking alcohol in moderation, and living well [27]. Three frameworks informed the How's Your Sugar website construction, including interactive health communication [28], social marketing [29], and the definition of Aboriginal health [4]. Multimedia Appendix 1 provides further details about the application of the 3 frameworks.

The project team conducted interviews, and focus groups were the target groups of 4 Aboriginal people with diabetes (2 males and 2 females), 2 Aboriginal health workers (1 male and 1 female), 4 mature Aboriginal Victoria University students with family or friends with diabetes, and 4 employees at Victoria University with family or friends with diabetes. Travel to conduct broader consultation was not possible due to budget restriction. The 4 people with diabetes were individually asked about the types of information they had found helpful for managing their diabetes. These people described a common experience of health professionals providing information about what to do to manage diabetes and learning from peers with lived experiences of managing diabetes more about how to manage diabetes. For instance, 1 person described, "The doctor told me what I had to do and gave me the pamphlets but it wasn't until I was yarning up to someone like me that I really understood what I needed to do and how I could do it."

The cultural importance of managing diabetes in relation to social connection for Aboriginal people has been highlighted in other studies [30]. The peers described receiving this "how to" information in informal environments and liked being able to laugh and joke about their diabetes to relieve stress. For example, 1 person said "You feel like you need to be doing the right thing all the time, it's good to just have a laugh about it." Use of humor by Aboriginal people as a well-being mechanism to relieve stress and talk about uncomfortable areas has been described elsewhere [31]. When asked about Web-based interactions, people said they regularly accessed email, social

media, Web-based video and games. Based on this information, draft designs were made for further review. At this stage, the project team also began to investigate a suitable website designer to work with. Abilities to be flexible, to be transparent, and listen carefully to the project team needs were noted as desired qualities, which led to the engagement of a suited designer.

A set of draft designs were reviewed by the same 4 people with diabetes and the Aboriginal health workers. All were asked individually to reflect on what they liked, what they did not like, and what they would change. The focus group was asked the same questions. Participants collectively recommended the following: incorporation of more entertainment and humor, storytelling, cloud symbolism;, a barbecue in the backyard, inclusion of Koorie English [32], removing a no-smoking symbol from the website area with videos about tobacco cessation so smokers would not be repelled, providing something that welcomed people verbally to the site, inclusion of other fun health promotion activities aimed at Aboriginal people, inclusion of caring for country, and ensuring that men and women were represented in the site as peers and Aboriginal health workers. This advice was incorporated into the final design. During development, a non-Aboriginal health professional urged the project team to include a diabetes educator on the website to ensure that the messages conveyed were accurate. The project team thought that this could diminish the Aboriginal health worker and peer roles; however, a diabetes support and smoking cessation call line was included in case website visitors were seeking further information.

The name How's Your Sugar? was suggested by 1 of the Aboriginal health workers, as it is a common way for Aboriginal people to ask a person with diabetes how they are feeling or travelling with their diabetes. The final design of the website

provided an opening page of a kitchen, a familiar informal space where people gather to yarn or talk replicating a generalized version of what it is like for an Aboriginal person to visit a family member or friend's home. Four peers gathered around the table inviting visitors to click on something. Visitors could navigate around the space and interact with various elements in the website, finding their own pathway through the material. Each peer featured in short videos about how they managed their diabetes in regard to the 10 steps for living well with diabetes. In addition, short videos of 4 Aboriginal health workers discussing self-care and 6 people reflecting on smoking cessation were included. All of the short videos were placed in a relevant space in the website. For instance, videos about diet were placed in the refrigerator and visitors clicked on the refrigerator door to view them. A nutrition game (Figure 2), quiz, and email reminder about recommended minimum appointments were also integrated into the website. Text message reminders were also considered; however, the cost of doing this was beyond the project budget. More details about the design can be viewed in Multimedia Appendix 1.

The project team developed a communication strategy to promote the website. This included posting packages of 50 to 100 fridge magnets to each of the Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Services listed as members of the National Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organization. The project team wrote an article for the Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Worker Journal [33], and referral links were negotiated with the Indigenous Healthinfonet, the Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organization, and Diabetes Victoria websites. An unexpected outcome was that the How's Your Sugar website was also promoted by other websites [34-37].



Figure 2. Nutrition game.



## Website Utilization

Data from Google Analytics (Figure 3) revealed a total of 48,617 sessions from April 2010 to October 2016, with 30,852 out of 48,617 (64%) new sessions. Mean session duration and mean pages viewed per session suggested a pattern of engagement with the website. There was an annual pattern of increased sessions during the months April to May and August to September. In 2015 and 2016, there were spikes indicating increased site usage. The majority of sessions originated from Australia, 98.15% (47,717/48,617) with the highest number of sessions in Victoria 50.97% (24,323/47,717). Sources of website access included search engines and referring websites. Operating systems used per session indicated desktop preference.

For the same time frame, there were 129 respondents to the survey (Table 2) with 30,700 individual users of the website.

This indicated a less than 1% response rate, not unusual for voluntary Web-based surveys [38]. The survey respondent distribution had more females, Aboriginal people, and Aboriginal people with diabetes than expected with P < .001. Age group distribution of respondents differed from that of the Australian population, with the 26- to 35-year age group highest, followed by the 46- to 55-year age group. The most common reasons for visiting the site included research for a university assignment and health workers looking for information. Eleven Aboriginal respondents answered questions about self-assessed management of diabetes. This number was too small to calculate statistical significance lacking type II power; however, the data are provided in Table 2 for possible meta-analysis. Of the 11 respondents, 6 agreed to be resurveyed for diabetes self-management, with this number also too small to calculate statistical difference.



Table 2. Characteristics of survey respondents.

## Adams et al

Characteristics		n (%)	95% CI	P value
Age group (n=127)	·	·		<.001
	18-25	29 (22.8)	14-27	
	26-35	44 (34.6)	23-38	
	36-45	23 (18.1)	11-23	
	46-55	30 (23.6)	15-28	
	56-65	8 (6.3)	3-10	
	66+	3 (2.4)	0.7-6	
Gender (n=129)	Female	107 (82.9)	76-88	<.001
	Male	22 (17.1)	12-25	
Reason for site visit (n=101)				
	Research for university as- signment	41 (40.6)	32-50	
	Health worker looking for information	21 (20.8)	14-30	
	Curiosity	18 (17.8)	12-26	
	Diabetic looking for infor- mation	12 (11.8)	7-20	
	Research	8 (7.9)	4-15	
	Person with diabetic fami- ly member looking for in- formation	1 (9.9)	0.2-5	
Aboriginal status (n=129)				<.001
	Aboriginal	28 (21.7)	16-30	
	Non-Aboriginal	101 (78.3)	70-85	
Aboriginal diabetic status (n=27)				<.001
	Diabetic	13 (48)	31-66	
	Non-Diabetic	14 (52)	34-69	
Aboriginal diabetic self-man- agement (n=11)				
Regularly monitors blood sugar				
	Never	2 (18)	5-48	
	Rarely	2 (18)	5-48	
	Sometimes	3 (27)	10-57	
	Mostly	1 (27)	2-37	
	Always	3 (27)	10-57	
Takes medication regularly				
	Never	2 (18)	5-48	
	Rarely	0 (0)	-	
	Sometimes	2 (18)	5-48	
	Mostly	5 (46)	21-72	
	Always	2 (18)	5-48	
Recommended diabetic diet				

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e6/



### Adams et al

Characteristics		n (%)	95% CI	<i>P</i> value
	Never	2 (18)	5-48	
	Rarely	3 (27)	10-57	
	Sometimes	0 (0)	-	
	Mostly	5 (46)	21-72	
	Always	1 (9)	2-37	
Recommended exercise				
	Never	2 (18)	5-48	
	Rarely	3 (27)	10-57	
	Sometimes	2 (18)	5-48	
	Mostly	0 (0)	-	
	Always	4 (36)	16-65	
Checks feet daily				
	No	6 (55)	28-79	
	Yes	5 (46)	21-72	
Visit general practitioner at least twice a year				
	No	5 (46)	21-72	
	Yes	6 (55)	28-79	
Eyes checked in last 2 years				
	No	6 (55)	28-79	
	Yes	5 (46)	21-72	





## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

The How's Your Sugar website development drew on Aboriginal health, social marketing, and interactive health promotion frameworks. An evidence base for diabetes

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e6/

XSL•FO RenderX self-management also informed the website content. The website build involved a multidisciplinary team and participation of Aboriginal diabetics, Aboriginal diabetic family members, and Aboriginal health workers. This participation allowed for inclusion of Aboriginal ways of knowing and being [27] through soundscape, imagery, and interaction. This was important, as approaches to dealing with Aboriginal health often omit

Aboriginal knowledge and focus instead on the illness and pathology that has arisen from cultural dispossession. This can effectively reduce self-determination of Aboriginal people by imposing a western cultural model not inclusive of Aboriginal well-being modalities, contributing further to identity loss and dislocation [39]. Rather than simply considering that Aboriginal people have a right to diabetes education, How's Your Sugar embedded this in Aboriginal ways of knowing and being. This is part of a global political movement in self-determination that aims to include indigenous knowledge and cultural practices in the everyday life [40]. To some extent this positioning is consistent with the self-determining component of the Chronic Care Model, whereby those experiencing chronic conditions ideally should feel empowered to maintain well-being [41]. Other authors have also called for those working in health to question how this locus of control relates to Aboriginal peoples [42].

The highest number of website sessions came from Victoria, the geographic region where the website was created. This might indicate increased relevancy for people living in this area. Varying promotion of How's Your Sugar in different states and territories might have also influenced this pattern. The How's Your Sugar website was successful in attracting visitors via referring websites, and this type of promotion could be considered by others. Desktop access was preferred. However, How's Your Sugar was constructed at a time when mobile and tablet Internet use was emerging and so the content does not translate well to these, thus likely impacting on findings. Since inception of the website, there has been much technology change [15] and if How's Your Sugar were made today, different Web-based tools would be available.

The study survey respondent distribution had more Aboriginal and Aboriginal people with diabetes than expected. It is possible that these people were more motivated to respond; however, it does indicate that this target group was accessing the website. Survey respondent distribution had more females than expected, and it is unclear why. Reasons for visiting the website varied, including personal diabetes education, university assignments, research, and health workers seeking information. This indicates that the target group of health workers were also accessing the website. The spikes in annual website sessions are indicative of Australian teaching semesters, and this may explain these spikes, particularly as the survey data indicate that university students were accessing the site and that the website was promoted by tertiary education institutions. The increased spikes in usage may indicate that more students were using the site over the past 2 years. Development of an associated education resource may have enhanced engagement with this group.

## Limitations

The survey was unable to describe diabetes management behavior change due to limited numbers of respondents. In Aboriginal research, gaining enough numbers of people for statistical analysis is often a challenge [43]. We suggest to others attempting this type of research to consider other means of measuring change, and technology developed since the inception of this website could facilitate this. The survey is also limited to a small response rate, and the data represent those willing to undertake the survey and so is not representative of all visitors to the website.

## Conclusions

This study identifies that Aboriginal ways of knowing and being can be included in website designs alongside other theoretical and evidence models. It also highlights that Aboriginal people do engage with Web-based health promotion and further understanding about reaching to this population would be of use. The website was also being utilized for education purposes, and provision of an education resource would likely have enhanced this engagement. Web-based technologies are rapidly evolving, and these can potentially measure behavior change in engaging ways that have benefits for the participant. A challenge for designers is inclusivity of cultural diversity for self-determination.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

## **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Application of frameworks.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 2MB - diabetes\_v2i1e6\_app1.pdf]

## References

- 1. Australian Museum. 2015. Indigenous Australia timeline pre-contact URL: <u>http://australianmuseum.net.au/</u> indigenous-australia-timeline-pre-contact [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6lanBIZzM]
- Brennan B. ABC. Close the Gap 10 years on: Tom Calma says constant political turmoil has impeded progress URL: <u>http://www.abc.net.au/news/2016-03-17/10-year-anniversary-of-close-the-gap-campaign-tom-calma/7252774</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6laoiAGIA]
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2016. Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Deaths URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/3302.0Main%20Features62015?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=3302.</u> 0&issue=2015&num=&view [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6lbjaDFI2]

- 4. Australian Government. National Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Health Plan 2013-2023 URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/B92E980680486C3BCA257BF0001BAF01/\$File/health-plan.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-08] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOsULE1q]
- 5. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Causes of death, Australia URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/</u> by%20Subject/3303.0~2014~Main%20Features~Summary%20of%20Findings~1 [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6lbk3edE4]
- Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health survey: updated results, 2012-13 URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Lookup/4727.0.55.006main+features12012-13</u> [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6lbj4uLuO]
- 7. Australian Bureau of Statistics. Australian Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health survey: biomedical results, 2012-13 URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/mf/4727.0.55.003</u> [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6lbite9Yd]
- Song SH, Hardisty CA. Early onset type 2 diabetes mellitus: a harbinger for complications in later years--clinical observation from a secondary care cohort. QJM 2009 Nov;102(11):799-806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/qjmed/hcp121] [Medline: 19734298]
- Royal Australian College of General Practitioners. Diabetes Australia. General practice management of type 2 diabetes URL: <u>https://static.diabetesaustralia.com.au/s/fileassets/diabetes-australia/5ed214a6-4cff-490f-a283-bc8279fe3b2f.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-03-13] [WebCite Cache ID 6owX45haZ]
- Mikhailovich K, Morrison P, Arabena K. RRH. 2007. Evaluating Australian Indigenous community health promotion initiatives: a selective review URL: <u>http://www.rrh.org.au/publishedarticles/article\_print\_746.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOsGMzw4]
- 11. Hadjiconstantinou M, Byrne J, Bodicoat DH, Robertson N, Eborall H, Khunti K, et al. Do web-based interventions improve well-being in type 2 diabetes? a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Oct 21;18(10):e270 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5991] [Medline: 27769955]
- 12. Department of Health, Australian Government. Australian National Diabetes Strategy 2016-2020 URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/content/3AF935DA210DA043CA257EFB000D0C03/\$File/</u> Australian%20National%20Diabetes%20Strategy%202016-2020.pdf [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOskocwh]
- Department of Health, Australian Government. 2015. Implementation plan for the national Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander health plan 2013-2023 URL: <u>http://www.health.gov.au/internet/main/publishing.nsf/Content/</u> indigenous-implementation-plan [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOt15uj0]
- Brusse C, Gardner K, McAullay D, Dowden M. Social media and mobile apps for health promotion in Australian Indigenous populations: scoping review. J Med Internet Res 2014 Dec 10;16(12):e280 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3614] [Medline: 25498835]
- Alharbi NS, Alsubki N, Jones S, Khunti K, Munro N, de LS. Impact of information technology-based interventions for type 2 diabetes mellitus on glycemic control: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Med Internet Res 2016 Nov 25;18(11):e310 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.5778] [Medline: 27888169]
- 16. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2011. Census of population and housing: characteristics of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander Australians URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/Latestproducts/2076.</u> <u>OMain%20Features12011?opendocument&tabname=Summary&prodno=2076.0&issue=2011&num=&view</u> [accessed 2016-10-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6lbkhB5Au]
- Fenner Y, Garland SM, Moore EE, Jayasinghe Y, Fletcher A, Tabrizi SN, et al. Web-based recruiting for health research using a social networking site: an exploratory study. J Med Internet Res 2012;14(1):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1978] [Medline: 22297093]
- 18. Carlson B. The 'new frontier': Emergent Indigenous identities and social media. In: Harris M, Nakata B, Carlson B, editors. The Politics of Identity: Emerging Indigeneity. Broadway, NSW: UTS Publishing; 2013:147-168.
- 19. Crawford P, Bryce P. Project monitoring and evaluation: a method for enhancing the efficiency and effectiveness of aid project implementation. Int J of Project Management 2003;21(5):363-373.
- 20. Google. 2015. Google Analytics URL: <u>http://www.google.com.au/analytics/</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6lapgHW9i</u>]
- 21. Surveymonkey. 2016. URL: <u>https://www.surveymonkey.com/</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6laq3L0kA]
- 22. Australian Bureau of Statistics. 2016. Table Builder URL: <u>http://www.abs.gov.au/websitedbs/censushome.nsf/home/</u> <u>tablebuilder?opendocument&navpos=240</u> [accessed 2016-12-12] [WebCite Cache ID 6nRtpc84r]
- 23. Microsoft Corporation. Excel version 14. 4.2 (140509). Microsoft Corporation. Washington 2010.
- 24. Martin K, Mirraboopa B. Ways of knowing, being and doing: A theoretical framework and methods for Indigenous and Indigenist research. Journal of Australian Studies 2003 Jan;27(76):203-214. [doi: 10.1080/14443050309387838]
- 25. 12canoes. Yolungu People of Ramingining URL: <u>http://www.12canoes.com.au/</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6laqU0re4]
- 26. ABC. 2004. Mission Voices URL: <u>http://www.abc.net.au/missionvoices/ [WebCite Cache ID 6nOum1rxV]</u>
- 27. Diabetes NSW. 2012. Australian Diabetes Council, Diabetes and Good Health URL: <u>http://diabetesnsw.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/DA-10-Diabetes-and-good-health.pdf</u> [WebCite Cache ID 6lbkx7N2w]

- Eng TR, Gustafson DH, Henderson J, Jimison H, Patrick K. Introduction to evaluation of interactive health communication applications. Science Panel on Interactive Communication and Health. Am J Prev Med 1999 Jan;16(1):10-15. [Medline: 9894549]
- 29. Lee N, Kofler P. Social marketing: influencing behaviors for good. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2011.
- 30. Thompson SJ, Gifford SM. Trying to keep a balance: the meaning of health and diabetes in an urban Aboriginal community. Soc Sci Med 2000 Nov;51(10):1457-1472. [Medline: <u>11077950</u>]
- 31. Kennedy G. What makes a Blackfulla laugh? Australian Author 2009;41(3):12-14 [FREE Full text]
- 32. Adams K. Victorian Aboriginal Community Controlled Health Organisation: Collingwood. Koorified URL: <u>http://www.vaccho.org.au/vcwp/wp-content/uploads/2011/03/Koorified-Aboriginal-Communication-and-Well\_Being.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID 6nOvOxeX6]
- 33. Adams K, Liebzeit A, Jakobi M. How's your sugar. Aboriginal Health Worker J 2010;34(5):2 [FREE Full text]
- 34. Townsville McKay Medicare Local. 2014. Closing The Gap Resources URL: <u>https://http://www.tmml.com.au/services/</u> <u>closing-the-gap/closing-the-gap-resources</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6larbsdxj]
- 35. General Practice Queensland. 2014. Population Health Update 12 URL: <u>http://www.checkup.org.au/page/Page\_Not\_Found/</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6larg8Ak9]
- 36. Monash University Library. 2014. Indigenous Health URL: <u>http://guides.lib.monash.edu/content.</u> php?pid=402961&sid=3299974&preview=6b5742a241b0f4e5c20d8f07bb48b523 [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6las8B27q]
- 37. Illawara Tafe. 2014. Aboriginal & Torres Strait Islander Primary Health Care URL: <u>http://illawarratafe.libguides.com/c.</u> php?g=38021&p=242050 [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6lasEE5gf]
- 38. Eysenbach G. Correction: Improving the quality of web surveys: the checklist for reporting results of internet e-surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2012;14(1):e8 [FREE Full text]
- Pilgrim S, Samson C, Pretty J. Cybermanual. 2009. Rebuilding lost connections: How revitalisation projects contribute to cultural continuity and improve the environment URL: <u>http://www.cybermanual.com/</u> <u>rebuilding-lost-connections-how-revitalisation-projects-contribute-to-cultural-continuity-and-improve-the-environment.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2016-10-28] [WebCite Cache ID 6laqhLtrH]
- 40. Corntassel J. Toward sustainable self-determination: rethinking the contemporary Indigenous-rights discourse. Alternatives 2008;33:105-132 [FREE Full text]
- 41. Oprea L, Braunack-Mayer A, Rogers WA, Stocks N. An ethical justification for the chronic care model (CCM). Health Expect 2010 Mar;13(1):55-64 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2009.00581.x] [Medline: 19906213]
- 42. McPhail-Bell K, Chelsea BA, Brough M, Fredericks B. 'We don't tell people what to do': ethical practice and Indigenous health promotion. Health Promot J Austr 2015 Dec;26(3):195-199 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1071/HE15048] [Medline: 26599355]
- 43. Henry J, Dunbar T, Arnott A, Scrimgeour M, Matthews S, Murakami-Gold L, et al. Lowitja. 2002. Indigenous research reform agenda rethinking research methodologies URL: <u>http://www.lowitja.org.au/</u> <u>indigenous-research-reform-agenda-rethinking-research-methodologies</u> [accessed 2017-01-10] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6nOwCOLXF</u>]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 01.11.16; peer-reviewed by C Palermo, S Faulkhead; comments to author 04.12.16; revised version received 11.01.17; accepted 06.03.17; published 04.04.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Adams K, Liebzeit A, Browne J, Atkinson P How's Your Sugar? Evaluation of a Website for Aboriginal People With Diabetes JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e6 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e6/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.6930</u> PMID:<u>30291066</u>

©Karen Adams, Anna Liebzeit, Jennifer Browne, Petah Atkinson. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 04.04.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

## **Original Paper**

# Machine or Human? Evaluating the Quality of a Language Translation Mobile App for Diabetes Education Material

Xuewei Chen<sup>1</sup>, CHES, MEd, PhD; Sandra Acosta<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Adam E Barry<sup>3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Transdisciplinary Center for Health Equity Research, Department of Health and Kinesiology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States

<sup>2</sup>Texas A&M University, Department of Educational Psychology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States

<sup>3</sup>Texas A&M University, Department of Health and Kinesiology, Texas A&M University, College Station, TX, United States

## **Corresponding Author:**

Xuewei Chen, CHES, MEd, PhD Transdisciplinary Center for Health Equity Research Department of Health and Kinesiology Texas A&M University Blocker 311B 4243 TAMU College Station, TX, 77843 United States Phone: 1 979 676 0758 Fax: 1 979 847 8987 Email: <u>xueweichen@tamu.edu</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Diabetes is a major health crisis for Hispanics and Asian Americans. Moreover, Spanish and Chinese speakers are more likely to have limited English proficiency in the United States. One potential tool for facilitating language communication between diabetes patients and health care providers is technology, specifically mobile phones.

**Objective:** Previous studies have assessed machine translation quality using only writing inputs. To bridge such a research gap, we conducted a pilot study to evaluate the quality of a mobile language translation app (iTranslate) with a voice recognition feature for translating diabetes patient education material.

**Methods:** The pamphlet, "You are the heart of your family...take care of it," is a health education sheet for diabetes patients that outlines three recommended questions for patients to ask their clinicians. Two professional translators translated the original English sentences into Spanish and Chinese. We recruited six certified medical translators (three Spanish and three Chinese) to conduct blinded evaluations of the following versions: (1) sentences interpreted by iTranslate, and (2) sentences interpreted by the professional human translators. Evaluators rated the sentences (ranging from 1-5) on four scales: Fluency, Adequacy, Meaning, and Severity. We performed descriptive analyses to examine the differences between these two versions.

**Results:** Cronbach alpha values exhibited high degrees of agreement on the rating outcomes of both evaluator groups: .920 for the Spanish raters and .971 for the Chinese raters. The readability scores generated using MS Word's Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level for these sentences were 0.0, 1.0, and 7.1. We found iTranslate generally provided translation accuracy comparable to human translators on simple sentences. However, iTranslate made more errors when translating difficult sentences.

**Conclusions:** Although the evidence from our study supports iTranslate's potential for supplementing professional human translators, further evidence is needed. For this reason, mobile language translation apps should be used with caution.

## (JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e13) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7446

## **KEYWORDS**

health literacy; health education; health communication; language translation; diabetes; machine translation; mobile translation app; human interpreter; translator

## Introduction

Diabetes is a major health crisis for Hispanics and Asian Americans. According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), 29.1 million people (9.3% of the US population) have diabetes; 12.8% Hispanics and 9% Asian Americans above 20 years old were diagnosed with diabetes, compared to 7.6% non-Hispanic whites [1]. From 1997-2014, diabetes rates increased 103% for Asian Americans and 60% for Hispanics [2].

Compared to other ethnic groups, Hispanics and Chinese Americans are also more likely to have low English proficiency. Over 21% of the US population speaks a language other than English at home. Further, the highest percentages of individuals who speak no English are Hispanics and Chinese Americans [3]. Approximately 43.7% Hispanics and 55.7% Chinese Americans speak English less than "very well" [3] and would be considered having limited English proficiency (LEP). LEP refers to any person age 5 or older who self-reported speaking English less than "very well" [3]. In brief, because Hispanic and Chinese Americans are more likely to have LEP, communication challenges arising from language barriers might impact the quality of the health services and information they receive.

Populations with LEP encounter numerous health communication challenges due to barriers related to language proficiency. These language barriers, as many studies have pointed out, might lead to health disparities and poor health outcomes. For instance, individuals with LEP are more likely to take inaccurate medication dosages [4], have poor health status [5], spend additional money and time utilizing health care services [6], experience unsatisfactory events with health care providers, make improper health choices [7], and have limited access and use of preventive health care services [8]. For diabetes patients who have LEP, negative health outcomes include poor glycemic control [9] and diabetic retinopathy [10].

One potential tool for facilitating language communication between patients and health care providers is technology, specifically mobile phones. In the United States, smartphone ownership increased from 35% of the population in 2011 to 72% in 2016 [11]. These smartphone owners can access various apps including machine language translation apps. For instance, iTranslate is a mobile app available for mobile phones with Apple, Android, and Windows systems that instantly translates text or voice inputs and converts them into text and voice outputs. Such voice recognition features were developed from computerized systems.

There are no significant differences in smartphone ownership among different racial/ethnic groups [12]. Further, about three-quarters (73%) of the Hispanic smartphone owners have used their phones to search for health-related information, compared to 58% white and 67% black [13]. Smartphones with machine translation apps are efficient tools for helping populations with LEP overcome language barriers [14,15]. For instance, translation mobile apps might improve their understanding of health information and access to health resources. However, translation inaccuracy has the potential to adversely impact information's meaning and lead to negative health consequences. For example, language translation errors lead to misunderstandings about medical prescriptions [16] as well as misdiagnoses and mistreatments [17,18].

Previous studies have examined the usability of mobile language translation apps among clinicians and patients. In a study conducted by Abreu and Adriatico [19], the researchers investigated the experience of using the Google Translation App among a group of US audiologists and Spanish speaking patients/parents/guardians when they were communicating with each other. Abreu and Adriatico reported positive reactions from both the audiologists and the Spanish-speaking clients. Based on their findings, the authors concluded that the Google Translation App might be a viable tool for addressing language barriers and improving health communication when human interpreters were not available [19]. Similarly, Albrecht et al [20] examined the usage experience of a mobile translation app (xprompt) among nursing staff in Germany. The authors found that the participants perceived the xprompt app as useful for basic communication with non-German speaking patients [20]. Here, machine translation refers to automated computer translations powered by algorithms.

Besides usability, accuracy is another important criterion for evaluating machine language translation tools. With regard to the machine translation accuracy, previous studies assessed the translation product provided by Babel Fish and Google Translate websites using only writing inputs [21-24]. They noted that machine translation tools made errors when translating medical information [21-24]. Khanna et al [22] suggested that machine translation tools with a voice recognition feature might increase translation errors. Given the absence of research on voice recognition features and translations errors, we investigated the quality of a machine language translation mobile app with a voice recognition feature (iTranslate). Because diabetes is a major health crisis for Hispanics and Asian Americans [2], we selected diabetes patient education material. To the best of our knowledge, no study to date has investigated the quality of a mobile translation app interpreting spoken sentences.

The purpose of this pilot study is to evaluate the quality of iTranslate when interpreting spoken sentences from English to Spanish and Chinese. Our overarching research question is: Can iTranslate be an accurate and practical translation tool for patients-clinicians using diabetes education materials? To provide insights into this question, we posed the following research questions:

- 1. What is the quality of iTranslate when interpreting spoken sentences from English to Spanish, as compared to professional human interpreters?
- 2. What is the quality of iTranslate when interpreting spoken sentences from English to Chinese, as compared to professional human translators?

XSL•FO

## Methods

## Materials to be Translated

We chose a publicly available diabetes patient education pamphlet as a heuristic example for this pilot study. The pamphlet, "You are the heart of your family...take care of it" (see Multimedia Appendix 1), is published by the National Institutes of Health and the CDC and distributed by the National Diabetes Education Program. This pamphlet contains two parts: Part A, six written sentences as behavior change suggestions

## Figure 1. Four-step procedures.

for managing diabetes and Part B, three recommended questions for patients to ask their clinicians. Our study examined the quality of iTranslate when translating Part B. The study and results of Part A were reported by Chen et al [21].

## Procedures

This study was approved by the appropriate institutional review board. Figure 1 outlines the procedures employed throughout this study, which comprise four steps: Step 1. iTranslate mobile app translation process; Step 2. Human translation process; Step 3. Voice transformation; Step 4. Evaluation.



## Step 1. Mobile Language Translation App

We used iTranslate app to translate three spoken questions from English into both Spanish and Chinese (Mandarin). We recorded these voice outputs into audio files.

## Step 2. Human Translator

Two professional medical interpreters translated the three original English questions into Spanish and Chinese respectively. Both were American Translators Association (ATA) certified translators (one certified in English to Spanish and the other in English to Chinese). The ATA website lists all the certified translators' contact information. We approached the translators as regular customers seeking and paying for translation services. We did not inform them that their translations would be evaluated. We emailed the original English questions to the translators, and they returned the translated sentences in audio files by email as well. We also asked them to provide transcriptions of their voice translations in a separate MS Word file.

## Step 3. Voice Transformation

Since the evaluators might distinguish the machine from the human translation because of the potentially recognizable characteristics of the mechanical voice, we converted all the human voice translations into a machine voice. First, we copied and pasted the transcription on a voice transformation website and clicked the voice button for the three questions translated by the human interpreters to be converted to the machine voice function. Second, we reviewed the transcriptions and compared the machine voice to the original human voice (translators' audio files) to ensure equivalency. Third, we recorded the three sentences, now in the machine voice, into audio files, and emailed these audio files to the evaluators. Table 1 lists the original English sentences and the translated Spanish and Chinese transcriptions.



Chen et al

Table 1. The original English and translated Chinese and Spanish versions of the sentences.

Original	iTranslate		Human	
English	Spanish	Chinese	Spanish	Chinese
What are my blood sugar, blood pressure, and choles- terol numbers?	¿Cuáles son mis azúcar en la sangre, presión arterial y colesterol?	我的血糖、血压和胆固醇 是什么?	¿Cuáles son mis números de azúcar en la sangre, presión arterial y colesterol?	我的血糖、血压和胆固醇 的值是多少?
What should they be?	¿Qué deberían ser?	他们应该是什么?	¿Cuáles deben de ser mis números?	正常值应该是多少?
What actions should I take to reach these goals?	¿Qué medidas debo tomar para alcanzar estas metas?	应该采取何种行动来达到 这些目标?	¿Qué debo de hacer para al- canzar esas metas?	我应该怎么做来达到正常 值?

## Step 4. Evaluation

We sent invitation emails to the first 12 English-Spanish translators and 12 English-Chinese ATA certified translators listed on the ATA website. We emailed the survey package to the first six translators (three Spanish and three Chinese respectively) who accepted our study invitation. We asked them to evaluate the two versions of the voice translations (one by iTranslate app and the other one by the professional translator). Each evaluator received a US \$15 check after submitting the evaluation survey package via email. The two interpreters who provided the human translation versions did not serve as evaluators, nor were they aware that their translations would be evaluated by other translators.

## **Survey Package**

To minimize rater bias and blind the evaluation process, the audio files were marked as version 1 (sentences translated by iTranslate) and version 2 (sentences translated by a human).

The survey package contained one evaluation rubric in an MS Word file and two audio files (versions 1 and 2). We asked the evaluators to score each of the translated sentences using the evaluation rubric (see Table 2).

## **Evaluation Rubric**

We adapted the evaluation rubric from Khana et al [22], instructed the raters to evaluate the translated sentences based on four criteria—Fluency, Adequacy, Meaning, and Severity—on a 5-point scale (1 indicates the lowest quality and 5 indicates the highest quality). The Fluency and Adequacy criteria are standard domains for assessing machine translation quality [25]. Fluency assesses readability, grammar, and understandability. Adequacy assesses the amount of original information preserved. Meaning assesses the equivalency of the translation and the original sentence and detects misleading information [26]. Severity assesses the degree of the negative impact on a patient's health outcome. Table 2 presents the four criteria and the description for each criterion.

 Table 2. Rubric for evaluating translation quality.

	8	1 5		
	Fluency	Adequacy	Meaning	Severity
1	No fluency; no appreciable grammar, not under- standable	0% of information conveyed from the original	Totally different meaning from the original	Dangerous to patient
2	Marginal fluency; several grammatical errors	25% of information conveyed from the original	Misleading information added/omitted com- pared to the original	Impairs care in some way
3	Good fluency; several grammatical errors, under- standable	50% of information conveyed from the original	Partially the same meaning as the original	Delays necessary care
4	Excellent fluency; few grammatical errors	75% of information conveyed from the original	Almost the same meaning as the original	Unclear effect on pa- tient care
5	Perfect fluency; like reading a newspaper	100% of information conveyed from the original	Same meaning as the original	No effect on patient care

## **Data Analysis**

We performed the Cronbach alpha test to assess the degree of rater agreement. Two sets of mean scores were calculated for each of the four domains (Fluency, Adequacy, Meaning, and Severity) on each sentence from the Chinese and Spanish rater groups. We also presented the readability statistics for each original English sentences. Readability statistics were generated using MS Word's Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level, which assesses the degree of difficulty for readers to understand a sentence or paragraph [27]. For ease of comparison, two sets of graphs shown in Figures 2 and 3 visually depict the translation quality between iTranslate app and the human interpreters starting from the easiest to the most difficult sentence based on the readability statistics.



Figure 2. Scatterplots comparing Spanish iTranslate with the human translator scores.







http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e13/

XSL•FO RenderX

## Results

## **Interrater Reliability**

Cronbach alpha was used to assess the rating reliability across each evaluator. The Cronbach alpha values exhibited high degrees of agreement on the rating outcomes of both rater groups: .920 for the Spanish raters and .971 for the Chinese raters.

## Spanish Translation: iTranslate Versus Human

We ranked the sentences based on their readability scores and presented the results with the easiest sentence first, followed by the medium, and put the most difficult sentence last (Table 3). Within the Fluency domain for iTranslate, the two relatively simple sentences (S2 and S3) had almost perfect fluency; however, the most difficult sentence (S1) had marginal fluency

with several grammatical errors (Fluency=2). All the sentences translated by the Spanish human translator received excellent or perfect fluency scores (Fluency≥4). Within the Adequacy domain for iTranslate, S2 conveyed about 75% of the original information, S3 conveyed 100% of the original information, but S1 conveyed about half of the original information. All the sentences translated by the Spanish human translator conveyed most of the original information. Within the Meaning domain for iTranslate, S2 and S3 had almost the same meaning as the original, but S1 had practically the same meaning as the original. All the sentences translated by the Spanish human translator had almost the same meaning as the original. Within the Severity domain for iTranslate, S2 and S3 had almost no effect on patient care, but S1 had unclear effect on patient care. All the sentences translated by the Spanish human translator had (almost) no effect on patient care.

Table 3.	Mean	scores	for S	Spanish	iTransla	e and	the	human	Spanish	translator.

	-		-						
Original sentences	Flesch-Kincaid	iTranslate			Human				
	grade level	Fluency	Adequacy	Meaning	Severity	Fluency	Adequacy	Meaning	Severity
S2. What should they be?	0.0	4.67	4	4.33	4.67	4.67	3.67	3.67	5
S3. What actions should I take to reach these goals?	1.0	5	5	5	5	5	5	5	5
S1. What are my blood sugar, blood pressure, and cholesterol num- bers?	7.1	2	3.33	3.33	3.67	4	4	4	4.67

## Chinese Translation: iTranslate Versus Human

As shown in Table 4, within the Fluency domain, all the sentences translated by both iTranslate and the Chinese human translator had excellent or perfect fluency. Within the Adequacy

domain, all the sentences conveyed more than 75% to 100% of the original information. Within the Meaning domain, all the sentences had (almost) the same meaning as the original. Within the Severity domain, all the sentences had almost no effect on patient care.

 Table 4. Mean scores for Chinese iTranslate and the human Chinese translator.

Original sentences	Flesch-Kincaid	iTranslate			Human				
	Grade Level	Fluency	Adequacy	Meaning	Severity	Fluency	Adequacy	Meaning	Severity
S2. What should they be?	0.0	4	4.33	4.33	4.67	5	4.67	4.67	5
S3. What actions should I take to reach these goals?	1.0	4.67	4.67	4.67	5	5	4.67	4.67	5
S1. What are my blood sugar, blood pressure, and cholesterol num- bers?	7.1	4.33	4.33	4.33	4.67	5	5	5	5

## Visually Comparing iTranslate and Human Versions

To better compare and capture the trends among sentences with regard to the quality scores on four domains, we created two graphs, presenting the findings of the easiest sentence (S2) first and the most difficult sentence (S1) last.

When sentences were translated from English to Spanish (Figure 2), for the easiest sentence (S2), there was a slight difference between iTranslate and the Spanish human translator, where iTranslate received slightly higher scores in the Adequacy (4 vs 3.67) and Meaning domains (4.33 vs 3.67), but slightly lower scores in the Severity domain (4.67 vs 5). There was no difference between iTranslate app and the Spanish human

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e13/
```

translator on S3 (the medium difficult sentence) in any of the four domains (5). For the most difficult sentence (S1), there was a slight difference between iTranslate and the Spanish human in the Adequacy and Meaning domains, where iTranslate received slightly lower scores (3.33 vs 4). We also noticed some gaps for S1 in the Fluency and Severity domains, where iTranslate received lower scores (2 vs 4 and 3.67 vs 4.67).

As shown in Figure 3, when sentences were translated from English to Chinese, there was almost no difference between the ratings of iTranslate app and the Chinese human translator on S3 (the medium difficult sentence) in any of the four domains. This funding is similar to the Spanish language. For the easiest sentence (S2) and the most difficult sentence (S1), there was a slight difference between iTranslate and the Chinese human translator, where iTranslate received slightly lower scores in all the four domains.

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

This pilot study compared the translation quality of iTranslate and professional human translators using three questions drawn from a diabetes patient education pamphlet. Materials were translated from English to Spanish and Chinese (Mandarin). We found iTranslate generally provided translation quality comparable to human translators on simple and medium difficulty sentences. The voice recognition feature and voice outputs employed by iTranslate produced text quality, clarity, and auditory richness (voice quality: native accent, tone, inflection, and delivery), which benefits individuals who cannot read in their native languages. However, iTranslate tends to make more errors when translating difficult sentences.

When translating the easiest sentence (ie, S2 "What should they be?", Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level=0.0) from English to Spanish, the voice employed by iTranslate softened and deadened the [n] when pronouncing [deberían] so that the [n] almost sounds omitted. On the other hand, the Spanish human translator added the antecedent noun for the pronoun "they". Therefore, even though the professional translator received slightly lower scores on the Adequacy and Meaning compared to iTranslate, the Spanish human translator received a slightly higher score on the Severity compared to iTranslate. One of the Spanish raters believed that S2 translated by iTranslate from English to Spanish had an unclear effect on patient care. When translating it from English to Chinese, iTranslate made no errors. Compared to the literal translation by iTranslate, the Chinese human interpreter added some extra information to clarify the word "they", which translated the sentence into [正常值应该是多少?] (What should the normal range be?). Although iTranslate did not make any errors, the Chinese human version contained more specific and meaningful information. We believe this was the reason why iTranslate received slightly lower scores on all the four criteria compared to the Chinese human translator. Also, one of the Chinese raters believed that it had an unclear effect on patient care.

When translating the relatively easy sentence (ie, S3 "What actions should I take to reach these goals?", Flesch-Kincaid

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e13/
```

Grade Level=1.0) from English to Spanish, the Spanish raters agreed that both versions had no effect on patient care even though the Spanish human interpreter substituted those ["esas"] for these [estas"]. Both iTranslate and the Spanish human interpreter received full scores on every criterion. When translating it from English to Chinese, iTranslate omitted the word "I" and translated this sentence into ("What actions should be taken to reach these goals?"). In comparison, the Chinese human interpreter substituted the phrase "take actions" into "do" and specified "these goals" into "normal numbers." Therefore, the Chinese human interpreter translated S3 into [我 应该怎么做来达到正常值? ] ("What should I do to reach normal numbers?"). Neither iTranslate nor the human interpreter correctly translated S3 word for word; however, the general meaning of the original sentence has not been changed. Thus, all the raters agreed that S3 translated by either iTranslate or the Chinese human interpreter had no effect on patient care.

When translating the most difficult sentence (ie, S1 "What are my blood sugar, blood pressure, and cholesterol numbers?, Flesch-Kincaid Grade Level=7.1) from English to Spanish, iTranslate omitted the word "number." Therefore, the Spanish evaluators believed it had marginal fluency with several grammatical errors, conveyed about half of the original information, had practically the same meaning as the original, and had an unclear effect on patient care or delays necessary care. On the other hand, the Spanish human interpreter did not make any errors when translating S1. When translating it from English to Chinese, iTranslate made the exactly same error as translating it from English to Spanish-it omitted the word "number" as well. Therefore, this sentence did not received full scores on Fluency, Adequacy, and Meaning, which led to one of the Chinese evaluators' believing that such an error had an unclear effect on patient care. On the other hand, the Chinese human interpreter did not make any errors when translating S1. Interestingly, even though iTranslate made the exactly the same error on S1 for the Spanish and Chinese translations, the Spanish raters gave it lower scores on all the criteria than the Chinese raters did.

To minimize rater bias, we blinded the audio version of the translated question so that the raters could not identify the two audio versions (iTranslate and the human translations). However, rater bias might still exist because each rater had their interpretation of the evaluation rubric. Variability in the rating scores may result from bias (systematic error) or random error (unpredictable). For example, S1 translated by iTranslate from English to Spanish received lower scores on all the criteria than the same sentence translated by iTranslate from English to Chinese even though the Chinese and Spanish translations made the exact same error-omitting the head noun "numbers" in the nominal phrase "my blood sugar, blood pressure, and cholesterol numbers." Usually there are number of ways to correctly translate a sentence; however, individuals might have different preferences on evaluating translation quality. Another example is Fluency. According to the rubric, 4 represents "excellent fluency" and 5 represents "perfect fluency." We made no attempt to standardize the domain descriptors or train the raters; therefore, each evaluator might have a slightly different interpretation of "excellent" and "perfect." Therefore, although

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

we can make broad statements about the comparability and adequacy based on the scoring rubric of the human and machine translation in each language, we cannot conclude that iTranslate produces more accurate translations from English to Chinese than from English to Spanish.

Our findings appear to support iTranslate as producing competent, understandable translations for simple sentences. However, once the sentences get more complicated, iTranslate tends to make more errors. Previous studies documented high rate of errors in machine translations when translating written sentences. For instance, Sharif and Tse [28] identified half of the medicine labels translated by computer programs from English to Spanish as being incorrect. In another study, Khanna et al [22] found that Google Translate made more errors compared to human translators when translating patient education texts from English to Spanish. Chen et al [21] evaluated the accuracy of Google Translate when translating diabetes patient education materials from English to multiple languages (Spanish and Chinese). The authors reported that Google produced more accurate translations from English to Spanish than English to Chinese [21]. Turner et al [23] also reported a high error rate when Google translated health websites from English to Chinese. One explanation for the difference between our findings and the evidence noted above might result from sentence difficulty. Interestingly, our findings indicated that iTranslate was a relatively comparable tool when translating simple spoken sentences from English to Spanish and Chinese. We propose that the machine translation quality was comparable to the human translations only when the sentence was easier to understand due to the simplicity of the grammatical constructions. Hence, our results support the findings of Zeng-Treitler et al [24] who found that machine translation tools appear to be less likely to provide accurate translation for longer and more difficult sentences.

Guidelines are available for health professionals to work with human interpreters in clinical encounters [29-32]; however, to date and to the best of our knowledge, there are no recommendations or guidelines about using mobile translation

#### Chen et al

apps. Randhawa et al [33] pointed out that machine translation devices have several potential benefits in clinical settings such as helping clarify patient histories, reviewing a clinical diagnosis, restating the recommended treatment plan, and encouraging patients to ask questions. Based on previous machine translation commentary studies [33,34] and our pilot data, we recommend that clinicians consider the following when interacting with LEP patients using mobile language translation apps as communication assistance tools: (1) use the mobile translation apps to supplement but not supplant human translators, and (2) provide information in clients' and caregivers' mother tongue about the mobile translation apps and how to use them, along with appropriate precautions.

## Limitations

This pilot study has several limitations. First, this study assessed the quality of the iTranslate mobile language translation app using only three spoken sentences from a diabetes patient education pamphlet. To compensate for the small number of sentence units, we investigated translations of these sentences from English into two languages (Spanish and Chinese). Second, we assessed only Spanish and Chinese translations so that the findings should not be applied to other languages. Future studies should investigate multiple machine translation tools with a larger sentence sample drawn from other public health materials as well as conversations from real clinical encounters. It is necessary to further investigate the relationship between machine translation error patterns and sentence complexity levels. Also, more studies should explore the app using experience from patients with LEP in various languages.

## Conclusions

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate and compare the quality of a mobile language translation app with a voice recognition feature and professional human translators. We found iTranslate could produce competent, understandable translations for simple sentences. However, once sentences became more complicated, iTranslate seemed to make more errors.

#### Acknowledgments

This study was supported by the College of Education and Human Development (CEHD) at Texas A&M University under the CEHD Graduate Research Grant Award. We want to give sincere thanks to Dr. Bruce Thompson for his assistance in the data analysis process. We also thank all of the ATA translators who participated in this study.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

You are the heart of your family...take care of it.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 132KB - diabetes\_v2i1e13\_app1.pdf]

#### References



- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. National Diabetes Statistics Report: Estimates of Diabetes and Its Burden in the United States, 2014. Atlanta, GA: US Department of Health and Human Services; 2014. URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/pubs/statsreport14/national-diabetes-report-web.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ4cmUno]
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2015 Dec 01. Age-adjusted rates of diagnosed diabetes per 100 civilian, non-institutionalized population, by race and sex, United States, 1980-2014 URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/statistics/prev/national/figraceethsex.htm</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID <u>6rQ58paX1]</u>
- 3. Ryan C. US Census Bureau.: US Census Bureau; 2013 Aug. Language use in the United States: 2011 URL: <u>https://www.census.gov/prod/2013pubs/acs-22.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-06-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ5dmo70]
- Wilson E, Chen AHM, Grumbach K, Wang F, Fernandez A. Effects of limited English proficiency and physician language on health care comprehension. J Gen Intern Med 2005 Sep;20(9):800-806 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1525-1497.2005.0174.x] [Medline: 16117746]
- Toci E, Burazeri G, Jerliu N, Sørensen K, Ramadani N, Hysa B, et al. Health literacy, self-perceived health and self-reported chronic morbidity among older people in Kosovo. Health Promot Int 2015 Sep;30(3):667-674. [doi: <u>10.1093/heapro/dau009</u>] [Medline: <u>24604915</u>]
- Ponce N, Hays R, Cunningham W. Linguistic disparities in health care access and health status among older adults. J Gen Intern Med 2006 Jul;21(7):786-791. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1525-1497.2006.00491.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16808783</u>]
- Nair E, Cienkowski K. The impact of health literacy on patient understanding of counseling and education materials. Int J Audiol 2010 Feb;49(2):71-75. [doi: <u>10.3109/14992020903280161</u>] [Medline: <u>20151879</u>]
- Jacobs E, Karavolos K, Rathouz P, Ferris T, Powell L. Limited English proficiency and breast and cervical cancer screening in a multiethnic population. Am J Public Health 2005 Aug;95(8):1410-1416. [doi: <u>10.2105/AJPH.2004.041418</u>] [Medline: <u>16043670</u>]
- Fernandez A, Schillinger D, Warton E, Adler N, Moffet HH, Schenker Y, et al. Language barriers, physician-patient language concordance, and glycemic control among insured Latinos with diabetes: the Diabetes Study of Northern California (DISTANCE). J Gen Intern Med 2011 Feb;26(2):170-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1507-6] [Medline: 20878497]
- Zheng Y, Lamoureux E, Chiang PCP, Anuar AR, Ding J, Wang JJ, et al. Language barrier and its relationship to diabetes and diabetic retinopathy. BMC Public Health 2012 Sep 13;12:781 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-781] [Medline: 22974298]
- Poushter J. Pew Research Center. 2016 Feb 22. Smartphone ownership and Internet usage continues to climb in emerging economies URL: <u>http://www.pewglobal.org/2016/02/22/</u> <u>smartphone-ownership-and-internet-usage-continues-to-climb-in-emerging-economies/</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ7JD6sD]
- 12. Anderson M. Pew Research Center. 2015 Aug 29. The demographics of device ownership URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/</u> 2015/10/29/the-demographics-of-device-ownership/ [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ7nzSQZ]
- 13. Anderson M. Pew Internet Research. 2015 Oct 29. Racial and ethnic differences in how people use mobile technology URL: <u>http://www.pewresearch.org/fact-tank/2015/04/30/racial-and-ethnic-differences-in-how-people-use-mobile-technology/</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ8eCIjf]
- 14. Tahir D. Modern Healthcare. 2015. App breaks down language barriers for patients, doctors URL: <u>http://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20150124/MAGAZINE/301249980</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ8opd0F]
- 15. Mirsa T. CITYLAB. 2014. Attention cities looking to engage immigrants: Don't dismiss the smartphone URL: <u>https://www.citylab.com/solutions/2014/09/attention-cities-looking-to-engage-immigrants-dont-dismiss-the-smartphone/380229/</u> [accessed 2017-06-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQ8voAUL]
- Butow P, Goldstein D, Bell M, Sze M, Aldridge LJ, Abdo S, et al. Interpretation in consultations with immigrant patients with cancer: how accurate is it? J Clin Oncol 2011 Jul 10;29(20):2801-2807. [doi: <u>10.1200/JCO.2010.34.3335</u>] [Medline: <u>21670462</u>]
- 17. Flores G, Laws M, Mayo S, Zuckerman B, Abreu M, Medina L, et al. Errors in medical interpretation and their potential clinical consequences in pediatric encounters. Pediatrics 2003 Jan;111(1):6-14. [Medline: <u>12509547</u>]
- Nápoles AM, Santoyo-Olsson J, Karliner L, Gregorich S, Pérez-Stable EJ. Inaccurate Language Interpretation and Its Clinical Significance in the Medical Encounters of Spanish-speaking Latinos. Med Care 2015 Nov;53(11):940-947 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1097/MLR.00000000000422] [Medline: 26465121]
- 19. Abreu R, Adriatico T. Spanish for the Audiologist: Is There an App for That? SIG 14 Perspectives on Communication Disorders and Sciences in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse (CLD) Populations. Perspectives on Communication Disorders and Sciences in Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Populations 2015;22(3):122-128.
- 20. Albrecht U, Behrends M, Schmeer R, Matthies HK, von JU. Usage of multilingual mobile translation applications in clinical settings. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2013 Apr 23;1(1):e4 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.2268] [Medline: 25100677]
- 21. Chen X, Acosta S, Barry A. Evaluating the Accuracy of Google Translate for Diabetes Education Material. JMIR Diabetes 2016 Jun 28;1(1):e3. [doi: 10.2196/diabetes.5848]

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e13/
```

- 22. Khanna RR, Karliner LS, Eck M, Vittinghoff E, Koenig CJ, Fang MC. Performance of an online translation tool when applied to patient educational material. J Hosp Med 2011 Nov;6(9):519-525. [doi: <u>10.1002/jhm.898</u>] [Medline: <u>22034196</u>]
- Turner A, Dew K, Desai L, Martin N, Kirchhoff K. Machine Translation of Public Health Materials From English to Chinese: A Feasibility Study. JMIR Public Health Surveill 2015;1(2):e17 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/publichealth.4779] [Medline: 27227135]
- 24. Zeng-Treitler Q, Kim H, Rosemblat G, Keselman A. Can multilingual machine translation help make medical record content more comprehensible to patients? Stud Health Technol Inform 2010;160(Pt 1):73-77. [Medline: 20841653]
- 25. Eck M, Hori C. Overview of the IWSLT. 2005 Presented at: International Workshop on Spoken Language Translation; 2005; Pittsburg, PA.
- 26. Eck M, Hori C. Overview of the IWSLT. 2005 Presented at: International Workshop on Spoken Language Translation; 2005; Pittsburg, PA.
- 27. Stockmeyer N. Using Microsoft Word's readability program. Michigan Bar Journal 2009;88:46.
- Sharif I, Tse J. Accuracy of computer-generated, spanish-language medicine labels. Pediatrics 2010 May;125(5):960-965 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1542/peds.2009-2530] [Medline: 20368321]
- 29. Hadziabdic E, Hjelm K. Working with interpreters: practical advice for use of an interpreter in healthcare. Int J Evid Based Healthc 2013 Mar;11(1):69-76. [doi: 10.1111/1744-1609.12005] [Medline: 23448332]
- 30. Juckett G, Unger K. Appropriate use of medical interpreters. Am Fam Physician 2014 Oct 01;90(7):476-480 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25369625]
- 31. Kaur R, Oakley S, Venn P. Using face-to-face interpreters in healthcare. Nurs Times 2014;110(21):20-21. [Medline: 24960977]
- 32. Tribe R, Thompson K. Working with interpreters in health settings: Guidelines for psychologists. In: The British Psychological Society, 2008.
- 33. Randhawa G, Ferreyra M, Ahmed R, Ezzat O, Pottie K. Using machine translation in clinical practice. Can Fam Physician 2013 Apr;59(4):382-383 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 23585608]
- 34. Gonzalez A. Jensen Localization. 5 tips to ensure the success of machine translation URL: <u>http://www.jensen-localization.com/</u> <u>blog/</u> [accessed 2017-06-21] [WebCite Cache ID 6rQDvsgMt]

## Abbreviations

**ATA:** American Translators Association **CDC:** Centers for Disease Control and Prevention **LEP:** limited English proficiency

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 03.02.17; peer-reviewed by A Turner, Y Albalawi, N Diviani, H Akram; comments to author 15.04.17; revised version received 21.05.17; accepted 11.06.17; published 29.06.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Chen X, Acosta S, Barry AE Machine or Human? Evaluating the Quality of a Language Translation Mobile App for Diabetes Education Material JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e13 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e13/</u> doi:<u>10.2196/diabetes.7446</u> PMID:<u>30291084</u>

©Xuewei Chen, Sandra Acosta, Adam E Barry. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 29.06.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

# Telemonitoring and Health Counseling for Self-Management Support of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial

Inger Lindberg<sup>1</sup>, RNM, PhD; Astrid Torbjørnsen<sup>2,3</sup>, MSc; Siv Söderberg<sup>4</sup>, RNT, PhD; Lis Ribu<sup>3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Division of Nursing, Department of Health Science, Luleå University of Technology, Luleå, Sweden

<sup>2</sup>Faculty of Medicine, Department of General Practice, Institute of Health and Society, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

<sup>3</sup>Faculty of Health Sciences, Department of Nursing and Health Promotion, Oslo and Akershus University College of Applied Sciences, Oslo, Norway <sup>4</sup>Department of Nursing Sciences, Mid Sweden University, Östersund, Sweden

## **Corresponding Author:**

Inger Lindberg, RNM, PhD Division of Nursing Department of Health Science Luleå University of Technology Porsön Luleå, 95187 Sweden Phone: 46 20284218 Fax: 46 92014726 Email: inger.lindberg@nll.se

## Abstract

**Background:** The prevalence of diabetes is increasing among adults globally, and there is a need for new models of health care delivery. Research has shown that self-management approaches encourage persons with chronic conditions to take a primary role in managing their daily care.

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to investigate whether the introduction of a health technology-supported self-management program involving telemonitoring and health counseling had beneficial effects on glycated hemoglobin (HbA<sub>1c</sub>), other clinical variables (height, weight, body mass index, blood pressure, blood lipid profile), and health-related quality of life (HRQoL), as measured using the Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) version 2 in patients with type 2 diabetes.

**Methods:** This was a pragmatic randomized controlled trial of patients with type 2 diabetes. Both the control and intervention groups received usual care. The intervention group also participated in additional health promotion activities with the use of the Prescribed Healthcare Web application for self-monitoring of blood glucose and blood pressure. About every second month or when needed, the general practitioner or the diabetes nurse reviewed the results and the health care activity plan.

**Results:** A total of 166 patients with type 2 diabetes were randomly assigned to the intervention (n=87) or control (n=79) groups. From the baseline to follow-up, 36 patients in the intervention group and 5 patients in the control group were lost to follow-up, and 2 patients died. Additionally, HbA<sub>1c</sub> was not available at baseline in one patient in the intervention group. A total of 122 patients were included in the final analysis after 19 months. There were no significant differences between the groups in the primary outcome HbA<sub>1c</sub> level (P=.33), and in the secondary outcome HRQoL as measured using SF-36. A total of 80% (67/87) of the patients in the intervention group at the baseline, and 98% (47/50) of the responders after 19-month intervention were familiar with using a personal computer (P=.001). After 19 months, nonresponders (ie, data from baseline) reported significantly poorer mental health in social functioning and role emotional subscales on the SF-36 (P=.03, and P=.01, respectively).

**Conclusions:** The primary outcome  $HbA_{1c}$  level and the secondary outcome HRQoL did not differ between groups after the 19-month follow-up. Those lost to follow-up reported significantly poorer mental health than did the responders in the intervention group.

**Trial Registration:** Clinicaltrials.gov NCT01478672; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT01478672 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/6r4eILeyu)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e10) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6884

## **KEYWORDS**

self-management; clinical trial; telemonitoring; type 2 diabetes; health-related quality of life

## Introduction

Research shows that self-management approaches encourage persons with a chronic condition globally to take a primary role in managing the daily care of their illness [1]. Through self-management interventions, patients with type 2 diabetes are equipped with essential skills to participate actively in self-management behavior and to manage their condition successfully [2]. The world prevalence of diabetes among adults (aged 20-79) was estimated at 415 million in 2015 (8.8%) and is expected to reach 642 million by 2040 (10.4%). Persons with type 2 diabetes constitute 95% of all cases. It is estimated that more than 59.8 million persons in the European region have diabetes, and that this number will rise to 71.1 million by 2040 [3]. In Sweden alone, there were 446,900 cases of diabetes in adults in 2015 (6.3%), with an estimated 168,700 undiagnosed cases [4].

In light of the increasing incidence of diabetes, preventive measures and lifestyle modifications are undeniably of utmost importance. Keeping blood glucose levels under control can reduce the complications of diabetes [5,6]. The prevention of complications is important and includes lifestyle management such as changing diet and participating in regular physical activity [7-9]. Studies show that persons with diabetes fear long-term complications that may influence their quality of life [10,11].

Self-management is recognized as a key component in the clinical treatment of diabetes, but patients often lack the knowledge and skills needed to manage their condition on a daily basis. The inability to understand the fundamental influences of diabetes-management activities on overall glycemic control leads to low levels of participation in self-care behaviors [12].

Systematic reviews [13-16]have provided evidence that telehealth interventions have a positive effect on the control of blood glucose levels in persons with diabetes. Home telehealth interventions reduce the number of patients hospitalized and the number of bed days of care, and are similar or favorable to the usual care in terms of quality of life, patient satisfaction, and adherence to treatment for persons with diabetes and chronic conditions [15]. Studies [14-18] indicate that home telehealth interventions are similar or favorable to the usual care in terms of quality of life, patient satisfaction, and adherence to treatment for persons with diabetes and chronic conditions are similar or favorable to the usual care in terms of quality of life, patient satisfaction, and adherence to treatment for people with diabetes and chronic conditions. Furthermore, Ciemins et al [19] reported that telehealth is an effective mode for providing diabetes care to rural patients when compared with face-to-face visits.

Despite these positive research results, home telemonitoring has also produced contradictory results, and the addition of technology alone does not improve the outcome of glycated hemoglobin (HbA<sub>1c</sub>) for persons with type 2 diabetes [20-22]. One study has argued that health practices need to be selective

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e10/

in the use of telemonitoring, by limiting it to patients who have the motivation or a significant change in care such as starting insulin [20]. Earlier research also indicates that many patients who voluntarily participate in a telemedicine study are actually in a pre-action stage for behavioral change in the start-up phase, but they may not be ready to make changes in diet and physical activity [23].

A high dropout rate in telemedicine studies is not unusual; thus, it is important to report the discontinuation rate and/or being lost to follow-up in these studies [24]. Therefore, practices need to understand both the capabilities and limitations of the technology, as well as the involvement of the patients and stakeholders, and their willingness to use the tools. Telemedicine interventions in diabetes care have earlier evaluated the use of different telemedicine tools, the interaction between the technology and users [14], and the use of telemedicine with or without support from health care provider [25-29]; however, more research is needed.

Evaluating the clinical effectiveness of telemedicine is another important area [30]. Health-related quality of life (HRQoL) is a crucial outcome for persons living with a chronic condition, because it measures the impact of the condition on daily life. Therefore, evaluating the success of self-management interventions in terms of improvements in HRQoL seems appropriate from the perspective of persons with a chronic condition [31]. Quality of life for persons with diabetes is thought to be affected primarily by vascular complications such as peripheral vascular disease, cardiovascular disease, or associated comorbidities [32]. However, research indicates that functional impairments and physical disability affect the HRQoL of older persons with diabetes most significantly [32-34]. Therefore, the focus of diabetes management should be on the overall well-being rather than on the biological control of diabetes alone [35].

Thus, the objective of this study was to investigate whether the introduction of a Web application "Prescribed Healthcare" for self-monitoring of parameters such as blood glucose level and blood pressure, together with health counseling, produced benefits in terms of  $HbA_{1c}$  level; other clinical variables such as height, weight, body mass index (BMI), blood pressure, and blood lipid profile; and HRQoL in patients with type 2 diabetes.

## Methods

#### **Design and Setting**

This study was a pragmatic parallel-group, unblinded, randomized controlled trial [36] with 1 intervention group and 1 control group. The study had a longitudinal design with 2 assessment points: at baseline and at the end of the trial (after 19 months). This is a Swedish study as part of the European Union collaborative project called Renewing Health (RH). The overall aim of the RH project was to evaluate innovative

telemedicine tools [30]. The Swedish part of the project was conducted in 4 health care centers situated in the northern part of Sweden during the years 2011-2013. This northern part covers 25% of Sweden's land area and has a population of 250,000 inhabitants.

## Sample

A sample of 166 patients with type 2 diabetes was included in the study. The inclusion criteria were: having type 2 diabetes diagnosed >3 months before enrollment, HbA<sub>1c</sub> level >6.5%, age  $\geq$ 18 years, the capability to complete the questionnaires and to use the devices provided, and being cognitively able to participate. The patients who met the inclusion criteria were recruited from their health care center and approached through an information letter sent from their health care center in May 2011.

For sample size calculations, we needed 63 individuals in each group to maintain a statistical power of 80% and a significance level of 5%, and a standard deviation (SD) of the outcome variable of 0.5. Assuming a dropout rate of 20%, our aim was to enroll 95 individuals in each group to ensure that we had sufficient statistical power to reveal a significant difference of  $\geq$ .1 or in the primary outcome HbA<sub>1c</sub> level to be statistically significant.

## **Usual Care**

The control group received usual care. Care for patients with type 2 diabetes was regulated by the Swedish national guidelines for the treatment of diabetes mellitus and included methods for implementing lifestyle change, medical treatment, and follow-up [37]. Foot inspection was also recommended. In accordance with the guidelines, an ophthalmologist was responsible for eye examinations. All patients with type 2 diabetes were given a glucose meter, test strips, and lancets at no charge from the County Council. A multidisciplinary health counseling team comprising a general practitioner (GP), physiotherapist, dietitian, and diabetes nurse support the patients in performing physical activities and adopting a healthy diet. Patients with type 2 diabetes self-monitor their blood glucose level and report the results to their diabetes nurse.

## **The Intervention**

The intervention group received usual care in addition to the intervention, using a method that combined health counseling with the National Patient Portal. The idea was that the patients became more actively involved by self-monitoring their health by this Web-based management application. Measurement equipment, such as a blood glucose meter, was provided to the patients, and they used their own personal computers (PCs) to communicate. The few patients with no access to a computer were provided a tablet computer (see Figure 1).

Figure 1 shows how the patient is authenticated through electronic identification (1) to obtain access to the National Patient Portal. The connection between the patient and the National Patient Portal is encrypted (2). When the patient selects the Web application "Prescribed Healthcare," a connection is established to the servers at the County Council of Norrbotten. This connection (3) is made through a secure computer network connecting all health care providers in Sweden (Sjunet), and the connection is established with the Prescribed Healthcare server through configured firewalls (4). The caregivers are authenticated through SITHS, which is a smartcard-based secure authentication for caregivers employed by Swedish health care providers (6), and routed to the caregivers' intranet for the County Council of Norrbotten (7). The caregivers can obtain access to the electronic medical record system (8), connect to the National Patient Portal (3), and be rerouted to the Prescribed Healthcare server (4). Each health care center has an alarm receiver. If the health care provider who prescribed the measurement equipment does not manage the alarm on time, it is sent to another health care provider who can manage the alarm on time.

A patient entering the intervention, started with group sessions at the health care center that aimed to educate and motivate the patient to perform lifestyle modifications such as increasing physical activity, adopting a healthy diet, stopping smoking, and reducing alcohol consumption. The patient was trained to use the technology, to manage his or her health information, and to interact with health care professionals via email or video through the Prescribed Healthcare. An individualized activity plan was developed for each patient in the intervention group. During the project period, the patients performed health promotion activities and self-registered their parameters, such as duration of physical activity, into the application. The health care professionals provided reference values, and when applicable, the alarm levels.

The patients measured and manually entered medical parameters such as blood glucose level and blood pressure, which could be viewed through intuitive diagrams in each patient registration. The reference values made it easier for patients and caregivers to evaluate the outcome. If an alarm level was reached, the health care professional was notified. About every second month, or when needed according to the patient's initiative, the GP and/or diabetes nurse reviewed the results and revised the health care activity plan as needed. The patients then received feedback, such as any changes in medication or supporting comments about the performance of physical activities, from the health care professional via email or video. Furthermore, GPs, diabetes nurses (Figure 1), physiotherapists, and nutritionists worked cooperatively to interact with and manage each patient.



Figure 1. Telemonitoring devices and information flow during the field trial.



## Randomization

In May 2011, eligible patients who met the inclusion criteria were approached with an information letter sent from their health care center. After the patient signed an informed consent form and completed the questionnaires, single-blind randomization was performed following standard procedures with a PC-based generation of random sequences, and an allocation based on consecutive assignment. A statistician performed the randomization; he or she had no access to the participants' personal code numbers. The researchers handling the database had no access to the participants' personal code numbers, when they analyzed the data.

## **Sociodemographic Measures**

Demographic characteristics were collected from the health care centers before randomization through self-reported questionnaires. These included date of birth, gender, education, marital status, smoking habits, and level of computer and mobile phone skills.

## **Clinical Measures**

Clinical baseline measures were collected at the health care centers before randomization. The participants'  $HbA_{1c}$  level, blood lipid profile, height, weight, and blood pressure were measured.

## **Primary Outcome**

The primary outcome  $HbA_{1c}$  level was measured in the control and intervention groups at the baseline and after the intervention at 19 months. The rationale for the 19-month time frame was the desire for a long follow-up intervention, and for practical reasons, to allow the data collection to finish at the same time point as the other RH trials.

## Secondary Outcome

The secondary outcome HRQoL was measured using the Short Form Health Survey (SF-36) version 2, which comprises 36 questions that measure 8 conceptual domains within physical functioning and mental health [38]. In addition to the 8 subscales, SF-36 is also analyzed as a 2-factor model, with physical and mental component summary scales. In this study, both the subscale scores and the summary scores of the SF-36 were presented. The SF-36 is internationally recognized as a reliable and valid tool [39].

## **Statistical Methods**

Baseline characteristics were recorded for all randomized patients and between responders and nonresponders (ie, those missing) at 19 months. All analyses were based on the intention-to-treat principle. Categorical data were reported as counts and percentages. Associations between pairs of categorical variables were analyzed using the chi square test; continuous data were described as mean and SD (when normally distributed), or as median, minimum, and maximum (when not normally distributed). Group differences were identified using the Mann-Whitney U test. An independent sample t test was used to compare the change in the primary outcome between the intervention and control groups from the baseline to the follow-up at 19 months. All tests were two-sided. P values of  $\geq$ .05 were considered to be significant. SPSS Statistics version 22 (IBM Corp) was used for all analyses.

## **Ethics and Safety**

The study was conducted according to the Ethical Review Act [40] and was approved by the Regional Ethical Review Board, Umeå, Sweden (Dnr 2010/386-31M). The portal provides secure access to their health information for all Swedish citizens and supports electronic interactions with health care professionals.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

## Results

Of 1048 eligible patients, 121 (11.55%) did not meet the inclusion criteria, and 761 (72.61%) chose not to participate in the study. A total of 166 patients (15.84%) were included for randomization; 87 patients were randomly assigned to the intervention group and 79 patients to the control group (Figure 2). One patient randomized into the intervention group was removed from the analysis because of a missing HbA<sub>1c</sub> value. The percentages of dropouts differed between the groups; the reasons for dropping out included: being too ill, changing health care centers, or feeling that the technology was too difficult to handle. From the baseline to the follow-up, 36/86 patients (42%) in the intervention group and 5/79 patients (6%) in the control group were lost to follow-up; 2/79 patients (9%) died (Figure 2).

Of the 166 patients included in this study, 122 were included in the final analysis after 19 months. Their mean age was 67.5 years (SD 9.3), 48 (29.1 %) of the patients were female, and 63 (38.2 %) had >12 years of education. The mean HbA<sub>1c</sub> was 64.6 mmol/mol (SD 11.0)/8.1% (SD 1.0), and the mean BMI was 30.7 kg/m<sup>2</sup> (SD 5.0). Twenty patients (12.1%) reported 2 or more comorbidities. The baseline data are presented for all patients in Table 1. This table also presents the data for the responders in both groups at 19 months. The baseline clinical and demographic characteristics did not differ significantly between the intervention and control groups (Table 1). Because of the high attrition rate and the large number of nonresponders in the intervention group (Figure 2), we investigated possible differences between responders and nonresponders in the intervention group, by comparing the values after 19 months with the baseline data (Table 1).

## **Primary Outcome**

Only patients, who responded at 19 months, and for whom the  $HbA_{1c}$  level was measured and available, were included in the analysis of the primary and secondary outcomes. The numbers analyzed were 50 patients in the intervention group and 72 patients in the control group (Figure 1).

Figure 2. Flow diagram depicting the phases of the parallel randomized trial of the two groups (intervention and control group).





Table 1. Participants' characteristics at the baseline, and at 19 months for  $HbA_{1c}$  responders.

Characteristics	All randomized at ba	seline	Responders at the 19	-month follow-up
	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control
	(n=86)	(n=79)	(n=50)	(n=72)
Age in years				
Mean (SD) <sup>a</sup>	66.8 (8.8)	68.3 (9.9)	64.8 (8.5)	68.8 (9.8)
Median	67	69	66	70
Range	(39-91)	(37-89)	(39-91)	(37-89)
Missing	2	0	2	0
Gender: female				
n (%)	24 (29)	24 (30)	10 (21)	21 (29)
Missing	2	0	2	0
Education: >12 years				
n (%)	31 (37)	33 (43)	21 (45)	28 (41)
Missing	3	4	3	3
Marital status: married				
n (%)	47 (56)	49 (61)	30 (63)	45 (63)
Missing	2	1	2	0
Height in cm				
Mean (SD)	170.5 (9.6)	171.3 (8.2)	171.7 (8.2)	171.4 (8.1)
Median	171	171.5	172	171.8
Range	(151.5-190.5)	(153-192)	(156-189)	(153-192)
Missing	1	0	0	0
Weight in kg				
Mean (SD)	90.3 (16.3)	89.3 (16.9)	93.0 (17.8)	88.7 (14.6)
Median	88.0	90.8	92.1	91
Range	(55.0-124.8)	(58.7-156.0)	(55-124.8)	(58.7-131.4)
Missing	1	0	0	0
BMI <sup>b</sup> in kg/m <sup>2</sup>				
Mean (SD)	31.0 (4.8)	30.4 (5.2)	31.4 (4.9)	30.2 (4.4)
Median	30.3	30.0	31.3	30.1
Range	(17.8,-40.7)	(20.8,54.0)	(17.8,40.7)	(20.8,43.3)
Missing	1	0	0	0
HbA <sub>1c</sub> <sup>c</sup> in mmol/mol				
Mean (SD)	65.3 (11.7)	63.9 (10.2)		
Mean (SD)	65.3 (11.7)	63.9 (10.2)	65.8 (11.8)	63.6 (10.0)
Median	62.5	61.0	63	61.5
Range	(53.0-108.0)	(53.0-96.0)	(53-108)	(53-96)
Missing	0	0	0	0
HbA <sub>1c</sub> in %				
 Mean (SD)	8.1 (1.1)	8.0 (0.9)	8.2 (1.1)	8.0 (0.9)
Median	7.9	7.7	7.9	7.8
Range	(7.0-12.0)	(7.0-10.9)	(7.0,12.0)	(7.0,10.9)

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e10/

XSL•FO RenderX JMIR Diabetes 2017 | vol. 2 | iss. 1 |e10 | p.64 (page number not for citation purposes)

Characteristics	All randomized at ba	seline	Responders at the 19-month follow-up		
	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control	
	(n=86)	(n=79)	(n=50)	(n=72)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
Comorbidities: 2 or more					
n (%)	8 (9)	12 (15)	3 (6)	10 (14)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
Smoking: yes					
n (%)	14 (17)	12 (16)	9 (18)	11 (16)	
Missing	3	2	2	1	
Use of PC <sup>d</sup> : yes					
n (%)	67 (80) <sup>e</sup>	57 (72)	47 (98) <sup>e</sup>	52 (72)	
Missing	2	0	2	0	
Use of cell phone: yes					
n (%)	79 (94)	72 (92)	47 (98)	66 (92)	
Missing	2	1	2	0	

<sup>a</sup>SD: standard deviation.

<sup>b</sup>BMI: body mass index.

<sup>c</sup>HBA<sub>1c</sub>: glycated hemoglobin.

<sup>d</sup>PC: personal computer.

<sup>e</sup>The difference between randomized participants and responders due to use of PC are statistically significant with *P*=.001 (chi-square test).



Table 2. HbA<sub>1c</sub> responders: clinical characteristics.

Measures	All randomized at baseline		Responders at the 19-month follow-up		
	Intervention	Control	Intervention	Control	
	mean (SD) <sup>a</sup>	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	mean (SD)	
HbA <sub>1c</sub> <sup>b</sup> in mmol/mol	65.8 (11.8)	63.6 (10.0)	64.5 (15.8)	64.6 (14.8)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
HbA <sub>1c</sub> in %	8.2 (11)	8.0 (0.9)	8.0 (1.4)	8.1 (1.4)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
BMI <sup>c</sup> in kg/m <sup>2</sup>	31.4 (4.9)	30.2 (4.4)	31.1 (4.6)	29.8 (4.6)	
Missing	0	0	0	1	
Blood pressure in mm Hg					
Diastolic	146 (19)	145 (17)	143 (24)	144 (18)	
Systolic	83 (10)	81 (11)	85 (12)	82 (8)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
Lipids					
S-cholesterol <sup>d</sup>	5.29 (1.04)	5.35 (1.38)	5.18 (1.11)	5.21 (1.14)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
Triglycerides	2.09 (1.23)	2.35 (1.75)	1.99 (0.98)	2.13 (1.25)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
HDL <sup>e</sup>	1.23 (0.27)	1.26 (0.32)	1.22 (0.24)	1.29 (0.31)	
Missing	0	0	0	0	
$LDL^{f}$	3.15 (0.86)	3.05 (1.19)	3.04 (0.84)	3.02 (1.01)	
Missing	4	8	3	7	

<sup>a</sup>SD: standard deviation.

<sup>b</sup>HBA<sub>1c</sub>: glycated hemoglobin.

<sup>c</sup>BMI: body mass index.

<sup>d</sup>S-cholesterol: serum cholesterol.

<sup>e</sup>HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

<sup>f</sup>LDL: low-density lipoprotein.

We found no significant differences between the intervention and control groups in the change in HbA<sub>1c</sub> level between the baseline and the 19-month follow-up (P=.33, 95% CI [-0.65 to 0.22]; Tables 2 and 3).

## **Secondary Outcome**

The changes in the domains of SF-36 from the baseline to the 19-month follow-up did not differ significantly between the intervention and control groups. Similarly, there were no significant differences in clinical variables such as blood pressure, lipid levels, and BMI (data not shown). However, within the control group BMI decreased significantly during the study (Table 3), and the domains of bodily pain and role

emotional functioning measured by the SF-36 also decreased (data not shown). In addition, the domain of physical functioning as measured by the SF-36 decreased significantly in the intervention group (data not shown). These findings might be accidental and with no obvious explications.

## **Other Clinical Outcomes**

At the baseline, 80% (67/86) of the patients randomized to the intervention group were familiar with using a PC; after the 19-month intervention, this percentage was 98% (47/50) among the patients in the intervention group (Table 1). This difference from the baseline to the follow-up was significant (P=.001, chi square test; Table 1).



Table 3. HbA<sub>1c</sub> responders: Change from baseline to 19 months.

Measures	Intervention		Control	
	Mean	95% CI	Mean	95% CI
HbA <sub>1c</sub> <sup>a</sup> in mmol/mol	-1.36	-4.81 to 2.09	0.97	-2.20 to 4.15
Missing	0		0	
HbA <sub>1c</sub> in %	-0.12	-0.44 to 0.19	0.09	-0.20 to 0.38
Missing	0		0	
BMI <sup>b</sup> in kg/m <sup>2</sup>	-0.35	-0.72 to 0.03	-0.36	-0.60 to -0.11
Missing	0		1	
Blood pressure in mm Hg				
Diastolic	-2.78	-8.30 to 2.74	-1.13	-4.83 to 2.58
Systolic	2.70	-0.96 to 6.36	0.83	-1.73 to 3.39
Missing	0		0	
Lipids				
S-cholesterol <sup>c</sup>	-0.11	-0.34 to 0.12	-0.13	-0.40 to 0.13
Missing	0		0	
Triglycerides	-0.11	-0.35 to 0.13	-0.22	-0.50 to 0.05
Missing	0		0	
$HDL^d$	-0.02	-0.08 to 0.04	0.03	-0.01 to 0.07
Missing	0		0	
LDL <sup>e</sup>	-0.11	-0.31 to 0.10	-0.09	-0.33 to 0.15
Missing	4		9	

<sup>a</sup>HBA<sub>1c</sub>: glycated hemoglobin.

<sup>b</sup>BMI: body mass index.

<sup>c</sup>S-cholesterol: serum cholesterol.

<sup>d</sup>HDL: high-density lipoprotein.

<sup>e</sup>LDL: low-density lipoprotein.

We also found significant differences in some SF-36 scores between the responders and the nonresponders in the intervention group after the 19 months (with baseline data). The responders reporting higher mental health in social functioning and in role emotional functioning than nonresponders (P=.03 and P=.01, respectively; Figure 3). There was also a trend for responders to report a higher HRQoL in all SF-36 domains as compared with the nonresponders. The nonresponders had significantly higher serum cholesterol levels than the responders (P=.04). However, given the limited sample size, this finding might be accidental.

## Harm

No adverse events were reported during the study. Two deaths were reported in the study, both in the control group, but they were not related to the study or a lack of the intervention.





**Figure 3.** Intervention group: differences in HRQoL on the SF-36 between responders and nonresponders at 19 months (with baseline data). Significant differences were found between responders and nonresponders in social functioning and role emotional functioning (both P<.03).

## Discussion

## **Principal Findings**

The results of this study show no significant changes in the primary outcome of  $HbA_{1c}$  level from the baseline to the 19-month follow-up for the patients included in the study. We found no differences in the changes in the secondary outcomes between the intervention and control groups. This is inconsistent with studies conducted in parallel with ours in the RH project [27-29,41]. One possible reason for these similarities is that the inclusion criteria and the primary outcome,  $Hb_{A1c}$  level was low (>6.5%); therefore there was little chance for improvement, which was also noted by other studies in the RH project [27-29]. However, patients whose  $HbA_{1c}$  is around 6.5% are often in need of lifestyle interventions in addition to taking medication, and such lifestyle and behavioral changes may reduce the need for or dose of medication.

When using HRQoL measures as variables, as in this study, one can expect smaller changes over time and a larger variation between the persons, which means that more patients must be included. A larger sample is often desired, but it is often difficult to recruit a sufficient sample [42]. In our study, the inclusion of participants was time-consuming. Whether the use of the SF-36 was suitable for the aim of this study can be questioned. Using disease-specific instruments to assess the special conditions and concerns of diagnostic groups could be more sensitive for detecting small changes [10] than using generic measures such as the SF-36. We discussed previously whether these primary and secondary outcome measures were suitable for measuring behavior changes and the degree of self-management, and whether primary outcomes other than HbA<sub>1c</sub> could have been better suited [29].

Of importance is that this randomized controlled trial showed no significant differences between patients in the intervention and control groups at baseline, which shows that the groups were balanced at the onset. The duration of the follow-up in this study might have increased the power, although the sample size was small.

Of interest was the trend for responders to report a higher HRQoL in all SF-36 domains compared with the nonresponders (Figure 2). Nonresponders reported lower HRQoL, and had significantly lower scores on social functioning, role emotional functioning, and all HRQoL domains. HRQoL was used to evaluate the effect of a telemedicine intervention with a self-management tool and health counseling, but HRQoL can also be used to identify patients who may be in need of more support. These findings identify a nonresponder population, with more health problems, who may need greater support and follow-up than do responders, and, as such, may need greater care and may impose a larger burden on the health care system. The patients in this study were older, but with few comorbidities, although many had a high BMI and incidence of obesity. The findings indicate that nonresponders had poorer mental health at inclusion than the responders of the intervention. Earlier research has noted that psychosocial problems are common among persons with diabetes, and that these problems represent barriers for self-management [11]. eHealth is a tool that could help to reduce costs and provide a more efficient delivery of care [30]; however, this group of patients was less familiar with computers and did not respond to the intervention provided.

As previously mentioned, high dropout rates is a typical problem in self-help applications. Others have commented on the importance of addressing this phenomenon because it poses a challenge to the evaluation of eHealth applications [24]. More research designed to investigate this problem is warranted. The development phase of a complex intervention such as ours is



considered to be important [43], and involves investigating both the existing evidence and the targeted group. For example, further knowledge about the targeted group may be obtained by conducting qualitative in-depth interviews in the preplanning stage of a complex intervention; this would help the investigators to learn more about user experiences and to identify both positive and negative user interactions [14]. The incorporation of user involvement (ie, patients, health care personnel, and stakeholders) is recommended at all levels in the design of telemedicine studies, as in this study [30]. This is also important to facilitate limplementation in health care organizations[43].

Of interest, we found significant differences between responders and nonresponders in the intervention group; the latter were less familiar with the use of PCs (P<.001; Table 2). This finding may indicate that those not accustomed to using a PC withdrew their participation in the study, and that the intervention was less likely to be accepted by patients with little experience in the use of a PC; however, if correct, the reason for this is not clear. It has been speculated that the lack of data and knowledge about withdrawal and/or dropout rates reflects a lack of investigation of this phenomenon, or that the reasons may be known but have not been published or were beyond the scope of reported trials [14]. Findings from the Whole System Demonstrator telehealth program in the United Kingdom have indicated that active rejection and patients' lack of acceptance of the telemedicine intervention are the most frequent reasons for withdrawal. The presence of diabetes was a factor leading to greater rejection of an intervention than were other chronic diseases [44]. This could reflect that many persons with diabetes are well trained in the recording of their clinical data and that the introduction of a new system for self-monitoring is perceived as a disruption to a well-practiced regime and is therefore not acceptable. However, the reasons for withdrawing from a trial are multifaceted [44].

Research has also investigated whether there is a literacy divide between responders and nonresponders of telemedicine interventions. The effect of health literacy has been considered by earlier studies using different telehealth applications [45,46]. Health literacy can be referred to as "the cognitive and social skills which determine the motivation and ability of individuals to gain access to, understand, and use information in ways which promote and maintain good health" [47]. Our findings confirm the importance of recognizing that there is no "one size fits all" approach, meaning that when developing and initiating interventions such as ours, health care staff needs to consider carefully the patients' health literacy; for example, being old should not be a criterion for exclusion [48]. Earlier research has emphasized the importance of developing digital interventions that are designed to be accessible, and engaging persons with a wide range of health literacy levels [49]. Improvements in health literacy outcomes after a digital health intervention depend more on a clear design and person-based intervention to establish an in-depth understanding of the views and perspectives of the targeted group, rather than on interactivity and audiovisual presentation [50]. The interactive and audiovisual elements of the intervention are especially important for motivating the participants. It has also been shown that participants without adequate education or with a low health literacy level have a lower compliance, and that active participation with support from a health care service provider can reinforce a recommended behavior [51].

The use of telehealth and eHealth applications on the Web, as in this study, is therefore not appropriate for all persons with a chronic condition. This should be taken into consideration when developing a complex intervention such as ours. Self-management interventions with innovative treatments, such as the use of health technology devices at home and in close cooperation with community health centers, could be a more suited intervention for patients who self-manage better than some of those included in this study. Therefore, it is necessary to assess the targeted group and their characteristics before developing an intervention, because they may differ significantly in needs and health status, or be in need of more intensive interventions with more advanced and tailored support from health care providers than what was offered in this study. Earlier research also indicated a need for tighter self-management support of less motivated groups among patients with type 2 diabetes participating in telemedicine research [20], and of those not yet ready to change their behavior [23].

More research is needed to identify those not responding to telemedicine intervention to understand how to design different telemedicine applications that are suitable for specific groups and to identify the kinds of support needed by particular groups.

## Conclusions

This technology-supported self-management telemonitoring and health counseling intervention did not improve the quality of life or clinical condition for patients with type 2 diabetes. There were significant differences between responders and nonresponders in the intervention group. Nonresponders reported being less familiar with the use of PCs, which suggests that those not accustomed to using computers had stopped participating in the study. More research is needed to target those not responding to telemedicine intervention and to understand how to design different telemedicine applications for different patient groups.

## Acknowledgments

This project was funded by the EU through the ICT Policy Support Programme, as part of the Competitiveness and Innovation Framework Programme (CIP), and by the Norrbotten County Council and Luleå University of Technology. The authors particularly thank the patients, health care staff, and the members of the project staff who participated.

## **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e10/

## **Multimedia Appendix 1**

CONSORT-EHEALTH checklist.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 703KB - diabetes\_v2i1e10\_app1.pdf]

## References

- Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. PLoS Med 2006 Nov;3(11):e442 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.0030442] [Medline: 17132052]
- Powers MA, Bardsley J, Cypress M, Duker P, Funnell MM, Fischl AH, et al. Diabetes self-management education and support in type 2 diabetes: a joint position statement of the American Diabetes Association, the American Association of Diabetes Educators, and the Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics. Clin Diabetes 2016 Apr;34(2):70-80. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.34.2.70] [Medline: 27092016]
- da Rocha Fernandes J, Ogurtsova K, Linnenkamp U, Guariguata L, Seuring T, Zhang P, et al. IDF diabetes Atlas estimates of 2014 global health expenditures on diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2016 Jul;117:48-54. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.diabres.2016.04.016</u>] [Medline: <u>27329022</u>]
- 4. IDF. 2015. Sweden IDF membership URL: <u>http://www.idf.org/membership/eur/sweden</u> [accessed 2016-09-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6kpYwqFae]
- Stratton IM, Adler AI, Neil HA, Matthews DR, Manley SE, Cull CA, et al. Association of glycaemia with macrovascularmicrovascular complications of type 2 diabetes (UKPDS 35): prospective observational study. BMJ 2000 Aug 12;321(7258):405-412. [Medline: 10938048]
- 6. Ismail-Beigi F, Craven T, Banerji MA, Basile J, Calles J, Cohen RM, ACCORD trial group. Effect of intensive treatment of hyperglycaemia on microvascular outcomes in type 2 diabetes: an analysis of the ACCORD randomised trial. Lancet 2010 Aug 7;376(9739):419-430.
- Inzucchi SE, Bergenstal RM, Buse JB, Diamant M, Ferrannini E, Nauck M, American Diabetes Association (ADA), European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Management of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes: a patient-centered approach: position statement of the American Diabetes Association (ADA) and the European Association for the Study of Diabetes (EASD). Diabetes Care 2012 Jun;35(6):1364-1379 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc12-0413] [Medline: 22517736]
- 8. Galaviz KI, Narayan KMV, Lobelo F, Weber MB. Lifestyle and the prevention of Type 2 Diabetes: a status report. Am J Lifestyle Med 2015 Nov 24. [doi: 10.1177/1559827615619159]
- Brown SA, Garcia AA, Brown A, Becker BJ, Conn VS, Ramirez G, et al. Biobehavioral determinants of glycemic control in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Oct;99(10):1558-1567. [Medline: 27036083]
- 10. Rubin RR, Peyrot M. Quality of life and diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev 1999;15(3):205-218. [Medline: 10441043]
- Peyrot M, Rubin RR, Lauritzen T, Skovlund SE, Snoek FJ, Matthews DR, International DAWN Advisory Panel. Resistance to insulin therapy among patients and providers: results of the cross-national Diabetes Attitudes, Wishes, and Needs (DAWN) study. Diabetes Care 2005 Nov;28(11):2673-2679. [Medline: <u>16249538</u>]
- 12. Norris SL, Engelgau MM, Narayan KM. Effectiveness of self-management training in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Care 2001 Mar;24(3):561-587. [Medline: <u>11289485</u>]
- Flodgren G, Rachas A, Farmer AJ, Inzitari M, Shepperd S. Interactive telemedicine: effects on professional practice and health care outcomes. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2015 Sep 7(9):CD002098. [doi: <u>10.1002/14651858.CD002098.pub2</u>] [Medline: <u>26343551</u>]
- Jalil S, Myers T, Atkinson I. A meta-synthesis of behavioral outcomes from telemedicine clinical trials for type 2 diabetes and the Clinical User-Experience Evaluation (CUE). J Med Syst 2015 Mar;39(3):28. [Medline: 25677954]
- Polisena J, Tran K, Cimon K, Hutton B, McGill S, Palmer K. Home telehealth for diabetes management: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Diabetes Obes Metab 2009 Oct;11(10):913-930. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1463-1326.2009.01057.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19531058</u>]
- Tao D, Or CK. Effects of self-management health information technology on glycaemic control for patients with diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Telemed Telecare 2013 Apr;19(3):133-143. [doi: <u>10.1177/1357633X13479701</u>] [Medline: <u>23563018</u>]
- 17. Lyles CR, Harris LT, Le T, Flowers J, Tufano J, Britt D, et al. Qualitative evaluation of a mobile phone and web-based collaborative care intervention for patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther 2011 May;13(5):563-569. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2010.0200] [Medline: 21406018]
- Pecina JL, Vickers KS, Finnie DM, Hathaway JC, Hanson GJ, Takahashi PY. Telemonitoring increases patient awareness of health and prompts health-related action: initial evaluation of the TELE-ERA study. Telemed J E Health 2011;17(6):461-466. [Medline: 21612521]
- Ciemins E, Coon P, Peck R, Holloway B, Min SJ. Using telehealth to provide diabetes care to patients in rural Montana: findings from the promoting realistic individual self-management program. Telemed J E Health 2011 Oct;17(8):596-602 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0028] [Medline: 21859347]

- Wakefield BJ, Koopman RJ, Keplinger LE, Bomar M, Bernt B, Johanning JL, et al. Effect of home telemonitoring on glycemic and blood pressure control in primary care clinic patients with diabetes. Telemed J E Health 2014 Mar;20(3):199-205 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2013.0151] [Medline: 24404819]
- 21. Farmer AJ, McSharry J, Rowbotham S, McGowan L, Ricci-Cabello I, French DP. Effects of interventions promoting monitoring of medication use and brief messaging on medication adherence for people with Type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of randomized trials. Diabet Med 2016 May;33(5):565-579. [doi: 10.1111/dme.12987] [Medline: 26470750]
- 22. Or CK, Tao D. Does the use of consumer health information technology improve outcomes in the patient self-management of diabetes? A meta-analysis and narrative review of randomized controlled trials. Int J Med Inform 2014 May;83(5):320-329. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2014.01.009] [Medline: 24534118]
- 23. Holmen H, Wahl A, Torbjørnsen A, Jenum AK, Småstuen MC, Ribu L. Stages of change for physical activity and dietary habits in persons with type 2 diabetes included in a mobile health intervention: the Norwegian study in RENEWING HEALTH. BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care 2016 May 12;4(1):e000193 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmjdrc-2016-000193] [Medline: 27239317]
- 24. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 25. Hunt CW, Sanderson BK, Ellison KJ. Support for diabetes using technology: a pilot study to improve self-management. Medsurg Nurs 2014;23(4):231-237. [Medline: 25318336]
- 26. Garabedian LF, Ross-Degnan D, Wharam JF. Mobile phone and smartphone technologies for diabetes care and self-management. Curr Diab Rep 2015 Dec;15(12):109. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-015-0680-8] [Medline: 26458380]
- 27. Karhula T, Vuorinen AL, Rääpysjärvi K, Pakanen M, Itkonen P, Tepponen M, et al. Telemonitoring and mobile phone-based health coaching among Finnish diabetic and heart disease patients: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2015 Jun 17;17(6):e153. [Medline: <u>26084979</u>]
- 28. Torbjørnsen A, Jenum AK, Småstuen MC, Arsand E, Holmen H, Wahl AK, et al. A low-intensity mobile health intervention with and without health counseling for persons with type 2 diabetes, part 1: baseline and short-term results from a randomized controlled trial in the Norwegian part of RENEWING HEALTH. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Dec 11;2(4):e52 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3535] [Medline: 25499592]
- 29. Holmen H, Torbjørnsen A, Wahl AK, Jenum AK, Småstuen MC, Årsand E, et al. A mobile health intervention for self-management and lifestyle change for persons with type 2 diabetes, Part 2: one-year results from the Norwegian randomized controlled trial RENEWING HEALTH. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Dec 11;2(4):e57. [Medline: 25499872]
- Kidholm K, Ekeland AG, Jensen LK, Rasmussen J, Pedersen CD, Bowes A, et al. A model for assessment of telemedicine applications: mast. Int J Technol Assess Health Care 2012 Jan;28(1):44-51. [doi: <u>10.1017/S0266462311000638</u>] [Medline: <u>22617736</u>]
- 31. Jonkman NH, Schuurmans MJ, Groenwold RH, Hoes AW, Trappenburg JC. Identifying components of self-management interventions that improve health-related quality of life in chronically ill patients: systematic review and meta-regression analysis. Patient Educ Couns 2016 Jul;99(7):1087-1098. [Medline: <u>26856778</u>]
- 32. Sinclair AJ, Conroy SP, Bayer AJ. Impact of diabetes on physical function in older people. Diabetes Care 2008 Feb;31(2):233-235. [doi: 10.2337/dc07-1784] [Medline: 18024850]
- Laiteerapong N, Karter AJ, Liu JY, Moffet HH, Sudore R, Schillinger D, et al. Correlates of quality of life in older adults with diabetes: the diabetes & aging study. Diabetes Care 2011 Aug;34(8):1749-1753 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-2424] [Medline: 21636795]
- Speight J, Sinclair AJ, Browne JL, Woodcock A, Bradley C. Assessing the impact of diabetes on the quality of life of older adults living in a care home: validation of the ADDQoL Senior. Diabet Med 2013 Jan;30(1):74-80. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2012.03748.x] [Medline: 22804615]
- Kirkman MS, Briscoe VJ, Clark N, Florez H, Haas LB, Halter JB, et al. Diabetes in older adults. Diabetes Care 2012 Dec;35(12):2650-2664 [FREE Full text] [doi: <u>10.2337/dc12-1801</u>] [Medline: <u>23100048</u>]
- 36. Zwarenstein M, Treweek S, Gagnier JJ, Altman DG, Tunis S, Haynes B, CONSORT group, Pragmatic Trials in Healthcare (Practihc) group. Improving the reporting of pragmatic trials: an extension of the CONSORT statement. BMJ 2008 Nov 11;337:a2390. [Medline: 19001484]
- 37. Socialstyrelsen. National Guidelines for Diabetes Care Support for Governance and Management. Sweden: Socialstyrelsen; Feb 2015:1-124.
- Ware Jr JE, Sherbourne CD. The MOS 36-item short-form health survey (SF-36). I. Conceptual framework and item selection. Med Care 1992 Jun;30(6):473-483. [Medline: <u>1593914</u>]
- 39. Ware JE, Kosinksi M. SF-36 physical & mental health summary scales : a manual for users of version 1. Lincoln, RI: QualityMetric Inc; 2001.
- 40. EPN. The Act concerning the Ethical Review of Research Involving Humans (2003) URL: <u>http://www.epn.se/media/2348/</u> <u>the\_ethical\_review\_act.pdf</u> [accessed 2016-09-27] [WebCite Cache ID 6kpbERXMI]
- 41. Dario C, Toffanin R, Calcaterra F, Saccavini C, Stafylas P, Mancin S, et al. Telemonitoring of Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in Italy. Telemed J E Health 2016 Feb;23(2):143-152. [doi: <u>10.1089/tmj.2015.0224</u>] [Medline: <u>27379995</u>]

- 42. Fayers PM, Machin D. Quality of life the assessment, analysis and reporting of patient-reported outcomes 3rd edition. Chichester, West Sussex: Wiley-Blackwell; 2016.
- 43. Craig P, Dieppe P, Macintyre S, Michie S, Nazareth I, Petticrew M, Medical Research Council Guidance. Developing and evaluating complex interventions: the new Medical Research Council guidance. BMJ 2008 Sep 29;337:a1655 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>18824488</u>]
- 44. Rixon L, Hirani SP, Cartwright M, Beynon M, Selva A, Sanders C, et al. What influences withdrawal because of rejection of telehealth – the whole systems demonstrator evaluation. J Assist Technol 2013 Nov 29;7(4):219-227. [doi: 10.1108/JAT-06-2013-0017]
- 45. Lilholt PH, Hæsum LK, Ehlers LH, Hejlesen OK. Specific technological communication skills and functional health literacy have no influence on self-reported benefits from enrollment in the TeleCare North trial. Int J Med Inform 2016 Jul;91:60-66. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijmedinf.2016.04.010] [Medline: 27185509]
- 46. Long AF, Gambling T. Enhancing health literacy and behavioural change within a tele-care education and support intervention for people with type 2 diabetes. Health Expect 2012 Sep;15(3):267-282 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1111/j.1369-7625.2011.00678.x] [Medline: 21521430]
- 47. Nutbeam D. Health literacy as a public health goal: a challenge for contemporary health education and communication strategies into the 21st century. Health Promot Int 2000;15(3):259-267. [doi: 10.1093/heapro/15.3.259]
- Banbury A, Parkinson L, Nancarrow S, Dart J, Gray L, Buckley J. Multi-site videoconferencing for home-based education of older people with chronic conditions: the Telehealth Literacy Project. J Telemed Telecare 2014 Oct;20(7):353-359. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X14552369] [Medline: 25399994]
- 49. Rowsell A, Muller I, Murray E, Little P, Byrne CD, Ganahl K, et al. Views of people with high and low levels of health literacy about a digital intervention to promote physical activity for diabetes: a qualitative study in five countries. J Med Internet Res 2015 Oct 12;17(10):e230. [Medline: <u>26459743</u>]
- 50. Muller I, Rowsell A, Stuart B, Hayter V, Little P, Ganahl K, et al. Effects on engagement and health literacy outcomes of web-based materials promoting physical activity in people with diabetes: an international randomized trial. J Med Internet Res 2017 Jan 23;19(1):e21.
- 51. Maeder A, Poultney N, Morgan G, Lippiatt R. Patient compliance in home-based self-care telehealth projects. J Telemed Telecare 2015 Dec;21(8):439-442. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15612382] [Medline: 26556057]

## Abbreviations

BMI: body mass index
GP: general practitioner
HbA1c: glycated hemoglobin
HDL: high-density lipoprotein
HRQoL: health-related quality of life
LDL: low-density lipoprotein
PC: personal computer
RH: renewing health
S-cholesterol: serum cholesterol
SD: standard deviation
SF-36: Short Form Health Survey

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 26.10.16; peer-reviewed by C Or, D Tao; comments to author 15.01.17; revised version received 03.05.17; accepted 25.05.17; published 26.06.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Lindberg I, Torbjørnsen A, Söderberg S, Ribu L Telemonitoring and Health Counseling for Self-Management Support of Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Controlled Trial JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e10 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e10/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6884 PMID:30291058

©Inger Lindberg, Astrid Torbjørnsen, Siv Söderberg, Lis Ribu. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 26.06.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium,
provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.

**Original Paper** 

# The Use of Mobile Health to Deliver Self-Management Support to Young People With Type 1 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Survey

Rosie Dobson<sup>1</sup>, MSc; Robyn Whittaker<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Rinki Murphy<sup>3,4</sup>, PhD; Manish Khanolkar<sup>3</sup>, MD; Steven Miller<sup>2</sup>, PhD; Joanna Naylor<sup>2</sup>, MNurs; Ralph Maddison<sup>1,5</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>National Institute for Health Innovation, School of Population Health, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand

<sup>2</sup>Waitemata District Health Board, Auckland, New Zealand

<sup>3</sup>Auckland District Health Board, Auckland, New Zealand

- <sup>4</sup>Department of Medicine, Faculty of Medical and Health Sciences, University of Auckland, Auckland, New Zealand
- <sup>5</sup>Institute for Physical Activity and Nutrition, School of Exercise and Nutrition Sciences, Deakin University, Melbourne, Australia

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Rosie Dobson, MSc National Institute for Health Innovation School of Population Health University of Auckland Private Bag 92019 Auckland Mail Centre Auckland, 1142 New Zealand Phone: 64 93737599 ext 88908 Fax: 64 93731710 Email: r.dobson@auckland.ac.nz

## Abstract

**Background:** Young people living with type 1 diabetes face not only the challenges typical of adolescence, but also the challenges of daily management of their health and evolving understanding of the impact of their diagnosis on their future. Adolescence is a critical time for diabetes self-management, with a typical decline in glycemic control increasing risk for microvascular diabetes complications. To improve glycemic control, there is a need for evidence-based self-management support interventions that address the issues pertinent to this population, utilizing platforms that engage them. Increasingly, mobile health (mHealth) interventions are being developed and evaluated for this purpose with some evidence supporting improved glycemic control. A necessary step to enhance effectiveness of such approaches is to understand young people's preferences for this mode of delivery.

**Objective:** A cross-sectional survey was conducted to investigate the current and perceived roles of mHealth in supporting young people to manage their diabetes.

**Methods:** Young adults (16-24 years) with type 1 diabetes in Auckland, New Zealand, were invited to take part in a survey via letter from their diabetes specialist.

**Results:** A total of 115 young adults completed the survey (mean age 19.5 years; male 52/115, 45%; European 89/115, 77%), with all reporting they owned a mobile phone and 96% (110/115) of those were smartphones. However, smartphone apps for diabetes management had been used by only 33% (38/115) of respondents. The most commonly reported reason for not using apps was a lack of awareness that they existed. Although the majority felt they managed their diabetes well, 63% (72/115) reported wanting to learn more about diabetes and how to manage it. A total of 64% (74/115) respondents reported that they would be interested in receiving diabetes self-management support via text message (short message service, SMS).

**Conclusions:** Current engagement with mHealth in this population appears low, although the findings from this study provide support for the use of mHealth in this group because of the ubiquity and convenience of mobile devices. mHealth has potential to provide information and support to this population, utilizing mediums commonplace for this group and with greater reach than traditional methods.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e4) doi: 10.2196/diabetes.7221



#### KEYWORDS

mHealth; diabetes mellitus; mobile phone; mobile applications; text messages

### Introduction

Rates of type 1 diabetes are increasing both in New Zealand and internationally [1-4]. Good diabetes control at an early age is integral in delaying the onset and slowing the progression of long-term complications of the disease such as renal failure, blindness, and lower limb microvascular disease [5-8]. Type 1 diabetes is one of the most demanding chronic conditions, both psychologically and behaviorally, requiring considerable daily management throughout the individual's life for optimal outcome. Successful diabetes management involves managing medical responsibilities (including blood glucose monitoring and insulin administration) alongside behaviors around diet and physical activity [9]. There is evidence of a positive relationship between diabetes self-management behaviors and metabolic control, particularly in adolescence [10-15]. Poor engagement with diabetes self-management in adolescence is likely to continue to poor self-management behaviors in adulthood [16], making this a vital period for the establishment of good self-management and prevention of debilitating long-term complications.

There is a wide range of interventions designed to support young people to self-manage their diabetes that tend to involve providing encouragement, information, and motivation to obtain greater control of their condition. This may be done by increasing their understanding of diabetes, encouraging them to be active participants in decision making around their condition, and motivating them to engage in healthy behaviors [17]. The importance of a combination of approaches for self-management support in individuals with type 1 diabetes is clear, including psychosocial support, education, diabetes monitoring and insulin-specific information and support, and multidisciplinary clinician support [18]. In particular, there is a need for interventions to actively demonstrate the link between diabetes management behaviors and the young people's daily life [19] and interventions that utilize platforms that engage young people.

Mobile health (mHealth) is the use of mobile devices, such as mobile phones, to deliver health services and information [20]. There is increasing evidence for the effectiveness of mHealth in health behavior change and disease management, including diabetes [21,22]. Mobile phones offer potential to reach all populations and provide access to an individual at opportune times regardless of location [23]. They also provide a tool for support outside of the hospital or clinic and in turn support increased independence. They provide a nonconfrontational method for support around sensitive issues such as contraception, alcohol and drugs, and sexual health, which can have considerable impact on a young person's diabetes control [24]. In addition, mHealth interventions capitalize on existing communication behavior in young people, who are more likely to bring their mobile phones than their glucose meters to clinic appointments [25].

There is growing evidence that mHealth interventions can successfully engage young people with diabetes, which has traditionally been difficult to do [25-38]. Research indicates strong patient interest in mHealth tools to support diabetes management [39] and a preference for smartphone apps in the young adult population [39]. However, with increasing availability of diabetes-related apps there is concern regarding the accuracy and evidence base of many of these [40]. It is essential to ensure that patients have access to tools that are safe, evidence-based, and known to be effective. In addition, these tools need to attend to the issues relevant to the young person rather than purely focusing on those considered relevant by the clinician [27]. To accommodate the preferences and priorities of the population, and thereby enhance the chances of success, it is crucial to engage the target population in the design and development of the intervention through obtaining feedback during intervention design [41,42] and linking of diabetes management with individual goals and priorities [19,43].

This study aimed to investigate the current and perceived roles of mHealth in supporting young people to manage their diabetes. This will inform the development of a self-management support intervention for this population.

## Methods

#### **Study Design**

A descriptive cross-sectional survey was conducted with young adults with type 1 diabetes from March to September 2014. The survey incorporated both closed and open-ended questions to gain more in-depth information and to allow participants to elaborate further. The survey was designed in paper format and then uploaded into an electronic format using LimeSurvey (LimeSurvey Project), an Open Source survey tool. The survey was then pretested by researchers, members of the study advisory group, and young people. The survey is described according to the CHERRIES (Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys) checklist [44].

#### **Ethics Approval**

Ethical approval for this trial was obtained from the New Zealand Health and Disability Ethics Committee (14/CEN/24). Research approval from each district health board was also obtained.

#### **Inclusion Criteria**

Inclusion criteria were young adults aged 16-24 years (inclusive), diagnosis of type 1 diabetes, registered as a patient under one of the 3 Auckland regional diabetes services, able to read and understand English, and able to provide informed consent.

#### Procedures

All patients who met the inclusion criteria were sent a letter from their clinician inviting them to take part in the closed survey. Those wishing to participate could complete the survey

```
XSL•FO
RenderX
```

via 1 of 3 methods: (1) by going directly to the study website and completing it online, (2) over the phone, or (3) by completing a paper copy of the survey. Participants had 3 months from the letter date to complete the survey.

Before commencing the survey, participants provided informed consent (electronic consent if completing the survey online, verbal consent if completing over the phone, or written consent if completing on paper) to participate. Participants had to enter a unique code from their letter to ensure only those eligible completed the survey. Participants only had access to the survey once their unique code was entered and verified. Upon completion of the survey, participants had the option to enter their contact details to receive a NZ \$20 voucher reimbursing them for their time. This personal information was stored separately to the main data file and password protected.

The survey was identical for all participants (no randomized items), and participants were able to go back and change their responses before submission. Adaptive questioning was used to minimize response burden and reduce complexity of questions.

#### **Survey Design**

The survey consisted of 3 parts, with each part of the survey presented on a separate page:

- 1. Demographic information and technology access: including age, sex, ethnicity, occupation, age at diabetes diagnosis, and mobile phone ownership and use.
- 2. Using technology to manage diabetes and health: use and perceived usefulness of currently available apps, interest in text message (short message service, SMS)-based diabetes support, and preferences for mHealth content.
- Your diabetes and how you manage it: perceptions of own diabetes management, confidence in diabetes management, diabetes self-management tasks they find most difficult,

Table 1. Demographics of invited population an	d survey respondents.
--	-----------------------

and whether they would like to learn more about diabetes and its management.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Survey data were analyzed and summarized using descriptive quantitative analyses including means, standard deviation, and proportions. Qualitative comments were analyzed using a simple, general inductive thematic approach to identify common themes and meanings from the data. Only completed surveys, with correct unique codes, were included in the analysis and no time limit was imposed. Prioritized ethnicity was used as recommended by the New Zealand Ministry of Health for the reporting of ethnicity data; only one of the ethnic categories nominated by the participant was used according to a predetermined hierarchy (Māori, Pacific Islander, Asian, European, and other ethnic groups, in order of prioritization) [45].

## Results

#### Survey Response

There were 141 entries to the survey website; of these, 115 completed the survey, giving a completion rate of 82%. All participants chose to complete the survey online.

#### Part 1: Demographic Information and Technology Access

A total of 115 young adults completed the survey, giving a response rate of 29% (see Table 1 for a breakdown of respondents) of the invited population (N=402). There was no significant difference between those invited to complete the survey and those who responded in terms of ethnicity or age. There was a significant difference (P=.02) for sex, with the participant sample having a higher proportion of females. The mean age of diagnosis as reported by participants was 11.12 years (SD 5.15, range 1-23).

Characteristic	Total eligible (n=402),	Respondents (n=115),
	n (%)	n (%)
Sex: male	229 (56.9)	52 (45.2)
Ethnicity		
European	301 (74.9)	89 (77.4)
Māori	27 (6.7)	10 (8.7)
Pacific Islander	41 (10.2)	7 (6.1)
Asian	22 (5.5)	6 (5.2)
Other	9 (2.2)	3 (2.6)
Not stated	2 (0.5)	0 (0.0)
Age in years, mean (SD)	19.94 (2.47)	19.51 (2.53)

All of those who completed the survey reported they owned a mobile phone, with 110/115 (96%) reporting they owned a smartphone (a mobile phone with the addition of a computer operating system). Of those who owned a smartphone, only 71/110 (65%) reported having access to data (Internet) on their phone all the time, 36/110 (33%) sometimes, and 3/110 (3%)

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e4/

reported never accessing the Internet on their phone. The majority of respondents reported that their mobile phone was "pay-as-you-go" (84/115, 73%) as opposed to 30/115 (26%) who were on a monthly contract, and 1 respondent did not know. Most participants (76/115, 66%) reported that they never turn their phone off.

## Part 2: Using Technology to Manage Diabetes and Health

#### Apps for Diabetes Management

A total of 38 (33%) of the 115 respondents reported they use or have used apps to help them manage their diabetes. Rates of app usage differed by ethnicity, with Māori and Pacific Islander respondents having lower rates of app use (10% and 0%, respectively) compared with Europeans (38%), Asians (33%), or the other ethnicities (33%). A total of 43% of females who completed the survey reported they use or have used apps to help them manage their diabetes compared with 21% of males.

Of those who reported having used apps (n=38), they reported having used a mean of 1.87 different apps (SD 1.33, range 1-7). The most commonly reported apps were Carbs & Cals (n=10), Glucose Buddy (n=9), MyFitnessPal (n=6), and DAFNE Online (n=5). Of the 38 respondents who had used apps, 10 (26%) reported finding them "extremely useful" in helping them manage their diabetes, 20 (53%) reported finding them "a little useful," and 8 (21%) "not very useful." Common reasons included that they were useful for tracking diabetes data, for carbohydrate counting and insulin calculations, and that they were accessible and convenient for managing diabetes on the go. Participants reported that a key benefit of the apps was that they provided an easy and convenient way to track their diabetes and store data. They also reported that they provided an easy way to see patterns through graphs of their capillary glucose data.

Helps me keep a record of what I'm eating my levels and my insulin intake along with the other medications I'm on and shows a pattern of when I go lower or higher

They graph patterns of blood sugar levels, and are a great place to store data related to your diabetes

They reported that, because their phones are always with them, they provided a great way to manage their diabetes on the go. They mentioned having access to information when out as being a benefit and providing a replacement for pen and paper methods of keeping track of their diabetes.

Because I always have my phone and it makes it easier to log in my blood sugars on something that I always have access too

I find them useful because I'm always on the go and I always have my smartphone on me so if I ever need to check the carb content of something I can do so immediately

A number of participants also reported that apps are useful for carbohydrate counting, particularly for less common foods or meals, and for calculating insulin dosage:

It [the app] gives me an idea of how many carbs are in foods I don't normally consume on a day to day basis. Takeaway foods in particular are harder to count carbs in.

It makes the maths easier- calculating how much insulin I need when taking into account how many carbs I'm eating and what my current blood glucose is.

The most common reason for why they were not useful was the data entry being tedious and therefore not being bothered to use the app.

Too fiddly to mess around with and enter all the data. As well as when I test my blood, I just want to eat not mess around with my phone.

Just another thing to remember to do so I can't be bothered sometimes.

Technical issues were also identified as a reason for apps not being perceived as useful, and the need for Wi-Fi or data connection meant they could not always use them.

Sometimes I can find out how many carbs my food I'm eating has but I have trouble using it sometimes because it doesn't load and it requires internet access and if I haven't got good reception I can't see the portion sizes

Others reported that because they forget to use the app or do not enter their data regularly the app was not useful.

*I fail to enter in my readings from my testing machine. So therefore I have no data in the app at all.* 

Only 1 participant identified not being able to trust the app and another identified cost as a barrier.

I didn't really trust them, I was too scared to use them in case they were wrong

The majority (33/38, 87%) of the participants who had used apps reported that they would recommend diabetes-related apps to other young people with diabetes. Those who had never used apps to manage their diabetes were asked to provide the reasons. The most common reasons for not having used apps to help manage their diabetes included that they did not know of any apps or that they existed at all, that they did not feel they would be of any help or use to them, or that they did not feel that they needed them.

#### Text Messages for Diabetes Management

A total of 74 (64%) of the 115 respondents reported that they would like to receive SMS text messages designed to support them to manage their diabetes. Those who were interested were asked how often they would want to receive messages, with 21% of the 74 wanting messages more than once per day, 17% once per day, 15% only once every few days, and 12% once a week or less. They were also asked to identify topics they would want the SMS text messages to be about (see Table 2), with tips on how to manage diabetes being the most preferred topic.



Table 2. Topics for text messages (n=74).

Topics	Count <sup>a</sup>	Percentage of sample, %
Tips on how to manage my diabetes	57	77
Motivational messages	50	68
Reminders to test my blood glucose	45	61
Information about diabetes	38	51
Other <sup>b</sup>	7	10

<sup>a</sup>Participants could identify multiple topics.

<sup>b</sup>Other topics identified by participants included recreational drugs, interesting diabetes facts, and research updates.

The 41 participants who reported that they would not be interested in receiving SMS text messages to support them were asked to provide their reasons. Key responses included they did not think that they needed them and concern that they would be annoying. There were 19 participants who identified that they did not feel they needed SMS text message–based diabetes support as they felt they were already managing their diabetes well.

Because I feel I'm perfectly capable of managing my diabetes myself, I know what i have to do and know what I face if i am neglectful. Someone texting me with things I already know is unnecessary.

I think it's unnecessary and have done fine on my own for the most part.

In addition, 19 of the 41 participants reported they would not sign up as they felt that it would be annoying and would just remind them that they had diabetes when they did not want to think about it.

I think I manage my diabetes quite well, I don't really need to read motivational messages and I check my blood glucose regularly on my own. I personally can find texts like that can become annoying. I may consider using the option only if there was an unsubscribe option available if I didn't want to receive them anymore. Will become irritating. Sometimes it is nice to forget, [believe] that you aren't diabetic - having constant reminders will continuously remind you that you are different from everyone else

There were 2 participants who felt that this type of support would not be personal enough and 2 participants who reported they would prefer apps to SMS text messages.

#### Part 3: Diabetes and How It Is Managed

A majority (66/115, 57%) of the respondents reported that they felt they managed their diabetes "extremely" or "very" well. There were 44/115 (38%) who reported that they managed their diabetes "not so well" and only 5/115 (4%) "not well at all." On a scale from 0 "Not at all confident that I can manage my diabetes" to 10 "Completely sure I can manage my diabetes," participants reported a mean rating of 7.23 (SD 2.091, range 1-10). Significantly lower ratings of confidence were seen in those who reported interest in receiving SMS text messages designed to support them to manage their diabetes (mean 6.89, SD 2.10) than those who did not (mean 7.85, SD 1.94; *P*=.02). Although more than half the participants reported that they felt that they managed their diabetes well, 72/115 (63%) reported that they would like to learn more about diabetes and how to manage it. Participants were also asked about the 3 specific areas of diabetes management that they find most difficult; results are presented in Table 3. The most common areas identified were "Remembering to check my blood glucose" (55/115, 48%) and "Eating well" (40/115, 35%).

Diabetes self-management tasks	Count	Percentage of sample, %
Checking my blood glucose	35	30.4
Remembering to check my blood glucose	55	47.9
Eating well	40	34.8
Managing insulin	27	23.5
Problem solving (especially around blood glucose, highs and lows, sick days)	29	25.2
Being psychically active	31	27.0
Attending my medical appointments	21	18.3
Other <sup>a</sup>	10	8.7

 Table 3. Diabetes self-management tasks participants find most difficult (n=115).

<sup>a</sup>Other responses included remembering to administer insulin, needles, carbohydrate counting, being in unexpected situations unprepared, correcting highs, managing alcohol, recording blood glucose levels, and the social effects.



## Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study aimed to investigate the perceived role mHealth can play in supporting young people to manage their diabetes and to inform the development of a self-management support intervention for this population. Overall, results indicated interest in mHealth for supporting diabetes self-management and provides further support for mobile phones to deliver self-management support in this population group because of high access. In addition, the survey highlighted that although young adults were confident in their ability to manage their diabetes, there was strong interest in learning more about aspects of diabetes management.

As expected, mobile phone, and in particular smartphone, ownership in this population was high, although more than one-third of the respondents did not have consistent access to Internet or data on their device. Because of the demanding and continuous nature of diabetes self-management, tools to support this group need to take data access into consideration. A downside of many of the currently available apps is the need for the user to have ongoing Internet or data to access many of the apps' functionalities. Apps designed to be used offline, therefore avoiding the need for ongoing data or Internet access, can require greater storage capacity on the phone to download the app and this can be a barrier for those with lower-level devices that typically have smaller storage capacity.

Contrary to expectations, use of currently available apps was low in this group, particularly in Māori and Pacific Islander respondents. The lack of awareness of available apps as well as a perception that these would not be of use contribute to the low utilization of the most accessible mHealth tools for this population. The use of apps by participants for insulin calculations is of concern in light of research showing that most insulin calculation apps could be putting patients at risk of harm by providing no protection for incorrect insulin dosage recommendations [40]. A common use of apps in this study was for the collection and tracking of data, which, owing to the members of this population commonly having their phone with them and turned on at all times, is ideal. The privacy of this information was highlighted in a recent letter in the Journal of the American Medical Association on the lack of privacy policies in diabetes apps [46]. They reported that 81% of the diabetes apps investigated did not have privacy policies and, of those that did, many of the provisions did not actually protect the user's privacy. Health care professionals have the potential to play a key role in increasing the awareness of apps and recommending that patients choose guideline-based and secure apps to increase safety.

A strong interest in the use of SMS text messaging for diabetes self-management support was observed, particularly among those with lower confidence to manage their condition. Previous research has shown that as beliefs in the ability to maintain a healthy lifestyle increased, the need for support through SMS text messaging decreased [47]. Therefore, designing SMS text messaging interventions for those with lower confidence in their ability to manage their condition may be of greater pertinence and more positively received than for those already confident in their ability to manage their diabetes.

Of particular interest to participants was the use of SMS text messaging for providing motivation, reminders, and diabetes self-management tips. Nearly half the respondents reported that remembering to test their blood glucose was the part of their diabetes management that they found most difficult. Although the use of continuous glucose sensors, which have the option of setting high and low alerts, provides a solution, cost is currently a major barrier to widespread use of this technology [48]. Therefore, SMS text messaging is an attractive option to provide testing reminders because of the instant delivery as well as the low patient cost and high accessibility and reach of this type of mHealth tool [49].

This study highlights key factors that need to be considered when designing SMS text messaging-based diabetes self-management support, including the potential for messages to be annoying, to be unnecessary, or to not be personal enough. Therefore, future development of tools for this group needs to be tailored and personalized, rather than a "one size fits all" approach. Although it has been previously reported that young adults with diabetes have differing priorities from their health care team, our results indicate that nearly two-thirds were interested in learning more about diabetes. mHealth could provide the ideal medium for supporting learning as it can be personalized, nonconfrontational, and delivered at the time and place that it is needed and wanted.

Several limitations of the study should be noted. The response rate, although largely reflective of the wider population, was low, limiting the generalizability of the results. It is likely that those who did respond may have more interest in mHealth and therefore actual engagement with this type of tool may be even lower in the wider population. All respondents to the survey completed it online with none requesting to complete it by paper or phone. Although the alternatives were offered, it may be that those without Internet access were less likely to take part, biasing the sample to a more technological group. In addition, the self-report and cross-sectional design of the study are key limitations, as is the sex distribution of the sample differing from the target population. Although this study investigated the use of apps in this population, it did not assess how the population was using them and for how long. It is important that research into mHealth tools for this population assesses the degree of engagement, including intensity and duration, to ensure tools are designed to meet their needs and improve outcomes.

#### Conclusions

This study provides valuable insight into the engagement of young adults with type 1 diabetes with currently available mHealth tools, as well as providing insight into how future mHealth interventions can be designed to meet their need. The input of the end users regarding their use and preferences for mHealth tools provided by this survey will allow for the development of a more relevant and a potentially more efficacious intervention.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank the study participants. The study was funded in part by an Elizabeth Ewing Memorial Scholarship and University of Auckland Postgraduate Research Student Support.

#### **Authors' Contributions**

All authors contributed to the study concept, design, and procedures. RD obtained ethical approval, collected the data, analyzed the results, and drafted the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. Adeghate E, Schattner P, Dunn E. An update on the etiology and epidemiology of diabetes mellitus. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2006 Nov;1084:1-29. [doi: 10.1196/annals.1372.029] [Medline: 17151290]
- Devendra D, Liu E, Eisenbarth GS. Type 1 diabetes: recent developments. BMJ 2004 Mar 27;328(7442):750-754 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1136/bmj.328.7442.750] [Medline: 15044291]
- Joshy G, Simmons D. Epidemiology of diabetes in New Zealand: revisit to a changing landscape. N Z Med J 2006 Jun 02;119(1235):U1999. [Medline: <u>16751823</u>]
- 4. Derraik JG, Reed PW, Jefferies C, Cutfield SW, Hofman PL, Cutfield WS. Increasing incidence and age at diagnosis among children with type 1 diabetes mellitus over a 20-year period in Auckland (New Zealand). PLoS One 2012;7(2):e32640 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0032640] [Medline: 22389717]
- Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. Effect of intensive diabetes treatment on the development and progression of long-term complications in adolescents with insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus: Diabetes Control and Complications Trial. Diabetes Control and Complications Trial Research Group. J Pediatr 1994 Aug;125(2):177-188. [Medline: 8040759]
- White NH, Cleary PA, Dahms W, Goldstein D, Malone J, Tamborlane WV, Diabetes Control Complications Trial (DCCT)/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions Complications (EDIC) Research Group. Beneficial effects of intensive therapy of diabetes during adolescence: outcomes after the conclusion of the Diabetes Control and Complications Trial (DCCT). J Pediatr 2001 Dec;139(6):804-812. [Medline: <u>11743505</u>]
- Nathan D, Cleary P, Backlund J, Genuth S, Lachin J, Orchard T, Diabetes Control Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study Research Group. Intensive diabetes treatment and cardiovascular disease in patients with type 1 diabetes. N Engl J Med 2005 Dec 22;353(25):2643-2653 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa052187] [Medline: 16371630]
- 8. Nathan DM, Diabetes Control Complications Trial/Epidemiology of Diabetes Interventions Complications (DCCT/EDIC) Study Research Group. The diabetes control and complications trial/epidemiology of diabetes interventions and complications study at 30 years: overview. Diabetes Care 2014;37(1):9-16 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc13-2112] [Medline: 24356592]
- 9. American Diabetes Association: Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes?2013. Standards of Medical Care in Diabetes 2013. Diabetes Care 2013;36(Supplement 1):S11-S66. [doi: 10.2337/dc13-S011]
- Karter AJ, Ackerson LM, Darbinian JA, D'Agostino RB, Ferrara A, Liu J, et al. Self-monitoring of blood glucose levels and glycemic control: the Northern California Kaiser Permanente Diabetes registry. Am J Med 2001 Jul;111(1):1-9. [Medline: <u>11448654</u>]
- Du Pasquier-Fediaevsky L, Chwalow AJ, Tubiana-Rufi N. Is the relationship between adherence behaviours and glycaemic control bi-directional at adolescence? A longitudinal cohort study. Diabet Med 2005 Apr;22(4):427-433. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01429.x] [Medline: 15787668]
- 12. Kyngäs HA. Predictors of good adherence of adolescents with diabetes (insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus). Chronic Illn 2007 Mar;3(1):20-28. [Medline: <u>18072695</u>]
- 13. Law GU, Kelly TP, Huey D, Summerbell C. Self-management and well-being in adolescents with diabetes mellitus: do illness representations play a regulatory role? J Adolesc Health 2002 Oct;31(4):381-385. [Medline: 12359385]
- Levine BS, Anderson BJ, Butler DA, Antisdel JE, Brackett J, Laffel LM. Predictors of glycemic control and short-term adverse outcomes in youth with type 1 diabetes. J Pediatr 2001 Aug;139(2):197-203. [doi: <u>10.1067/mpd.2001.116283</u>] [Medline: <u>11487743</u>]
- 15. Guo J, Whittemore R, He GP. The relationship between diabetes self-management and metabolic control in youth with type 1 diabetes: an integrative review. J Adv Nurs 2011 Nov;67(11):2294-2310. [doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2011.05697.x] [Medline: 21615460]
- 16. Wysocki T, Hough B, Ward K, Green LB. Diabetes mellitus in the transition to adulthood: adjustment, self-care, and health status. J Dev Behav Pediatr 1992 Jun;13(3):194-201. [Medline: <u>1613115</u>]

- 17. de Silva D. Helping people help themselves: A review of the evidence considering whether it is worthwile to support self-management. London: The Health Foundation; 2011.
- Cradock S, Cranston IC. Type 1 diabetes education and care: time for a rethink? Diabet Med 2012 Feb;29(2):159-160. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03518.x] [Medline: 22060192]
- Christie D. Current recommendations and considerations for psychosocial and psychoeducational support of adolescents with Type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Management 2013 Mar;3(2):161-169. [doi: <u>10.2217/dmt.12.90</u>]
- 20. WHO. mHealth: New horizons for health through mobile technologies: second global survey on eHealth URL: <u>http://www.who.int/goe/publications/goe\_mhealth\_web.pdf</u> [accessed 2015-01-14] [WebCite Cache ID 6VaF4Zrjl]
- 21. Free C, Phillips G, Galli L, Watson L, Felix L, Edwards P, et al. The effectiveness of mobile-health technology-based health behaviour change or disease management interventions for health care consumers: a systematic review. PLoS Med 2013;10(1):e1001362 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001362] [Medline: 23349621]
- Liang X, Wang Q, Yang X, Cao J, Chen J, Mo X, et al. Effect of mobile phone intervention for diabetes on glycaemic control: a meta-analysis. Diabet Med 2011 Apr;28(4):455-463. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2010.03180.x</u>] [Medline: <u>21392066</u>]
- Militello LK, Kelly SA, Melnyk BM. Systematic review of text-messaging interventions to promote healthy behaviors in pediatric and adolescent populations: implications for clinical practice and research. Worldviews Evid Based Nurs 2012 Apr;9(2):66-77. [doi: 10.1111/j.1741-6787.2011.00239.x] [Medline: 22268959]
- 24. Court J, Cameron F, Berg-Kelly K, Swift PG. Diabetes in adolescence. Pediatr Diabetes 2009 Sep;10 Suppl 12:185-194. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1399-5448.2009.00586.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19754629</u>]
- Hanauer D, Wentzell K, Laffel N, Laffel LM. Computerized Automated Reminder Diabetes System (CARDS): e-mail and SMS cell phone text messaging reminders to support diabetes management. Diabetes Technol Ther 2009 Feb;11(2):99-106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2008.0022] [Medline: 19848576]
- 26. Franklin V, Greene A, Waller A, Greene S, Pagliari C. Patients' engagement with "Sweet Talk" a text messaging support system for young people with diabetes. J Med Internet Res 2008 Jun 30;10(2):e20 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.962] [Medline: 18653444]
- 27. Harris M, Hood K, Mulvaney SA. Pumpers, skypers, surfers and texters: technology to improve the management of diabetes in teenagers. Diabetes Obes Metab 2012 Nov;14(11):967-972. [doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1326.2012.01599.x] [Medline: 22443170]
- Krishna S, Boren SA. Diabetes self-management care via cell phone: a systematic review. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2008 May;2(3):509-517 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>19885219</u>]
- 29. Herbert L, Owen V, Pascarella L, Streisand R. Text message interventions for children and adolescents with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review. Diabetes Technol Ther 2013 May;15(5):362-370. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2012.0291] [Medline: 23550554]
- Sutcliffe P, Martin S, Sturt J, Powell J, Griffiths F, Adams A, et al. Systematic review of communication technologies to promote access and engagement of young people with diabetes into healthcare. BMC Endocr Disord 2011 Jan 06;11(1):1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1472-6823-11-1] [Medline: 21210964]
- 31. Rami B, Popow C, Horn W, Waldhoer T, Schober E. Telemedical support to improve glycemic control in adolescents with type 1 diabetes mellitus. Eur J Pediatr 2006 Oct;165(10):701-705. [doi: 10.1007/s00431-006-0156-6] [Medline: 16670859]
- Franklin V, Waller A, Pagliari C, Greene SA. A randomized controlled trial of Sweet Talk, a text-messaging system to support young people with diabetes. Diabet Med 2006 Dec;23(12):1332-1338. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2006.01989.x] [Medline: 17116184]
- 33. Mulvaney S, Rothman R, Dietrich M, Wallston K, Grove E, Elasy T, et al. Using mobile phones to measure adolescent diabetes adherence. Health Psychol 2012 Jan;31(1):43-50 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1037/a0025543] [Medline: 21967662]
- Farmer A, Gibson O, Tarassenko L, Neil A. A systematic review of telemedicine interventions to support blood glucose self-monitoring in diabetes. Diabet Med 2005 Oct;22(10):1372-1378. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01627.x</u>] [Medline: <u>16176199</u>]
- Han Y, Faulkner M, Fritz H, Fadoju D, Muir A, Abowd G, et al. A Pilot Randomized Trial of Text-Messaging for Symptom Awareness and Diabetes Knowledge in Adolescents With Type 1 Diabetes. J Pediatr Nurs 2015;30(6):850-861 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pedn.2015.02.002] [Medline: 25720675]
- 36. Bin-Abbas B, Jabbari M, Al-Fares A, El-Dali A, Al-Orifi F. Effect of mobile phone short text messages on glycaemic control in children with type 1 diabetes. J Telemed Telecare 2014;20(3):153-156. [Medline: 24643953]
- Kirwan M, Vandelanotte C, Fenning A, Duncan M. Diabetes self-management smartphone application for adults with type 1 diabetes: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2013 Nov 13;15(11):e235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.2588] [Medline: 24225149]
- Peterson A. Improving type 1 diabetes management with mobile tools: a systematic review. J Diabetes Sci Technol 2014 Jul;8(4):859-864 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/1932296814529885] [Medline: 24876414]
- 39. Humble J, Tolley E, Krukowski R, Womack C, Motley T, Bailey JE. Use of and interest in mobile health for diabetes self-care in vulnerable populations. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jan;22(1):32-38. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15586641] [Medline: 26026179]
- 40. Huckvale K, Adomaviciute S, Prieto JT, Leow M, Car J. Smartphone apps for calculating insulin dose: a systematic assessment. BMC Med 2015 May 06;13:106 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0314-7] [Medline: 25943590]

- 41. Whittaker R, Merry S, Dorey E, Maddison R. A development and evaluation process for mHealth interventions: examples from New Zealand. J Health Commun 2012;17 Suppl 1:11-21. [doi: <u>10.1080/10810730.2011.649103</u>] [Medline: <u>22548594</u>]
- Abroms LC, Whittaker R, Free C, Mendel Van Alstyne J, Schindler-Ruwisch JM. Developing and Pretesting a Text Messaging Program for Health Behavior Change: Recommended Steps. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2015 Dec 21;3(4):e107 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.4917] [Medline: 26690917]
- 43. Mulvaney SA, Ritterband LM, Bosslet L. Mobile intervention design in diabetes: review and recommendations. Curr Diab Rep 2011 Dec;11(6):486-493. [doi: 10.1007/s11892-011-0230-y] [Medline: 21960031]
- 44. Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of Web surveys: the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res 2004 Sep 29;6(3):e34 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34] [Medline: 15471760]
- 45. Ministry of Health. Ethnicity Data Protocols for the Health and Disability Sector. Wellington: Ministry of Health; 2004.
- 46. Blenner SR, Köllmer M, Rouse AJ, Daneshvar N, Williams C, Andrews LB. Privacy Policies of Android Diabetes Apps and Sharing of Health Information. JAMA 2016 Mar 08;315(10):1051-1052. [doi: <u>10.1001/jama.2015.19426</u>] [Medline: <u>26954415</u>]
- 47. Militello LK, Melnyk BM, Hekler E, Small L, Jacobson D. Correlates of Healthy Lifestyle Beliefs and Behaviors in Parents of Overweight or Obese Preschool Children Before and After a Cognitive Behavioral Therapy Intervention With Text Messaging. J Pediatr Health Care 2016;30(3):252-260. [doi: 10.1016/j.pedhc.2015.08.002] [Medline: 26429638]
- 48. Rodbard D. Continuous Glucose Monitoring: A Review of Successes, Challenges, and Opportunities. Diabetes Technol Ther 2016 Feb;18 Suppl 2:S23-213 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1089/dia.2015.0417] [Medline: 26784127]
- 49. Cole-Lewis H, Kershaw T. Text messaging as a tool for behavior change in disease prevention and management. Epidemiol Rev 2010;32:56-69 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1093/epirev/mxq004] [Medline: 20354039]

#### Abbreviations

**CHERRIES:** Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys **mHealth:** mobile health **SMS:** short message service

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 22.12.16; peer-reviewed by M Karunanithi, L Militello, S Kelly, Y Liu; comments to author 21.01.17; revised version received 26.01.17; accepted 31.01.17; published 15.02.17.

Please cite as:

Dobson R, Whittaker R, Murphy R, Khanolkar M, Miller S, Naylor J, Maddison R The Use of Mobile Health to Deliver Self-Management Support to Young People With Type 1 Diabetes: A Cross-Sectional Survey JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e4 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e4/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.7221 PMID:30291057

©Rosie Dobson, Robyn Whittaker, Rinki Murphy, Manish Khanolkar, Steven Miller, Joanna Naylor, Ralph Maddison. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 15.02.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Original Paper**

## Phone Messaging to Prompt Physical Activity and Social Support Among Low-Income Latino Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Pilot Study

## Magaly Ramirez<sup>1</sup>, PhD; Shinyi Wu<sup>2,3,4</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>Fielding School of Public Health, Department of Health Policy and Management, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Suzanne Dworak-Peck School of Social Work, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>3</sup>Viterbi School of Engineering, Epstein Department of Industrial and Systems Engineering, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

<sup>4</sup>Edward R. Roybal Institute on Aging, University of Southern California, Los Angeles, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Magaly Ramirez, PhD Fielding School of Public Health Department of Health Policy and Management University of California, Los Angeles 650 Charles Young Dr S, 31-293A Los Angeles, CA, 90095-1772 United States Phone: 1 310 825 2594 Fax: 1 310 825 3317 Email: ramirezma@ucla.edu

## Abstract

**Background:** Given disparities in diabetes prevalence, receipt of diabetes education, diabetes knowledge, and self-management behaviors among Latinos, there is a need to provide education and ongoing support to this population. Phone-based interventions have the potential to reach and engage both patients and their family members and friends.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to investigate the feasibility, perceived usefulness, and potential effectiveness of a short text or voice message (STVM) intervention to activate (1) physical activity (PA) behavior change among urban, low-income Latino adults with type 2 diabetes and (2) supportive behaviors by their family members and friends.

**Methods:** A 12-week pilot study randomized 42 participants recruited in person from a safety-net ambulatory care clinic in Los Angeles into one of the 3 study arms: control, phone messaging (PM), and phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends (PM+FF). All participants were prompted to set PA goals and to self-monitor PA behavior using pedometers and walking logs. PM and PM+FF participants received STVMs with reminders to review goals and self-monitor, PA behavior change education, and feedback on performance. Participants in the PM+FF arm also had their family members and friends receiving STVMs with suggestions for how they could support the participant's PA behavior change efforts. Participants completed semistructured assessments in person at baseline, 6 weeks, and 12 weeks. Outcomes were PA (steps/day) and perceived social support from family members and friends.

**Results:** Among PM and PM+FF participants, those who opted to receive text messages (short message service, SMS) responded to 62.7% (128/204) of SMS text messages requiring a response while those who opted to receive voice messages responded 30% (12/40) of the time. Participants perceived guidance in self-regulation as useful, particularly self-monitoring, goal setting, self-instruction, feedback, and social support. All participants increased PA at 6 weeks, but only the PM and PM+FF arms increased PA at 12 weeks. All study arms experienced an increase in perceived social support from family members and friends at 6 weeks, but only those in the PM+FF arm had an increase in the perception of social support at 12 weeks.

**Conclusion:** Designing an STVM intervention based on self-regulation techniques is feasible and perceived as useful by participants. The STVM intervention has the potential to improve PA in terms of daily steps and perceived social support from family members and friends.

**Trial Registration:** Clinicaltrials.gov NCT02850770; https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT02850770 (Archived by WebCite at http://www.webcitation.org/query?id=1495567756845570)

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e8) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7063

#### **KEYWORDS**

short message service; reminder system; pilot project; exercise; Hispanic Americans; type 2 diabetes mellitus; self-care; social support

### Introduction

Latinos in the United States have a 66% higher risk of developing diabetes and are 1.5 times more likely to die from the disease compared with non-Latino whites [1]. Education can effectively prepare individuals with knowledge, skills, and abilities necessary to perform the diabetes self-care behaviors that will improve glycemic control and reduce the risk of complications [2-5], but Latinos are less likely to receive education compared with non-Latino whites [6]. Deficiencies in knowledge about diabetes have been observed among low-income, predominantly Latino patients in a safety-net health care setting [7]. Additionally, compared with non-Latino whites, Latinos report worse engagement in diabetes self-care behaviors [6]. For example, a significantly lower proportion of Mexican Americans than whites with type 2 diabetes (T2D) report getting the recommended levels of physical activity (PA) (28% vs 32%, respectively) [8].

Given the aforementioned disparities among Latinos with diabetes, there is a need to provide education and ongoing support to this population. Automated text and voice messaging has enormous potential to target all aspects of diabetes self-management and lifestyle behavior modification and reach many people at a relatively low cost [9]. In theory, these tools can promote effective self-care behaviors, assist with monitoring changes in health and health behaviors, and enhance communication between patients and potential supports for their diabetes self-management [10]. A systematic review of reviews found that SMS text-messaging (short message service, SMS) interventions significantly improve health outcomes and health behaviors of individuals with diabetes [9]. The interventions targeted multiple aspects of diabetes self-management at once, but tended to focus on blood glucose monitoring. Lifestyle behavior modification, such as engagement in PA, which Latinos perceive as one of the most difficult aspects of diabetes self-care [11], perhaps because of a lack of behavioral activation or knowledge about its importance [7], were generally not emphasized. Extensive evidence shows that PA plays an important role in risk reduction and control of T2D [12-18]. In addition, only 1 of 16 reviewed interventions for individuals with diabetes included Latinos. The only study, led by Arora et al, found that a unidirectional text-messaging intervention targeting Latinos with poorly controlled diabetes in an emergency department did not produce significant improvements in blood glucose [19,20]. Perhaps these findings were observed because of the study population (emergency department patients with poorly controlled diabetes represent a high-risk group [21]) or because of the intervention design (it did not incorporate interactive elements such as assessments and feedback [22]).

Overall, there is limited evidence for the feasibility, acceptance, and effectiveness of interactive text and voice messaging interventions to promote PA among Latino adults with T2D in order to improve their diabetes outcomes.

In addition to text and voice messaging, another potential source of education and ongoing support are family members and friends. A qualitative study found that Latino adults with diabetes desired an increase in support from family members, and that family members were eager to provide support, but did not know how [11]. Family members of low-income, predominantly Latino patients with diabetes in a safety-net health care setting have demonstrated poor knowledge about diabetes [7]. Text and voice messaging interventions may leverage on the willingness of family members and friends to learn about the disease and how to provide support. In an intervention to support diabetes self-management among Spanish-speaking patients, family members and friends were called and emailed to get notified of patients' health status and receive instructions for how to provide support [23,24], but the impact of their support on health outcomes or health behaviors was not reported. In general, it is unknown whether it is feasible to reach and engage family members and friends through technology-based interventions and what is the impact on patient outcomes.

Furthermore, few text-messaging interventions to promote healthy behaviors are designed with reference to behavior change theory [9]. Theoretically informed interventions are expected to be more effective than those that are not as they target causal determinants of behavior and behavior change [25]. In this study, we designed a short text or voice message (STVM) intervention targeting both Latino adults with T2D and their family members and friends. The intervention was based self-regulation techniques derived from the Social Cognitive Theory (SCT) [26] and patient preferences for how to operationalize these techniques [27]. The techniques were as follows: prompting goal setting, prompting self-monitoring, providing feedback on performance, and prompting social support. SCT posits that a person can achieve self-regulation by observing the behavior, identifying attainable short- and long-term behavior change goals, receiving information about the recorded behavior, and receiving encouraging support from another person. Meta-regression analyses of interventions to promote PA and healthy eating indicate these self-regulation techniques are associated with positive outcomes [28,29].

Given the potential of phone-based interventions to reach and engage both patients and family members and friends [9,10,23,24], the objective of this study was to investigate the feasibility, perceived usefulness, and potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention that was designed based on

XSL•FO RenderX

self-regulation techniques and patient preferences to activate (1) PA behavior change (steps/day) among urban, low-income Latino adults with T2D and (2) supportive behaviors by family members and friends.

## Methods

#### **Ethical Considerations**

The Health Sciences Institutional Review Board at the University of Southern California approved all study procedures. Eligible participants provided written informed consent.

#### **Study Design**

We conducted a pilot study (ClinicalTrials.gov NCT02850770) that randomized participants into one of three study arms: control, phone messaging (PM), and phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends (PM+FF). The PM versus control comparison was intended to provide insight into the potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention for improving PA behavior change. The PM+FF versus PM comparison was intended to provide insight into the potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention for improving supportive behaviors by family members and friends. The study consisted of a 7-day baseline period, followed by a 12-week intervention period. In-person assessments were conducted after the baseline period, at 6 weeks, and at 12 weeks. Participants received a US \$10 gift card for each completed assessment. Family members and friends received a US \$10 gift card at the end of the study.

#### Setting and Recruitment of Participants

Participants were recruited from a diabetes management program (DMP) at an ambulatory care clinic of the Los Angeles County Department of Health Services, a public safety-net health care system. After routine clinic visits, DMP clinicians referred patients to a research assistant (RA) who was hired by the study and was not affiliated with the clinic. The RA explained the study to patients, screened for eligibility, and consented interested patients. Patients eligible to participate were of age 18 years or older, had a diagnosis of T2D, did not have a medical condition restricting participation in a walking program (judged by DMP clinicians before referral), preferred to speak English or Spanish, self-identified as Latino, had the ability to walk without the use of assistive devices, were available to attend 3 interviews at the clinic, did not have plans to move away from

the region or be out of the country during the subsequent 3 months, and possessed a phone that could receive regular STVMs for 3 months.

Eligible participants received an OMRON HJ-321 Tri-Axis Pedometer (OMRON HEALTHCARE Co., Ltd., Japan) and were instructed to identify a family member or friend willing to participate in the study if need be. After the 7-day baseline period, participants were dismissed from the study if there were fewer than 3 consecutive days of data stored in the pedometer with at least 10 hours of self-reported pedometer use per day [30], the average daily steps exceeded 8800 (indicating sufficient PA) [31], or if they were unable to identify a family member or friend willing to participate in the study. Only participants who were continuing the study after the baseline period were assigned to a study arm.

#### **Intervention Procedures**

Findings from our study of patient preferences were used to inform intervention components [27], which are summarized in Table 1. Participants in all study arms were encouraged to use the pedometers and walking logs to self-monitor daily steps. The walking logs contained instructions to set goals for gradually increasing daily steps during the course of 12 weeks until reaching 10,000 steps per day.

Participants in the PM and PM+FF arms received support via STVMs (at least 4 per week). On Sundays, participants received an STVM reminding them to review daily step goals and self-monitor using pedometers and walking logs. On Tuesdays and Thursdays, participants received a unique STVM with educational content largely adapted from public material available on the websites of the American Diabetes Association, National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases, and Healthy People 2020. On Saturdays, participants received an STVM asking them to report on their perceived PA performance. If participants replied, they received another STVM providing tailored feedback. Participants in the PM+FF arm had a family member or friend receiving 2 unique STVMs per week (on Tuesdays and Thursdays) that suggested things they could do or say to support the participant's PA behavior change efforts [32]. Unless there was a scheduling conflict, all STVMs were delivered at 9:00 AM on the aforementioned days of the week. Table 2 contains an example of each type of STVM delivered to participants and family members and friends.



Table 1. Intervention components for each study arm.

Intervention components	Control	PM <sup>a</sup>	PM+FF <sup>b</sup>
Self-monitoring (pedometers and walking logs)	1	<i>✓</i>	
Goal setting (recommended 10,000 steps/day)	1	✓	$\checkmark$
Support via STVM <sup>c</sup>		1	1
Reminder to review goals and self-monitor (1 STVM/week)			
PA <sup>d</sup> behavior change education (2 STVMs/week)			
Reporting on PA performance (1 STVM/week)			
Feedback on PA performance (1 STVM/week) <sup>e</sup>			
Support from a family member or friend (2 STVMs/week)			1

<sup>a</sup>PM: phone messaging.

<sup>b</sup>PM+FF: phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends.

<sup>c</sup>STVM: short text or voice message.

<sup>d</sup>PA: physical activity.

<sup>e</sup>Delivered only if participant reported on PA performance.

Table 2.	Examples	of short	text or	voice	messages.
	Direction	01 011010			messages

Recipient	STVM <sup>a</sup> type	Example
Participants in PM <sup>b</sup> and PM+FF <sup>c</sup> arms	Reminder to review goals and self-monitor PA <sup>d</sup>	Remember to review your daily step goals, wear your pedometer, and fill out your walking log.
	PA behavior change education	Brisk walking can lower your blood sugar and improve your A1C. Your doctor may instruct you to take fewer diabetes pills or less insulin.
		Brisk walking will leave you feeling better so you can do activities you enjoy, such as spending quality time with family and friends.
		Walk first thing in the morning before your day gets too busy. If you don't have 30 minutes, look for three 10-minute periods.
	Reporting on PA performance	How well did you do with your daily step goals in the past 7 days? Reply with a number from 1 (not well at all) to 5 (excellent).
	Feedback on PA performance	If response was 1, 2, or 3: Walking needs to be a regular habit to produce benefits. Make an effort to improve your walking in the next 7 days.
		If response was 4 or 5: Great! Keep up your hard work, and you will see that it will pay off. Increase your daily goal by 1000 steps.
Family members and friends of participants in PM+FF arm	Supportive behaviors	Brisk walking can help lower the patient's blood sugar to keep diabetes under control. Offer your support by joining them on a brisk walk as often as you can.

<sup>a</sup>STVM: short text or voice message.

<sup>b</sup>PM: phone messaging.

<sup>c</sup>PM+FF: phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends.

<sup>d</sup>PA: physical activity.

Each person receiving STVMs indicated preference for message type (voice or text) and language (English or Spanish). All messages were written in English, translated to Spanish by a native Spanish speaker, and reviewed by a second Spanish speaker for accuracy. All voice messages were voice recorded in English and Spanish by a bilingual Spanish-English speaking woman who did not otherwise have contact with participants.

#### **Study Measures**

This study assessed technical feasibility, perceived usefulness, and potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention. Baseline,

RenderX

6-week, and 12-week assessment questions are available in Multimedia Appendix 1.

#### **Technical Feasibility**

Technical feasibility was assessed by examining receipt of STVMs, engagement with STVMs requiring a response, barriers to receipt of and engagement with STVMs, and pedometer usability. For receipt of STVMs, data on the receipt of voice messages was obtained from the service provider that delivered the voice messages. An individual receiving voice messages was considered to have received an STVM if there was a live answer or if the message was left in a voicemail. Data on the

receipt of text messages were obtained from participants' self-report during the 6- and 12-week assessments. For engagement with STVMs, participants were considered engaged if they replied to STVMs requiring a response. For barriers to receipt of and engagement with STVMs and perceived pedometer usability, participants were asked during the 6- and 12-week assessments to explain any problems they had with receiving STVMs, replying to STVMs, or using pedometers.

#### **Perceived Usefulness**

Perceived usefulness was assessed by asking participants during the 6- and 12-week assessments to what extent they perceived the program to enhance their ability to make PA behavior changes. More specifically, the assessment questions inquired about participants' perceptions of setting PA goals, self-monitoring and reporting on PA performance, receiving educational and feedback STVMs, and the idea of using STVMs to communicate with patients about PA behavior change. For participants in the PM+FF arm, the questions also inquired about supportive behaviors exhibited by family members and friends since the start of the program as well as participants' perceptions of the idea of using STVMs to communicate with family members and friends about their PA behavior change efforts.

#### **Potential Effectiveness**

Potential effectiveness was assessed by measuring PA and perceived social support from family members and friends at baseline, 6 weeks, and 12 weeks. PA was used to assess the potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention for improving PA behavior change. To measure PA, average steps per day in the past 7 days were obtained from the pedometer 7-day data storage. Steps per day were considered an appropriate measure of PA in this study because the intervention specifically promoted walking. Perceived social support from family members and friends was used to assess the potential effectiveness of the STVM intervention for improving supportive behaviors by these individuals. To measure perceived social support from family members and friends, a modified version of the Social Support and Exercise Survey [32] was used. Participants were asked to evaluate how often they perceived supportive behaviors from either family members or friends. Participants responded on a Likert scale from 1 (none) to 5 (very often), with higher numbers indicating higher perceived support.

#### Sample Size

The sample size was 42 total participants, 14 per study arm. It was based on a rule of thumb, which is an accepted method for setting sample sizes in pilot studies [33]. We used the rule of thumb of 12 participants per group put forth by Julious et al [34], but we increased the sample size to 14 per group to anticipate having about 12 participants per group complete the study. Our experience in conducting studies at the DMP clinic led us to expect about a 16% dropout rate.

#### **Randomization and Blinding**

Participants were randomized with equal probability into one of the 3 study groups. A Web-based statistical computing program was used to generate a simple randomization schedule. The RA assigned participants to a study arm via opaque sealed envelopes marked according to the randomization schedule. Participants, the RA who administered all assessments, and the data analysts were not blinded.

#### Analysis

To analyze participants' qualitative responses to technical feasibility questions, the authors used the following a priori codes that directly reflected the technical feasibility measures: barriers to receipt of STVMs, barriers to engagement with STVMs, and pedometer usability. Excerpts in each code were then sorted to identify themes. The most salient themes are presented in the findings. To analyze participants' qualitative responses to perceived usefulness questions, the authors used the following a priori codes that were derived largely from self-regulation techniques [35]: ongoing behavior change support, self-monitoring, goal setting, self-instruction, reporting on PA performance, receiving feedback, and social support. Social support was further divided into subcodes representing broad types of supportive behaviors: instrumental, emotional, and informational. Excerpts in each code were then sorted to identify themes. The most salient themes are presented in the findings. The first author coded the data independently and then discussed the coding with the second author to reach consensus for final coding. Dedoose version 7.1.3 was used to manage and code the qualitative data. Descriptive statistics are provided for receipt of and engagement with STVMs requiring a response.

To analyze potential effectiveness, participants' average steps per day were computed for consecutive days (at least 3) wherein participants wore the pedometer for at least 10 hours per day; otherwise, their daily step counts were not included in the analysis. Participants' perceived social support from family members and friends was computed by averaging the Likert-scale points across items in the scale. Means and standard deviations for the 3 study arms were calculated for each outcome measure. Analysis of variance was used to assess differences in means among study arms. Paired *t* tests were used to assess differences in means within study arms. *T* tests were used to assess differences in the difference in means between study arms. All analyses were conducted at the .05 significance level using STATA version 14.2.

## Results

Participants were recruited from April to August 2015, and follow-up assessments were conducted until November 2015. Figure 1 displays the participant flow diagram. Table 3 presents participant characteristics; there were no statistically significant differences in participant characteristics among the three study arms.



Figure 1. Participant flow diagram.



Table 3. Participant characteristics. There were no statistically significant differences among study arms at the .05 level of significance.

Characteristics	Total (N=42)	Control (N=14)	PM <sup>a</sup> (N=14)	PM+FF <sup>b</sup> (N=14)
Gender (female), n (%)	28 (67)	9 (64)	7 (50)	12 (86)
Age in years, mean (SD) <sup>c</sup>	52 (9)	53 (8)	53 (9)	50 (9)
Spanish as preferred language, n (%)	32 (76)	10 (71)	12 (86)	10 (71)
Educational attainment, n (%)				
Less than high school	22 (52)	8 (57)	5 (36)	9 (64)
High school graduate	4 (10)	1 (7)	2 (14)	1 (7)
More than high school	16 (38)	5 (36)	7 (50)	4 (29)
Years since T2D <sup>d</sup> diagnosis, mean (SD)	12 (9)	12 (7)	11 (11)	12 (8)
Phone with text-messaging capability, n (%)	36 (86)	12 (86)	11 (79)	13 (93)
Prefer voice instead of text messages, n (%)	11 (39)		6 (43)	5 (36)

<sup>a</sup>PM: phone messaging.

<sup>b</sup>PM+FF: phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends.

<sup>c</sup>SD: standard deviation.

<sup>d</sup>T2D: type 2 diabetes.

XSL•FO RenderX

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e8/

#### **Technical Feasibility**

In terms of receipt of STVMs and engagement with STVMs requiring a response, all participants reported receiving STVMs throughout the 12-week study. Participants receiving text messages reported receiving an average of 4 or 5 messages per week and responded to 62.7% (128/204) of messages requiring a response. Participants receiving voice messages were reached on 91.6% (308/336) of calls and provided a response during 30% (12/40) of calls that were answered and required a response.

In terms of barriers to receipt of and engagement with STVMs, 18% (3/17) of participants receiving text messages reported that they did not respond to messages asking about their PA performance because they either did not understand the instructions or because they did not know how to send text messages. Similarly, since they did not understand the instructions, 29% (2/7) of participants receiving voice messages stated that they did not respond. Participants receiving voice messages also said that they were too busy to respond (2/7, 29%), were not given enough time to respond before the call ended (1/7, 14%), or were confused after hearing an English voice on the call (default, non-customizable message giving instructions for how to opt out of calls; 3/7, 43%).

In terms of pedometer usability, 13% (3/24) of participants stated that they did not wear the pedometers consistently because the pedometers would fall off the clips; 17% (4/24) reported having difficulty reading the text on the pedometer screen and navigating the various screen display options; 13% (3/24) admitted at the end of the study that although they wore the pedometer each day, they never learned to read their steps; and 25% (6/24) stated that they were afraid of accidentally pushing the "wrong" button on the pedometer.

#### **Perceived Usefulness**

Participants described how the program enhanced their ability to make PA behavior changes, which we categorized as providing convenient and ongoing behavior change support; prompting self-monitoring, goal setting, and self-instruction; reporting on PA performance and receiving feedback; and instrumental, emotional, and informational support. Direct quotations from participants can be found in Table 4.

## Providing Convenient and Ongoing Behavior Change Support

Several participants in the PM and PM+FF arms explained that receiving STVMs was a better alternative than a clinic-based program because restrictive work hours and transportation issues would make it difficult for them to participate in the latter. In addition, according to participants, receiving regular STVMs was a good way of being reminded to stay active in between visits to the DMP clinic. Many participants stated that they preferred receiving text messages to talking to a real person because it was more convenient and because they felt more comfortable texting than speaking to a real person. However, an individual suggested that participants periodically receive a call from a real person.

#### **Prompting Self-Monitoring**

In terms of using pedometers as a self-monitoring tool, most participants in the PM and PM+FF arms viewed the devices favorably and recognized that wearing them enabled objective tracking of PA. Several participants also explained that writing their daily steps in a log allowed them to have a longer record of how much they walked because the pedometers only stored 7 days of data. According to these participants, viewing their daily steps prompted them to assess whether they were making progress toward the long-term goal of 10,000 steps per day and allowed them to discover patterns in their PA behavior.

#### **Prompting Goal Setting**

Most participants in the PM and PM+FF arms reported that having a daily step goal motivated them to walk more throughout the day. One participant, on the other hand, disliked goal setting because it was "traumatizing" not to meet the goal. Participants had mixed perceptions about the recommended long-term goal. Some were satisfied with the 10,000 daily step goal, others challenged themselves by setting an even greater goal, and other participants felt that the goal was too ambitious.

#### **Prompting Self-Instruction**

According to participants in the PM and PM+FF arms, having information about their actual PA behavior prompted them to self-instruct. After reviewing their progress, participants explained how they would reflect on how they needed to keep walking until they reached a certain step count, walk more steps the next day, or think about how walking was going to benefit their health. Participants said this type of self-instruction served as a motivation to walk more.

#### Reporting and Receiving Feedback

Participants in the PM and PM+FF arms stated that the STVMs asking them to report their PA performance prompted them to self-reflect and motivated them to improve their PA behavior in order to provide a more favorable response the next time. Participants enjoyed receiving positive feedback when they replied with a high number. Although 1 participant reported being indifferent about the feedback messages, several others reported that these messages motivated them to continue their behavior change efforts and increase their daily steps. In terms of the reporting mechanism, 1 participant liked that it was quick and easy to reply with a single number. Another participant, however, perceived this as a limitation because of the inability to explain the reason for the given response.



**Table 4.** Exemplar quotations from participants describing how they perceived the program to be useful.

Category	Exemplar
Convenient and ongoing behavior change support	"I like that I don't have to go to the clinic to get help for physical activity because I live far." <sup>a</sup> "The doctor will tell me (during a clinic visit) to walk, but then we won't discuss it again until the next visit. I like that the messages constantly remind me." <sup>a</sup>
	"If you are not home or you cannot pick up the call, the text message is saved and you can read it any time." <sup>a</sup>
Self-monitoring	"Having a pedometer keeps you from lying to yourself that you did walk enough." <sup>a</sup>
	"I found out that on Saturdays, I walk the most—that is because I go to parties and dance a lot." <sup>a</sup> "I try to see which days I had the most steps. I want to see what kinds of things I did that day that made me get a lot of steps. I noticed that on the weekends, I don't walk that much." <sup>b</sup>
Goal setting	"(Setting a goal) is a good idea because it tells me what I need to work towards." <sup>b</sup>
	"I like having goals because they motivate me to walk more. Without goals, I don't think I would walk as much as I do
	"The 10,000 steps goal is too much. I have to go walk, then rest, then walk, then rest. My back and my legs hurt because of the arthritis." <sup>a</sup>
Self-instruction	"When I don't have enough steps, I tell myself that I need to keep walking more." <sup>a</sup>
	"When I don't walk enough that day, I tell myself that I need to walk more the next day."a
	"I ask myself, 'Do I want to walk more or do I want to take insulin?"" <sup>b</sup>
Reporting and feedback	"I like reporting because it helps me to keep track of how I am doing. Each week, I try to improve so that I will give a higher number the next time." <sup>a</sup>
	"It's like someone grading you, like you did good on your test." <sup>b</sup>
	"I liked that it was so simple to reply, just one number. I didn't have to type out a long response. Even if you don't have time, you can quickly type one number." <sup>a</sup>
Instrumental support	"(My husband) constantly asks me, 'Did you walk already? If you haven't, let's eat dinner and then go.' He walks with me, and I forget that I am exercising because we begin talking." <sup>a</sup>
	"(My husband) helps me around the house so that I have time to exercise He tells me that he will watch our baby so that I could go walk with my sister I feel like our relationship has improved." <sup>a</sup>
	"(My husband) parks his car very far so that we can walk more. He takes me to go walking because he says the text messages told him to." <sup>a</sup>
Emotional support	"I like that someone is concerned and cares and takes the time to check on me. It gives me more motivation."
	"I am thankful that someone was interested in my health. I have put more effort into walking more." <sup>a</sup>
	"The messages motivate me. I don't have family so knowing that someone cares about me makes me feel special."
Informational support	"I didn't exactly know why I had to exercise. I didn't know it was beneficial for my health."b
	"Before (participating in this program), I didn't know how many steps I needed to walk each day." <sup>b</sup> "My mom says, 'You know the drill. I am going to call later to see how much you walked. Even if you don't feel like it, just get up and go around the school a few times. Just do something, and then you feel like doing more." <sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup>Quotation from a participant in the phone messaging + social support from family members and friends (PM+FF) arm. <sup>b</sup>Quotation from a participant in the phone messaging (PM) arm.

## Instrumental Support

Most participants in the PM and PM+FF arms felt that the STVMs motivated and reminded them to be active. One person described STVMs as "an alarm to go out and walk." The majority of PM+FF participants reported that family members and friends regularly reminded them to walk, offered encouraging words, inquired about how much they had been walking, or walked with them. Another common form of instrumental support from family members and friends was creating opportunities for participants to be more active; for

example, by parking vehicles farther away from destinations or by helping with household responsibilities in order to free up time for the participant.

#### **Emotional Support**

Only one PM+FF participant stated that their family member or friend was a source of emotional support—that is, the family member or friend was perceived as caring about the participant's PA behavior. On the other hand, numerous PM and PM+FF participants perceived emotional support from the receipt of STVMs from the program. They used words such as "care,"

"concerned," and "interested" to describe how the STVM messaging system "felt" about the participants' behavior change efforts and well-being.

#### **Informational Support**

Several participants from both intervention arms stated that they learned from the STVMs, for the first time, about the benefits of PA for individuals with diabetes. Many participants in the PM+FF arm also reported having received this type of information from family members and friends. Additionally, these participants described how family members and friends regularly offered ideas of where and how to be active.

#### **Potential Effectiveness**

PA (steps/day) and perceived social support from family members and friends for each study arm at Weeks 0, 6, and 12 are presented in Table 5 and Figure 2. There were no significant differences in outcomes among study arms at Week 0. The

following sections describe differences within study arms during the 6- and 12-week follow-up assessments. Unless otherwise stated, these within study arm differences were not statistically significant. In addition, differences in differences for each outcome were not statistically significant at Week 6 or Week 12.

#### **Daily Steps**

Participants in all study arms increased their PA (steps/day) from Weeks 0 to 6. The increases within the control and PM arms were statistically significant. The control arm had the greatest increase, followed by the PM arm and then the PM+FF arm; however, the PM and PM+FF arms started with higher levels of PA than the control arm at baseline. Only participants in the PM and PM+FF arms continued to increase their PA from Weeks 6 to 12. The increase in PA was highest within the PM arm.

**Table 5.** Physical activity and perceived social support from family members and friends at baseline and change from the previous assessment. Values are mean (standard deviations). There were no significant differences among groups at Weeks 0, 6, and 12.

Outcome	n	Control			n	PM <sup>a</sup>			n	PM+FF <sup>b</sup>		
		Week 0	Week 6	Week 12		Week 0	Week 6	Week 12		Week 0	Week 6	Week 12
		M (SD) <sup>c</sup>	$M\Delta^d$ (SD)	$M\Delta(SD)$		M (SD)	$M\Delta(SD)$	$M\Delta(SD)$		M (SD)	$M\Delta(SD)$	$M\Delta(SD)$
Physical activity	10	3691	1915	-454	11	3829	1584	439	11	4680	597	233
(steps/day)		(892)	(2308) ( <i>P</i> =.03)	(1733)		(1205)	(1858) ( <i>P</i> =.02)	(2069)		(2731)	(2039)	(2538)
Perceived social	11	2.4	0.2	-0.1	11	2.9	0.1	-0.1 (0.4)	13	2.9	0.4	0.1
support from family members and friends		(0.9)	(0.6)	(0.6)		(0.9)	(0.8)			(0.7)	(0.8)	(0.5)

<sup>a</sup>PM: phone messaging.

<sup>b</sup>PM+FF: phone messaging plus social support from family members and friends.

<sup>c</sup>SD: standard deviation.

 $^{d}\Delta$ : (current assessment value-previous assessment value).

Figure 2. Changes over time in physical activity and perceived social support from family members and friends. Perceived social support is based on the Social Support and Exercise Survey, with higher numbers indicating higher perceived support.



## Perceived Social Support from Family Members and Friends

Participants in all study arms had an increase in their perception of social support from family members and friends from Weeks 0 to 6. The PM+FF arm had the greatest increase, followed by the control arm and then the PM arm. Only participants in the PM+FF arm continued to have an increase in the perception of social support from family members and friends from Weeks 6 to 12.

### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

This study found that it was feasible to reach and engage urban, low-income Latino adults with T2D and their family members and friends using an STVM intervention. However, receipt of and engagement with STVMs varied by mode of message delivery; participants who opted to receive text messages were reached more and were more engaged than those who opted to receive voice messages. The majority of participants complied with wearing pedometers as instructed, although several encountered barriers with wearing and using pedometers. In addition, this study found that guidance in self-regulation was a useful mechanism for supporting PA behavior change via STVMs. Specifically, participants generally perceived as useful the prompting of self-monitoring, goal setting, self-instruction, reporting and feedback, and social support. Finally, participants in all study arms improved their PA (steps/day) in the first half of the study, but only intervention participants continued to improve their PA in the second half of the study. Similarly, the perception of social support from family members and friends improved for participants in all study arms in the first half of the study. In the second half of the study, however, perceived social support improved only for participants that had a family member or friend receiving STVMs as part of the intervention.

There is evidence that Spanish-speaking adults with diabetes can be successfully engaged in a self-management intervention delivered using interactive voice response phone calls [23,24]. Participants in our study who received voice messages were willing to reply to messages requiring a response, but the platform used to deliver voice messages created barriers, which could have been prevented if the platform could be customized in terms of language and time given to respond. If using a platform with similar limitations, the results of this study suggest that text messages are superior to voice messages for ensuring patient engagement. Given that most participants reported having a phone with text-messaging capability, a larger study could restrict the mode of delivery to text messages and teach participants how to send and receive them.

Our study demonstrates that self-regulation techniques can be successfully applied in an STVM intervention to support PA behavior change and that patients perceive these techniques as useful. A recent systematic review examining the impact of information technology on behavior change for various health conditions found that less than a third of interventions delivered via phones explicitly reported using a behavior change theory as a guide for intervention design [36]. Among those that did

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e8/
```

report using behavior change theory, none used self-regulation theory even though self-regulation techniques (ie, goal setting, self-monitoring, and feedback) are associated with positive outcomes in interventions that promote PA and healthy eating [28,29]. Future studies may use our intervention components, which are aligned with self-regulation theory and patient preferences, to inform the design of phone-based interventions.

There is evidence that using a pedometer to self-monitor daily steps is associated with increases in PA [37]. Given that improvements in PA within the control arm were observed only in the first half of the study, it appears that being prompted to use a pedometer and walking log to self-monitor and being prompted to set goals was a sufficient short-term intervention. However, ongoing support via STVMs and family members and friends appeared to be a promising approach for continued improvements in PA. This finding is consistent with evidence indicating that individuals require ongoing self-management support in order to maintain initial gains achieved through intervention [5]. Furthermore, there are limited published studies examining technology-based chronic disease self-management interventions that also incorporate a component of support from family members and friends [23,24]. These studies have not examined the additional benefit, if any, on patient outcomes. Our results indicate that using STVMs to prompt supportive behaviors from family members and friends has the potential to improve perceived social support. Future research is needed to investigate how improvements in perceived social support resulting from an STVM intervention impact PA behavior.

#### Limitations

The first limitation is the small sample size. The small sample size made it hard to check whether the distributional assumptions of the hypotheses tests were met. However, we re-did the analysis using nonparametric tests (not presented) and the conclusions did not change. The second limitation is that the randomization process resulted in the PM+FF arm having participants with more daily steps at baseline compared with the other arms. The results of this imbalance may explain the observation of a significant increase in daily steps in the control and PM arms, but not the PM+FF arm. Another limitation is that the majority of participants' perceptions about the usefulness of the program were positive, which may be an indication of social desirability bias. However, only 1 participant was lost to follow-up due to not responding to our contact attempts (compared with 3 in the control arm), making us confident that our results indeed represent participants' perceptions. A final limitation is that we measured perceived social support instead of actual social support. Participants in the PM+FF arm could have perceived higher levels of social support from family members and friends-whether or not this was actually the case-because they knew that their family members and friends were being prompted to provide support. However, in qualitative interviews, PM+FF participants provided specific examples of how the supportive behaviors of their family members and friends had changed since the start of the study, which helps to validate our quantitative results.

XSL•FO

#### Conclusions

This study demonstrated the potential of using STVMs to support PA behavior change among urban, low-income Latino adults with T2D and to prompt social support from family members and friends. Text messaging may be a better mode of message delivery than voice messaging for ensuring participant receipt of and engagement with messages. Pedometers can successfully be used by investigators for data collection purposes and by participants for self-monitoring, although adjustments to instructions are needed so that participants feel more comfortable using this tool without fear. Moreover, designing an STVM intervention based on self-regulation techniques (ie, self-monitoring, goal setting, self-instruction, feedback, and social support) is feasible and perceived as useful by participants. Finally, such an intervention may improve PA in terms of daily steps and perceived social support from family members and friends who participate in the intervention.

#### Acknowledgments

This project was supported with a grant from the Daniel J. Epstein Institute at the University of Southern California and through a Research Supplement to Promote Diversity in Health-Related Research awarded to the Los Angeles Stroke Prevention/Intervention Research Program in Health Disparities from the National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke (Grant No. U54NS081764-03S1). The authors acknowledge those who contributed to this study, including patients and their family members and friends, Roybal DMP clinicians and staff, and Drs Mansour Rahimi, Najmedin Meshkati, Donna Spruijt-Metz, Todd Schroeder, Barbara Vickrey, Jose Escarce, and Brian Wu.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### **Multimedia Appendix 1**

Assessment questions.

[PDF File (Adobe PDF File), 247KB - diabetes v2i1e8 app1.pdf]

#### References

- 1. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2013. CDC Health Disparities & Inequalities Report -- United States, 2013 URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/mmwr/pdf/other/su6203.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-25] [WebCite Cache ID 6qjKl5CzB]
- 2. Fan L, Sidani S. Effectiveness of diabetes self-management education intervention elements: a meta-analysis. Can J Diabetes 2009;33(1):18-26.
- 3. Ellis SE, Speroff T, Dittus RS, Brown A, Pichert JW, Elasy TA. Diabetes patient education: a meta-analysis and meta-regression. Patient Educ Couns 2004;52(1):97-105 [FREE Full text]
- 4. Norris SL, Lau J, Smith SJ, Schmid CH, Engelgau MM. Self-management education for adults with type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of the effect on glycemic control. Diabetes Care 2002 Jul;25(7):1159-1171. [Medline: 12087014]
- 5. Norris SL, Engelgau MM, Narayan KM. Effectiveness of self-management training in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of randomized controlled trials. Diabetes Care 2001 Mar;24(3):561-587. [Medline: <u>11289485</u>]
- Chen R, Cheadle A, Johnson D, Duran B. US trends in receipt of appropriate diabetes clinical and self-care from 2001 to 2010 and racial/ethnic disparities in care. Diabetes Educ 2014 Nov;40(6):756-766. [doi: 10.1177/0145721714546721] [Medline: 25142006]
- 7. Arora S, Marzec K, Gates C, Menchine M. Diabetes knowledge in predominantly Latino patients and family caregivers in an urban emergency department. Ethn Dis 2011;21(1):1-6. [Medline: <u>21462722</u>]
- 8. Nelson KM, Reiber G, Boyko EJ. Diet and exercise among adults with type 2 diabetes: findings from the third national health and nutrition examination survey (NHANES III). Diabetes Care 2002 Oct;25(10):1722-1728. [Medline: 12351468]
- 9. Hall AK, Cole-Lewis H, Bernhardt JM. Mobile text messaging for health: a systematic review of reviews. Annu Rev Public Health 2015 Mar 18;36:393-415 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1146/annurev-publhealth-031914-122855] [Medline: 25785892]
- 10. Piette JD. Interactive behavior change technology to support diabetes self-management: where do we stand? Diabetes Care 2007 Oct;30(10):2425-2432. [doi: 10.2337/dc07-1046] [Medline: 17586735]
- 11. Hu J, Amirehsani K, Wallace DC, Letvak S. Perceptions of barriers in managing diabetes: perspectives of Hispanic immigrant patients and family members. Diabetes Educ 2013 Jul;39(4):494-503 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0145721713486200] [Medline: 23640301]
- 12. Zanuso S, Jimenez A, Pugliese G, Corigliano G, Balducci S. Exercise for the management of type 2 diabetes: a review of the evidence. Acta Diabetol 2010 Mar;47(1):15-22. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-009-0126-3] [Medline: 19495557]
- 13. Manders RJ, Van Dijk JW, van Loon LJ. Low-intensity exercise reduces the prevalence of hyperglycemia in type 2 diabetes. Med Sci Sports Exerc 2010 Feb;42(2):219-225. [doi: <u>10.1249/MSS.0b013e3181b3b16d</u>] [Medline: <u>19927038</u>]
- 14. Colberg SR, Sigal RJ, Fernhall BO, Regensteiner JG, Blissmer BJ, Rubin RR, American College of Sports Medicine, American Diabetes Association. Exercise and type 2 diabetes: the American College of Sports Medicine and the American

Diabetes Association: joint position statement. Diabetes Care 2010 Dec;33(12):e147-e167 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2337/dc10-9990] [Medline: 21115758]

- Hansen D, Dendale P, Jonkers RA, Beelen M, Manders RJ, Corluy L, et al. Continuous low- to moderate-intensity exercise training is as effective as moderate- to high-intensity exercise training at lowering blood HbA(1c) in obese type 2 diabetes patients. Diabetologia 2009 Sep;52(9):1789-1797 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s00125-009-1354-3] [Medline: 19370339]
- Umpierre D, Ribeiro PA, Kramer CK, Leitão CB, Zucatti AT, Azevedo MJ, et al. Physical activity advice only or structured exercise training and association with HbA1c levels in type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Am Med Assoc 2011 May 04;305(17):1790-1799. [doi: 10.1001/jama.2011.576] [Medline: 21540423]
- 17. O'Hagan C, De Vito G, Boreham CA. Exercise prescription in the treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus : current practices, existing guidelines and future directions. Sports Med 2013 Jan;43(1):39-49. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-012-0004-y</u>] [Medline: <u>23315755</u>]
- Balducci S, Zanuso S, Cardelli P, Salvi L, Bazuro A, Pugliese L, Italian Diabetes Exercise Study (IDES) Investigators. Effect of high- versus low-intensity supervised aerobic and resistance training on modifiable cardiovascular risk factors in type 2 diabetes; the Italian Diabetes and Exercise Study (IDES). PLoS One 2012 Nov;7(11):e49297 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049297] [Medline: 23185314]
- Arora S, Peters AL, Agy C, Menchine M. A mobile health intervention for inner city patients with poorly controlled diabetes: proof-of-concept of the TExT-MED program. Diabetes Technol Ther 2012 Jun;14(6):492-496. [doi: <u>10.1089/dia.2011.0252</u>] [Medline: <u>22524591</u>]
- 20. Arora S, Peters AL, Burner E, Lam CN, Menchine M. Trial to examine text message-based mHealth in emergency department patients with diabetes (TExT-MED): a randomized controlled trial. Ann Emerg Med 2014 Jun;63(6):745-54.e6. [doi: 10.1016/j.annemergmed.2013.10.012] [Medline: 24225332]
- 21. Menchine MD, Vishwanath A, Arora S. Prevalence, health and demographics of emergency department patients with diabetes. West J Emerg Med 2010 Dec;11(5):419-422 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 21293757]
- 22. Glasgow RE, Bull SS, Piette JD, Steiner JF. Interactive behavior change technology: a partial solution to the competing demands of primary care. Am J Prev Med 2004 Aug;27(2 Suppl):80-87. [doi: <u>10.1016/j.amepre.2004.04.026</u>] [Medline: <u>15275676</u>]
- 23. Piette JD, Marinec N, Gallegos-Cabriales EC, Gutierrez-Valverde JM, Rodriguez-Saldana J, Mendoz-Alevares M, et al. Spanish-speaking patients' engagement in interactive voice response (IVR) support calls for chronic disease self-management: data from three countries. J Telemed Telecare 2013 Mar 26;19(2):89-94. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X13476234]
- Aikens JE, Zivin K, Trivedi R, Piette JD. Diabetes self-management support using mHealth and enhanced informal caregiving. J Diabetes Complications 2014 Mar;28(2):171-176 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jdiacomp.2013.11.008] [Medline: 24374137]
- 25. Michie S, Johnston M, Francis J, Hardeman W, Eccles M. From theory to intervention: mapping theoretically derived behavioural determinants to behaviour change techniques. Appl Psychol 2008;57(4):660-680. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-0597.2008.00341.x]
- 26. Bandura A. Self-efficacy: the exercise of control. New York: W. H. Freeman and Company; 1997.
- Ramirez M, Wu S, Beale E. Designing a text messaging intervention to improve physical activity behavior among low-income Latino patients with diabetes: a discrete-choice experiment, Los Angeles, 2014-2015. Prev Chronic Dis 2016 Dec 22;13:E171 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.5888/pcd13.160035] [Medline: 28005532]
- 28. Dombrowski SU, Sniehotta FF, Avenell A, Johnston M, MacLennan G, Araújo-Soares V. Identifying active ingredients in complex behavioural interventions for obese adults with obesity-related co-morbidities or additional risk factors for co-morbidities: a systematic review. Health Psychology Review 2012 Mar;6(1):7-32. [doi: 10.1080/17437199.2010.513298]
- 29. Michie S, Abraham C, Whittington C, McAteer J, Gupta S. Effective techniques in healthy eating and physical activity interventions: a meta-regression. Health Psychol 2009 Nov;28(6):690-701. [doi: 10.1037/a0016136] [Medline: 19916637]
- Hart TL, Swartz AM, Cashin SE, Strath SJ. How many days of monitoring predict physical activity and sedentary behaviour in older adults? Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act 2011 Jun 16;8:62 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-62] [Medline: 21679426]
- Tudor-Locke CE, Bell RC, Myers AM, Harris SB, Lauzon N, Rodger NW. Pedometer-determined ambulatory activity in individuals with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2002 Mar;55(3):191-199. [Medline: <u>11850095</u>]
- Sallis JF, Grossman RM, Pinski RB, Patterson TL, Nader PR. The development of scales to measure social support for diet and exercise behaviors. Prev Med 1987 Nov;16(6):825-836. [Medline: <u>3432232</u>]
- 33. Whitehead AL, Julious SA, Cooper CL, Campbell MJ. Estimating the sample size for a pilot randomised trial to minimise the overall trial sample size for the external pilot and main trial for a continuous outcome variable. Stat Methods Med Res 2016 Jun;25(3):1057-1073 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/0962280215588241] [Medline: 26092476]
- 34. Julious SA. Sample size of 12 per group rule of thumb for a pilot study. Pharm Stat 2005 2005 Oct;4(4):287-291. [doi: 10.1002/pst.185]
- 35. Glanz K, Rimer B, Viswanath K. Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice. 4th ed. US: Wiley; 2008.

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e8/
```

- 36. Sawesi S, Rashrash M, Phalakornkule K, Carpenter JS, Jones JF. The impact of information technology on patient engagement and health behavior change: a systematic review of the literature. JMIR Med Inform 2016 Jan 21;4(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/medinform.4514] [Medline: 26795082]
- Bravata DM, Smith-Spangler C, Sundaram V, Gienger AL, Lin N, Lewis R, et al. Using pedometers to increase physical activity and improve health: a systematic review. J Am Med Assoc 2007 Nov 21;298(19):2296-2304. [doi: 10.1001/jama.298.19.2296] [Medline: 18029834]

#### Abbreviations

DMP: diabetes management program PA: physical activity PM: phone messaging PM+FF: phone messaging plus social support from FF RA: research assistant SCT: Social Cognitive Theory STVM: short text or voice message T2D: type 2 diabetes

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 29.11.16; peer-reviewed by DCJ(Wu, A Cross, E Burner; comments to author 21.01.17; revised version received 18.03.17; accepted 14.04.17; published 06.06.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Ramirez M, Wu S Phone Messaging to Prompt Physical Activity and Social Support Among Low-Income Latino Patients With Type 2 Diabetes: A Randomized Pilot Study JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e8 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e8/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.7063 PMID:30291094

©Magaly Ramirez, Shinyi Wu. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 06.06.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



**Original Paper** 

## Situation of Diabetes and Related Factors Among Qatari Adults: Findings From a Community-Based Survey

Mohammed Al-Thani<sup>1</sup>, MBBS; Al-Anoud Al-Thani<sup>1</sup>, MBBS; Walaa Al-Chetachi<sup>1</sup>, MBChB, MSc, PhD; Shams Eldin Khalifa<sup>1</sup>, MSc (Statistics); Benjamin Vinodson<sup>1</sup>, MSc (Biostatistics); Badria Al-Malki<sup>1</sup>, MBBS, BMedSc, MSc, MD; Ahmad Haj Bakri<sup>1</sup>, MSc, MD; Hammad Akram<sup>1</sup>, MD, MPH, FRSPH

Ministry of Public Health, Doha, Qatar

**Corresponding Author:** Hammad Akram, MD, MPH, FRSPH Ministry of Public Health PO Box 42 Doha, Qatar Phone: 974 44070912 Email: <u>hakram@moph.gov.qa</u>

## Abstract

**Background:** Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a prominent public health problem in Qatar with one of the highest prevalence in the Gulf Cooperation Council region. Obesity continues to be a challenging public health problem in Qatar along with other social determinants contributing to the high DM prevalence.

**Objective:** This paper examines the data from Qatar National STEPS survey (2012) to determine diabetes prevalence among Qatari adults and identify the effect of both generalized and central obesity on it. The article also describes the contribution of selected social and demographic factors on diabetes prevalence in Qatar.

**Methods:** Secondary data analysis of 1471 Qatari adults (18-64 years) from STEP 3 component of the 2012 STEPS Survey was executed. Multivariate binary logistic regression analysis was carried out to assess the role of social and biomedical factors in the prevalence of DM.

**Results:** Among participants, 18.97% (279/1471) of the study population had DM. Both generalized (OR 1.8, P=.005) and central obesity (OR 1.9, P<.001) were significantly associated with DM when adjusted for various respondent characteristics. Older age (P<.001), marital status of ever married (P<.001), and lower educational status (P=.01) were associated with DM. Hypertension (OR 1.5, P=.003 total cholesterol level  $\geq$ 190 mg/dL (OR 2.2, P<.001) and triglyceride level  $\geq$ 150 mg/dL (OR 3.6, P<.001) were significantly associated with DM among the study participants. Although family history of DM was significantly associated with development of DM (OR 1.7, P=.01), parental consanguinity was not associated with DM (OR 0.96, P=.80).

**Conclusions:** The DM prevalence in Qatar seems to be highly associated with obesity; however, various additional population characteristics and comorbidity factors should also require attention and should be incorporated while developing intervention strategies.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e7) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7535

#### KEYWORDS

diabetes mellitus; obesity; public health; Qatar

## Introduction

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is one of the most costly preventable public health condition causing mortality and morbidity in millions of people globally [1]. It is diagnosed by a series of blood tests based on the raised blood glucose levels and is caused by either insufficient insulin production from pancreas (type 1 DM) or decreased ability of the body to use insulin (type

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e7/

RenderX

2 DM) [1]. Majority of DM cases are type 2 compared with type 1 and comprise 90% of people with DM around the world [1]. DM is known to increase the risks of cardiac, cerebrovascular, and kidney diseases and also contribute to complications associated with nerve damage such as diabetic retinopathy, foot ulcer, skin infections, and so on [2]. DM also doubles the risk of mortality among people with the disease than those without the disease [3].

According to the World Health Organization (WHO) estimates, in 2014 the global prevalence of DM in adults was 8.5%, and in 2012, mortality due to DM was 1.5 million worldwide [1]. Similarly, the prevalence of DM is also high in Arab region and has been identified to be a major disease burden in the Eastern Mediterranean Region countries where its prevalence ranges from 3.5% to 30% [4]. Increased body weight raises the risk of type 2 DM and other chronic conditions such as cardiovascular disease, musculoskeletal disorder, and cancers [1,5]. Since 1980, the obesity prevalence has doubled globally with over 600 million people estimated to be suffering from obesity [5]. Obesity is one of the contributory factors in developing insulin resistance which is the inability of the body to respond to insulin [6]. Body mass index (BMI) is considered a reliable parameter to assess the body weight and defined as weight (in kilograms) divided by the square of height (meters) of a person. The BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> is classified as obesity [5]. Central obesity or wide waist circumference (WC) also increases the risk of developing type 2 DM sometimes even among individuals with normal or low BMI [7]. This is due to the fact that the increased degree and the duration of abdominal or body fat is associated with higher levels of insulin impairing hormones and chemicals in the body [7-9]. These excessive fat cells act like endocrine glands and therefore could eventually lead to DM if obesity is not controlled [7-9]. Lifestyle and cultural norms such as eating and exercise habits that may impact on body weight or fat content also influence the occurrence of DM in families [10].

The World Health Survey (WHS) in 2006 revealed that about 8% of Qatar population was diabetic which was higher than the worldwide diabetes prevalence of 5.1% [11]. Furthermore, the prevalence of diabetes among Qatari adults was higher (11.6%) compared with non-Qatari adult residents (6.6%) [12]. In 2011, the country's estimated comparative diabetes prevalence for adults (aged between 20 and 79 years) was 20.1% ranking Qatar in top 5 among Arabic and non-Arabic speaking countries [3,4]. In 2012, 6% of deaths were related to DM in Qatar with higher proportion among Qatari nationals (9.9%) versus non-Qataris (4%) [12]. Type 2 DM is considered to be one of the leading causes of mortality due to non-communicable diseases (NCDs) in Qatar along with the cardiovascular disease and neoplasm [13]. Socioeconomic development in past decades has influenced the lifestyle of Qatari population which could be the reason that Qatar has one of the highest obesity prevalence in the Gulf Cooperation Council region [14,15]. As indicated in WHS 2006, a large proportion of population in Qatar was overweight (39%) and obese (32%). It was noted that obesity proportion was higher among Qatari nationals (40%) versus non-Qataris (28%) [11]. WHS 2006 report also showed that the likelihood of having DM was 1.5 times higher when BMI was greater than 30 [11].

This study examines the data from Qatar National STEPwise Survey (2012) to determine DM prevalence among Qatari adults and identify the effect of both generalized and central obesity on it. The STEPS survey is a standardized approach to collect population level data pertaining to the NCD including DM and the related risk factors [16,17]. The aim of this study is to also describe the contribution of selected social and demographic factors on DM prevalence in Qatar. This area has not been extensively explored and published before; hence, the findings

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e7/
```

from this study could help in designing effective public health techniques and interventions to reduce DM-related mortality and morbidity in the county.

### Methods

#### Sampling

The secondary data from WHO-based Qatar National STEPwise Survey for chronic diseases and risk factors were utilized for this particular study [16]. The STEPS was implemented between March and May of 2012 in which 2496 Qatari nationals aged 18-64 years were randomly selected with a response rate of 88%. A multistage cluster sampling design was used for the survey. Using a two-stage sampling design, a total of 96 primary sampling units (PSUs) were selected at the first stage. In the second stage, 30 households were selected from each selected PSU by simple systematic sampling.

The DM status by obesity and sociodemographic factors was examined among 1471 Qatari adults aged 18-64 years and who participated in the STEP 3 survey tool. The response rate for STEP 3 component was about 60% [16]. STEPwise consists of three survey tools: STEP 1 is for gathering demographic and behavioral risk factors information; STEP 2 is for collecting physical measurements such as weight, height, WC and blood pressure (BP); and STEP 3 is for taking blood samples for biochemical measurements: fasting blood glucose level (FBG), and lipid profile, respectively [16,17]. The STEPS methodology provided a sample which was representative of all Qatari nationals. The sampling design took into account the WHO STEPS formula for calculating the sample size, as specified in the STEPS guidelines for participating countries and considered as multistage, systemic random sampling [16,17].

Data to assess obesity in STEP 3 participants were analyzed using the STEPS methodology [16,17]. BMI and WC cutoff values were determined as per WHO recommendations, that is, BMI  $\geq$ 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> denoted generalized obesity and WC  $\geq$ 102 in males and  $\geq$ 88 in females represented central obesity [8,18]. Data for pregnant women were removed from the analysis while performing body weight and WC calculations.

Cutoff values for FBG, lipid profile, and BP were determined in accordance with the WHO STEPS Guidelines, that is  $\geq$ 190 mg/dL of total cholesterol,  $\geq$ 150 mg/dL triglyceride level, <40 mg/dL and <50 mg/dL of high-density lipoproteins (HDL) in men and women, respectively, and  $\geq$ 110 mg/dL of FBG were considered unfavorable [16,17]. The participants who had FBG levels  $\geq$ 110 mg/dL and/or were taking insulin or other prescribed medications to control their DM (regardless of their FBG results) were considered diabetics. The participants with systolic BP of  $\geq$ 140 mmHg and/or diastolic BP  $\geq$ 90 mmHg or who were currently on medications for raised BP were considered hypertensive [16].

#### **Data Analysis**

Statistical analysis was performed using IBM SPSS statistics version 20.0 for Windows. All categorical variables were presented as frequencies and percentages. Study outcomes were assessed using Fisher exact test or chi-square test with Yates

XSL•FO RenderX

discrete variables appropriately. The correction for Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used for checking normality. Continuous variable such as FBG, BMI, WC were presented as geometric mean and 95% CI. Independent sample t test was used to compare means across two different groups. Odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI was computed using multivariate logistic regression, which identifies the degree of the association between DM and various factors. In the crude model, no adjustments were made, whereas age and gender were controlled in the first model. Second model was adjusted for age, gender, and sociodemographic indicators such as marital status, education, and smoking status. In addition to the factors included in model 2, family history of DM (among parents, siblings, and/or children) and parental consanguinity variables were controlled in the final model 3. The sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive values, and negative predictive values were calculated using family history of DM, parental consanguinity and obesity variables and their impact on diabetic status of participants. This was used to test the ability of factors to correctly identify respondents with and without DM. The P value <.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Results

#### **Sample Characteristics**

The female-to-male ratio among the total surveyed population (N=1471) was 1.7 (62.5% women and 37.5% men). The overall

mean age of participants was 38.5 years with higher mean age (45.8 years) for diabetics (P<.001). Almost 80.35% (n=1182) of the study participants were currently or previously married. In relation to the level of education, the results showed that over one-third of the participants completed their college or university education (34.9%, n=513). Overall parental consanguinity was reported by 36% (n=528) of the respondents and 69.14% (n=1017) stated that they had a family history of DM. In accordance with the study criteria, 19% (n=279) of participants had DM with women comprising 60.2% (n=168) of diabetics. By gender, 20.1% (n=111) of male and 18.3% (n=168) of female participants had DM. About 34.1% (n=158) of the participants aged 45-64 years and 12% (n=121) of the participants aged 18-44 years had DM. Mean WC for males was 102 cm, higher among diabetics (108 cm) compared with nondiabetics (100.8 cm; P=.01). Mean BMI was also high among diabetics (P<.01). Mean HDL level was significantly lower among diabetic women compared with nondiabetic (P=.04). Mean total cholesterol (P=.002) and triglyceride levels (P<.01) were higher among diabetic participants. Both, mean systolic and diastolic BP readings were higher among diabetics (P < .01). The characteristics of participants are shown in Table 1.



#### Al-Thani et al

**Table 1.** Study participants' characteristics by diabetes status. Geometric means are presented with 95% CI. Age is presented with SD. Pregnant women are excluded from the BMI and WC calculations.

Parameters	Categories	Total, N (%)	Diabetic, n (%)	Normal, n (%)	Р
Overall sample	N	1471 (100.0)	279 (19.0)	1192 (81.0)	
	Mean (SD)	38.5 (12.2)	45.8 (11.7)	36.7 (11.7)	<.001
Age	18-44 years	1008 (68.5)	121 (43.4)	887 (74.4)	<.001
	45-64 years	463 (31.5)	158 (56.6)	305 (25.6)	
Gender	Male	552 (37.5)	111 (39.8)	441 (37.0)	.38
	Female	919 (62.5)	168 (60.2)	751 (63.0)	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Mean (95% CI)	29.4 (29.0-29.8)	31.8 (30.9-32.7)	28.8 (28.4-29.3)	<.001
	Lean	39 (2.7)	1 (0.4)	38 (3.3)	<.001
	Normal	315 (22.2)	34 (12.5)	281 (24.4)	
	Overweight	403 (28.3)	75 (27.6)	328 (28.5)	
	Obese	665 (46.8)	162 (59.6)	503 (43.7)	
Waist circumference (cm)					
Male	Mean (95% CI)	102.2 (100.0-104.5)	108.0 (103.1-113.2)	100.8 (98.3-103.3)	.01
	Central obesity (WC ≥102 cm)	268 (49.3)	71 (64.5)	197 (45.4)	<.001
	Normal (WC <102 cm)	276 (50.7)	39 (35.5)	237 (54.6)	
Female	Mean (95% CI)	97.8 (94.7-100.8)	102.1 (98.1-106.1)	96.8 (93.3-100.5)	.20
	Central obesity (WC ≥88 cm)	509 (60.0)	127 (79.9)	382 (55.4)	<.001
	Normal (WC <88 cm)	340 (40.0)	32 (20.1)	308 (44.6)	
Education level	Secondary or less/no formal education	957 (65.1)	200 (71.7)	757 (63.6)	.01
	College/university/PG	513 (34.9)	79 (28.3)	434 (36.4)	
Marital status	Ever married	1182 (80.4)	256 (91.8)	926 (77.7)	<.001
	Never married	289 (19.6)	23 (8.2)	266 (22.3)	
Parental consanguinity	Yes	528 (35.9)	97 (34.8)	431 (36.2)	.66
	No	943 (64.1)	182 (65.2)	761 (63.8)	
Family history of DM	Yes	1017 (69.1)	208 (74.6)	809 (67.9)	.03
	No	454 (30.9)	71 (25.4)	383 (32.1)	
Mean fasting blood glucose (95% CI)	Overall	90.3 (88.8-92.0)	149.2 (143.5-155.1)	80.3 (79.6-81.0)	<.001
	Men	90.2 (87.8-92.7)	148.8 (140.1-158.2)	79.6 (78.3-80.8)	<.001
	Women	90.3 (88.5-92.1)	149.4 (142.0-157.1)	80.7 (79.8-81.6)	<.001
Current smoker	Yes	197 (13.4)	35 (12.5)	162 (13.6)	.64
	No	1274 (86.6)	244 (87.5)	1030 (86.4)	
Smoking status	Daily	179 (12.2)	31 (11.1)	148 (12.4)	.82
	Nondaily	18 (1.2)	4 (1.4)	14 (1.2)	
	Past smoker	53 (3.6)	12 (4.3)	41 (3.4)	
	Never smoker	1221 (83.0)	232 (83.2)	989 (83.0)	
Hypertension	Mean systolic blood pressure (SBP), mmHg (95% CI)	118.3 (117.4-119.2)	127.4 (125.1-129.8)	116.2 (115.3-117.1)	<.001
	Mean diastolic blood pressure (DBP), mmHg	79.0 (78.4-79.5)	83.0 (81.8-84.2)	78.0 (77.4-78.6)	<.001



Parameters	Categories	Total,	Diabetic,	Normal,	Р
		N (%)	n (%)	n (%)	
	SBP ≥140/DBP ≥90 mmHg	540 (37.0)	150 (54.0)	390 (33.1)	<.001
	or on medication				
	Normal	918 (63.0)	128 (46.0)	790 (66.9)	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	Mean (95% CI)	160.4 (158.6-162.2)	166.6 (161.8-171.4)	159.0 (157.0-160.9)	<.01
	≥190 mg/dL	381 (26.0)	124 (44.6)	257 (21.7)	<.001
	<190 mg/dL	1083 (74.0)	154 (55.4)	929 (78.3)	
HDL (mg/dL)					
Male	Mean (95% CI)	39.7 (38.5-40.9)	38.8 (36.4-41.4)	39.9 (38.5-41.3)	.47
	<40 (mg/dL)	264 (47.8)	59 (53.2)	205 (46.5)	.21
	≥40 (mg/dL)	288 (52.2)	52 (46.8)	236 (53.5)	
Female	Mean (95% CI)	54.5 (53.4-55.6)	52.0 (49.4-54.8)	55.1 (53.8-56.4)	.04
	<50 (mg/dL)	341 (37.4)	73 (43.7)	268 (36.0)	.06
	≥50 (mg/dL)	571 (62.6)	94 (56.3)	477 (64.0)	
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	Mean (95% CI)	96.1 (93.8-98.5)	122.9 (115.7-130.7)	90.7 (88.4-93.1)	<.001
	≥150 (mg/dL)	257 (17.7)	103 (37.2)	154 (13.1)	<.001
	<150 (mg/dL)	1197 (82.3)	174 (62.8)	1023 (86.9)	
LDL (mg/dL)	Mean (95% CI)	89.1 (87.6-90.5)	89.5 (86.1-93.1)	88.9 (87.3-90.5)	.75
	≥130 (mg/dL)	144 (10.8)	34 (12.8)	110 (10.3)	.24
	<130 (mg/dL)	1188 (89.2)	232 (87.2)	956 (89.7)	

#### **Crude Analysis**

Crude analysis showed that the older age group (45-64) had 3.8 time odds of having DM compared with younger age (18-44) group (95% CI 2.9-4.9, P<.01). By gender, male participants showed 1.1 time odds of having DM compared with females, but this relationship was not statistically significant (95% CI

0.86-1.5, P=.38). Secondary or lower educational status was found to be associated with development of DM among study participants (OR 1.45, 95% CI 1.1-1.9, P=.01). Participants who were currently or previously married also had higher odds of having DM compared to the ones who were never married (OR 3.2, 95% CI 2.0-5.0, P<.01). The detailed crude associations of predictors and participant categories are shown in Table 2.



#### Al-Thani et al

Table 2. Relationship (crude) of diabetes between participant parameters and categories. Odds ratios (OR) and 95% CI were estimated using logistic regression models. Model 0: crude odds ratio.

Parameters	Categories	Crude OR (95% CI)	
Predictors		OR (95% CI)	Р
Age	18-44	Reference	
	45-64	3.8 (2.9-4.9)	<.001
Gender	Male	1.1 (0.86-1.5)	.38
	Female	Reference	
Marital status	Ever married	3.2 (2.0-5.0)	<.001
	Never married	Reference	
Highest level of education	Secondary or less/no formal education	1.45 (1.09-1.9)	.01
	College/University/PG	Reference	
Parental consanguinity	Yes	0.94 (0.72-1.2)	.66
	No	Reference	
Family history of DM	Yes	1.4 (1.03-1.8)	.03
	No	Reference	
Smoking status	Daily	0.89 (0.59-1.3)	.59
	Nondaily	1.22 (0.39-3.7)	.73
	Past smoker	1.24 (0.64-2.4)	.51
	Never smoker	Reference	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Lean	0.21 (0.03-1.6)	.14
	Normal	Reference	
	Overweight	1.9 (1.2-2.9)	.004
	Obese	2.6 (1.8-3.9)	<.001
Waist circumference (cm)			
Male	≥102 cm	2.2 (1.4-3.4)	<.001
	<102 cm	Reference	
Female	≥88 cm	3.2 (2.1-4.8)	<.001
	<88 cm	Reference	
Blood pressure (BP, mmHg)	Raised BP or currently on medication	2.3 (1.8-3.1)	<.001
	Normal	Reference	
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	≥190 mg/dL	2.9 (2.2-3.8)	<.001
	<190 mg/dL	Reference	
HDL (mg/dL)			
Male	<40 (mg/dL)	1.3 (0.86-1.9)	.21
	≥40 (mg/dL)	Reference	
Female	<50 (mg/dL)	1.4 (0.98-1.9)	.06
	≥50 (mg/dL)	Reference	
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	≥150 (mg/dL)	3.9 (2.9-5.3)	<.001
	<150 (mg/dL)	Reference	
LDL (mg/dL)	≥130 (mg/dL)	1.3 (0.84-1.9)	.25
	<130 (mg/dL)	Reference	



XSL•FO RenderX

#### **Multivariate Analysis**

Multivariate logistic regression analysis revealed that generalized obesity was significantly associated with DM (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.2-2.8, P=.005); however by gender, this relationship was only significant among females (OR 2.2, 95% CI 1.2-4.0, P=.009) versus males (OR 1.4, 95% CI 0.78-2.7, P=.23). Central obesity was found to also be associated with DM in overall sample (OR 1.9, 95% CI 1.4-2.6, P<.01), among males (OR 1.8, 95% CI 1.1-2.9, P=.007) and as well as among females (OR 2.0, 95% CI 1.2-3.1, P=.003; Table 3). Hypertension (OR 1.5, 95% CI 1.1-2.0, P=.003), total cholesterol level  $\geq$ 190 mg/dL (OR 2.2, 95% CI 1.6-3.0, P<.01) and triglyceride level  $\geq$ 150 mg/dL (OR 3.6, 95% CI 2.6-4.9, P<.01) were significantly associated with DM among study participants (Table 3). HDL and LDL levels did not show a significant relationship in DM causation (Table 3).

Family history of DM was significantly associated with DM (OR 1.7, 95% CI 1.2-2.3, P=.001; Table 3). Parental consanguinity did not have any impact on diabetic status (OR 0.96, 95% CI 0.72-1.3, P=.77; Table 3).

Including obesity parameters in the relationship between consanguinity and family history with obesity, respectively (not shown in the table), showed that the family history of DM in presence of generalized obesity was not statistically significant (OR 1.3, 95% CI 0.95-1.7, P=.09) in having diabetic status; however, it was slightly significant for central obesity (OR 1.4, 95% CI 1.0-1.8, P=.05). Parental consanguinity had no influence on development of DM among participants with generalized (OR 0.97, 95% CI 0.73-1.3, P=.86) as well as central obesity (OR 1.02, 95% CI 0.77-1.4, P=.85).

#### Al-Thani et al

Table 3. Relationship of diabetes between participant parameters and categories, multivariate logistics regression models. Odds ratios (95% CI) were estimated using multivariate logistic regression models.

Parameters	Categories	Multivariate models						
		Model 1 <sup>a</sup> Mod		Model 2 <sup>b</sup>	Model 2 <sup>b</sup>		Model 3 <sup>c</sup>	
Predictors		OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р	OR (95% CI)	Р	
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	Lean	0.29 (0.04-2.2)	.23	0.35 (0.04-2.6)	.31	0.36 (0.04-2.7)	.33	
excluding pregnant	Normal	Reference		Reference		Reference		
	Over weight	1.5 (0.97-2.4)	.06	1.4 (0.92-2.3)	.1	1.4 (0.91-2.3)	.12	
	Obese	2.1 (1.4-3.2)	<.001	1.9 (1.2-2.9)	.002	1.8 (1.2-2.8)	.005	
Waist circumference (cm)								
(no gender, no pregnant)								
Male	≥102 cm	2.0 (1.3-3.2)	.002	1.9 (1.2-2.9)	.006	1.8 (1.1-2.9)	.007	
	<102 cm	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Female	≥88 cm	2.3 (1.5-3.5)	<.001	2.1 (1.3-3.2)	.002	2.0 (1.2-3.1)	.003	
	<88 cm	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Blood pressure (BP, mmHg)	Raised BP or currently on medication	1.7 (1.3-2.2)	<.001	1.6 (1.2-2.1)	.001	1.5 (1.1-2.0)	.003	
	Normal	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	≥190 mg/dL	2.3 (1.8-3.2)	<.001	2.3 (1.7-3.1)	<.001	2.2 (1.6-3.0)	<.001	
	<190 mg/dL	Reference		Reference		Reference		
HDL (mg/dL)								
Male	<40 (mg/dL)	1.3 (0.87-2.1)	.18	1.32 (0.85-2.1)	.21	1.28 (0.82-2.0)	.27	
	≥40 (mg/dL)	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Female	<50 (mg/dL)	1.3 (0.93-1.9)	.11	1.29 (0.91-1.8)	.15	1.3 (0.89-1.8)	.16	
	≥50 (mg/dL)	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Triglyceride (mg/dL)	≥150 (mg/dL)	3.9 (2.8-5.3)	<.01	3.7 (2.7-5.1)	<.01	3.6 (2.6-4.9)	<.001	
	<150 (mg/dL)	Reference		Reference		Reference		
LDL (mg/dL)	≥130 (mg/dL)	1.1 (0.75-1.7)	.54	1.1 (0.73-1.7)	.6	1.1 (0.71-1.7)	.66	
	<130 (mg/dL)	Reference		Reference		Reference		
Family history of DM	Yes	1.6 (1.1-2.1)	.004	1.7 (1.2-2.3)	.001			
	No	Reference		Reference				
Parental consanguinity	Yes	0.97 (0.73-1.3)	.86	0.96 (0.72-1.3)	.77			
	No	Reference		Reference				

<sup>a</sup>Model 1: adjusted for age and gender.

<sup>b</sup>Model 2: adjusted for age, gender, sociodemographic indicators (marital status, education, smoking status).

<sup>c</sup>Model 3: adjusted for age, gender, sociodemographic indicators, family history, and consanguinity.

## Family History, Consanguinity, and Obesity as a Screening Tool

Using family history as a screening tool, the family history of DM identified 74.6% of participants who had DM. For obesity (generalized), 59.6% of participants were identified to have DM. Family history and obesity together identified 46% diabetics. This means that family history is a better indicator of DM among participants compared with obesity or other

combinations including consanguinity (Table 4). Positive predictive value which identify the participants who truly had disease during screening, showed that the family history of DM predicted DM among 20.4% of participants, while obesity predicted DM among 24.4% of participants. Obesity and family history together increased the prediction of DM to 25.7 %. Consanguinity alone increased the prediction of DM to 18.3%, but consanguinity with obesity increased it to 23.7% and with family history and obesity to 25.1% (Table 4).



#### Al-Thani et al

Table 4. Sensitivity, specificity, positive and negative predictive values of family history of diabetes, consanguinity, obesity and all their possible combinations.

Selected social characteristics	Sensitivity % (95% CI)	Specificity % (95% CI)	Positive predictive value % (95% CI)	Negative predictive value % (95% CI)
Family history of DM	74.6 (69.0-79.6)	32.1 (29.5-34.9)	20.4 (19.2-21.7)	84.4 (81.3-87.0)
Consanguinity	34.8 (29.2-40.7)	63.8 (61.0-66.6)	18.3 (15.8-21.2)	80.7 (79.2-82.1)
Obesity	59.6 (53.5-65.4)	56.3 (53.4-59.1)	24.4 (22.2-26.6)	85.5 (83.6-87.3)
Family history of DM with obesity	46.0 (39.9-52.1)	68.6 (65.8-71.3)	25.7 (22.9-28.8)	84.3 (82.7-85.8)
Consanguinity with obesity	20.2 (15.6-25.5)	84.6 (82.4-86.6)	23.7 (19.1-28.9)	81.8 (80.8-82.7)
Consanguinity with family history of DM	26.5 (21.4-32.1)	75.1 (72.5-77.5)	19.9 (16.7-23.7)	81.4 (80.2-82.5)
Consanguinity and family history of DM with Obesity.	16.2 (12.0-21.1)	88.6 (86.6-90.4)	25.1 (19.7-31.5)	81.7 (80.9-82.5)

### Discussion

#### **Principal Findings**

In summary, the results of this study support the fact that the family history of DM, older age, high WC, high BMI, hypertension, dyslipidemia, lower educational status, and marital status (ever married) have significant relationship with DM and are consistent with the findings from other studies [19-22]. The individuals with higher educational status tend to avoid unhealthy behaviors such as physical inactivity, alcohol abuse, smoking, and so on. [23]. This is usually coupled with the knowledge and circumstances favoring better understanding of health needs and easier access to the health care services [23,24]. Even though family history of DM is a reasonable indicator of DM in this study and supports the fact that the genetics may have a strong influence on burden of disease among participants; however, the impact of other social, environmental, and health factors cannot be ignored

DM prevalence is a result of complex interaction between personal, social, economic, and environmental factors in a geographical region. This study demonstrates DM as an important public health challenge in Qatar somewhat similar to the other countries in the region [11,14,15]. Overall, 19% of sample had DM with a higher frequency among women compared with men (Table 1). Furthermore, the STEPwise data shows that Qatar has a higher prevalence of obesity especially among women [16,25]. This gender distribution is similar to a study conducted in the Saudi Arabia (2012) in which female participants had higher obesity compared with men [26]. The overall DM prevalence was also similar in the Saudi Arabia study (21.5%); however, a higher percentage of DM was observed among males compared with females [26]. Even though 60.2% of participants among diabetics group were females, it is important to mention that the percentage of having DM among male participants (out of all male participants) was slightly higher than females.

While examining the impact of obesity on DM, both generalized and central types obesity were found to be significantly associated with DM in this study. Central obesity among females had slightly higher odds (OR 2.0) of having DM versus males (OR 1.8; Table.3). According to the 2001 Korea National Health

```
http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e7/
```

and Nutrition Examination Survey (KNHANES), WC and BMI both were identified as a risk factor for DM in females and WC was also associated with DM in males [27]. A meta-analysis based on 18 prospective cohort studies showed that the obese and overweight individuals were at 7 and 3 times higher risk of developing DM, respectively, when compared with those with normal weight [28]. The same study also showed that females with obesity were relatively at higher risk of developing DM compared with males [28].

In this study, the family history of DM was found among about 70% of STEP 3 survey participants. The data also showed that around 20% of survey participants who had family history of DM also had DM which constitutes 74.6% of identified 279 diabetics in the sample of this study (Table 1). The high prevalence of DM with family history coincides with the findings from other studies [19,29-31]. The study also revealed that hypertension was a risk factor in the development of DM among participants which is consistent with the findings from a study based on UK Clinical Practice Research Datalink [32].

#### **Strengths and Limitations**

In this study, using data from a national population based survey was a main strength [16]. The survey is based on the WHO-STEPS protocol and considered a standardized tool [17]. The STEPS survey methodology provides a representative sample from a target population [16,17]. Furthermore, the DM status was determined by using subjective as well as objective (bio-chemical) responses/outcomes from the survey data to avoid any missing individuals with DM, for example, the ones who were previously diagnosed to have DM and had FBG levels less than cut off point. Like any other cross-sectional study, STEPS survey in Qatar also faced issues pertaining to the response rates, recall bias and associated misclassification. One of the study limitation is that the findings may not be directly comparable with other studies from different geographical regions, mainly due to the differences in methodology; however, it can be compared with the findings that were obtained using STEPS or similar methodology.

#### Conclusions

According to this study, the central and generalized obesity both have an impact on the DM prevalence among Qatari adults.

Furthermore, social and behavioral factors seem to have an influence on DM prevalence. In general, DM and obesity together are a major problem in the State of Qatar that requires evidence-based strategies to reduce associated morbidity and premature death. The results of this study might help public health and medical professionals in planning and implementing effective and sustainable interventions.

#### Acknowledgments

No funding was received for this study. Work in this study was supported by the Ministry of Public Health, Qatar. The authors would like to thank Ministry of Development and Planning, Qatar for their support during implementation of National STEPS Survey 2012.

#### **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

#### References

- 1. World Health Organization. Diabetes URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs312/en/</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pApXMJHh]
- 2. American Diabetes Association. Complications URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.org/living-with-diabetes/complications/</u>[accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pApoHBsX]
- Badran M, Laher I. Type II diabetes mellitus in Arabic-speaking countries. Int J Endocrinol 2012;2012:902873. [doi: 10.1155/2012/902873] [Medline: 22851968]
- 4. World Health Organization. Diabetes URL: <u>http://www.emro.who.int/health-topics/diabetes/index.html</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pApsKtv8]
- 5. World Health Organization. Obesity and overweight URL: <u>http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pApxNTNG]
- 6. NCBI. Insulin Resistance URL: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMHT0023068/</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAq4avww]
- Feller S, Boeing H, Pischon T. Body mass index, waist circumference, and the risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus: implications for routine clinical practice. Dtsch Arztebl Int 2010 Jul;107(26):470-476 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3238/arztebl.2010.0470] [Medline: 20644701]
- 8. Bray GA. Medical consequences of obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2004 Jun;89(6):2583-2589. [doi: <u>10.1210/jc.2004-0535</u>] [Medline: <u>15181027</u>]
- 9. Kahn S, Hull R, Utzschneider K. Mechanisms linking obesity to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes. Nature 2006 Dec 14;444(7121):840-846. [doi: 10.1038/nature05482] [Medline: 17167471]
- 10. American Diabetes Association. Genetics of diabetes URL: <u>http://www.diabetes.org/diabetes-basics/genetics-of-diabetes.</u> <u>html</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAq8PWM5]
- Ali Faleh MH, Nikoloski Z, Reka H, Gjebrea O, Mossialos E. The diabetes-obesity-hypertension nexus in Qatar: evidence from the World Health Survey. Popul Health Metr 2014;12:18 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1478-7954-12-18] [Medline: 25170308]
- 12. Ministry of Public Health, Qatar. Qatar health report 2013 URL: <u>https://www.moph.gov.qa/home-en</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAZHTvCW]
- 13. Ministry of Public Health, Qatar. SCH public health report 2011-2012 URL: <u>https://www.moph.gov.qa/home-en</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAZHTvCW]
- Badran M, Laher I. Obesity in Arabic-speaking countries. J Obes 2011;2011:686430 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1155/2011/686430] [Medline: 22175002]
- 15. Badawi A, Arora P, Sadoun E, Al-Thani AA, Thani MH. Prevalence of vitamin d insufficiency in qatar: a systematic review. J Public Health Res 2012 Dec 28;1(3):229-235 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.4081/jphr.2012.e36] [Medline: 25170469]
- 16. Ministry of Public Health, Qatar. Qatar: Doha; 2012. STEPwise report for chronic disease risk factor surveillance URL: https://www.moph.gov.qa/home-en [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAZHTvCW]
- 17. World Health Organization. STEPwise approach to surveillance (STEPS) URL: <u>http://www.who.int/chp/steps/en/</u> [accessed 2017-03-23] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAb3i4nV]
- 18. World Health Organization. Waist circumference and waist-hip ratio URL: <u>http://www.who.int/nutrition/publications/</u> <u>obesity/WHO report waistcircumference and waisthip ratio/en/</u> [accessed 2017-03-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6pAabjHt9]
- Wang R, Zhang P, Lv X, Jiang L, Gao C, Song Y, et al. Situation of diabetes and related disease surveillance in rural areas of Jilin Province, Northeast China. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2016 May 27;13(6):538 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.3390/ijerph13060538]

- 20. Gnavi R, Karaghiosoff L, Costa G, Merletti F, Bruno G. Socio-economic differences in the prevalence of diabetes in Italy: the population-based Turin study. Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2008 Dec;18(10):678-682. [doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2007.11.004] [Medline: 18395428]
- 21. Kaiser A, Vollenweider P, Waeber G, Marques-Vidal P. Prevalence, awareness and treatment of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Switzerland: the CoLaus study. Diabet Med 2012 Feb;29(2):190-197. [doi: 10.1111/j.1464-5491.2011.03422.x] [Medline: 21883431]
- 22. Bhargava A. A longitudinal analysis of the risk factors for diabetes and coronary heart disease in the Framingham Offspring Study. Popul Health Metr 2003 Apr 14;1(1):3 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>12773213</u>]
- Sacerdote C, Ricceri F, Rolandsson O, Baldi I, Chirlaque M, Feskens E, et al. Lower educational level is a predictor of incident type 2 diabetes in European countries: the EPIC-InterAct study. Int J Epidemiol 2012 Aug;41(4):1162-1173. [doi: 10.1093/ije/dys091] [Medline: 22736421]
- Agardh EE, Sidorchuk A, Hallqvist J, Ljung R, Peterson S, Moradi T, et al. Burden of type 2 diabetes attributed to lower educational levels in Sweden. Popul Health Metr 2011 Dec 16;9:60 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1478-7954-9-60] [Medline: 22176634]
- 25. Al-Thani M, Al-Thani A, Al-Chetachi W, Khalifa S, Akram H, Poovelil B, et al. Dietary and nutritional factors influencing obesity in Qatari adults and the modifying effect of physical activity. J Obes Weight-Loss Medic 2015 Sep 10;1:1-7 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.6084/m9.figshare.4004742]
- 26. Amin TT, Al Sultan AI, Mostafa OA, Darwish AA, Al-Naboli MR. Profile of non-communicable disease risk factors among employees at a Saudi university. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev 2014;15(18):7897-7907 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 25292084]
- Ko M, Kim MT, Nam JJ. Assessing risk factors of coronary heart disease and its risk prediction among Korean adults: the 2001 Korea National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey. Int J Cardiol 2006 Jun 16;110(2):184-190. [doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2005.07.030] [Medline: 16412525]
- Abdullah A, Peeters A, de CM, Stoelwinder J. The magnitude of association between overweight and obesity and the risk of diabetes: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. Diabetes Res Clin Pract 2010 Sep;89(3):309-319. [doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2010.04.012] [Medline: 20493574]
- 29. Valdez R, Yoon P, Liu T, Khoury M. Family history and prevalence of diabetes in the U.S. population: the 6-year results from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (1999-2004). Diabetes Care 2007 Oct;30(10):2517-2522. [doi: 10.2337/dc07-0720] [Medline: 17634276]
- Ramachandran A, Snehalatha C, Kapur A, Vijay V, Mohan V, Das AK, Diabetes Epidemiology Study Group in India (DESI). High prevalence of diabetes and impaired glucose tolerance in India: National Urban Diabetes Survey. Diabetologia 2001 Sep;44(9):1094-1101. [doi: <u>10.1007/s001250100627</u>] [Medline: <u>11596662</u>]
- 31. Hariri S, Yoon P, Qureshi N, Valdez R, Scheuner M, Khoury M. Family history of type 2 diabetes: a population-based screening tool for prevention? Genet Med 2006 Feb;8(2):102-108. [doi: <u>10.1097/01.gim.0000200949.52795.df</u>] [Medline: <u>16481893</u>]
- Emdin CA, Anderson SG, Woodward M, Rahimi K. Usual blood pressure and risk of new-onset diabetes: evidence from 4.1 million adults and a meta-analysis of prospective studies. J Am Coll Cardiol 2015 Oct 06;66(14):1552-1562 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2015.07.059] [Medline: 26429079]

#### Abbreviations

BMI: Body mass index BP: Blood pressure DM: Diabetes mellitus FBG: Fasting blood glucose NCDs: Noncommunicable diseases PSUs: Primary sampling units STEPS: STEPwise survey WC: Waist circumference WHO: World Health Organization WHS: World health survey



Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 20.02.17; peer-reviewed by A Aizikovich, Z Chiragh; comments to author 22.03.17; revised version received 23.03.17; accepted 23.03.17; published 03.05.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Al-Thani M, Al-Thani AA, Al-Chetachi W, Khalifa SE, Vinodson B, Al-Malki B, Haj Bakri A, Akram H Situation of Diabetes and Related Factors Among Qatari Adults: Findings From a Community-Based Survey JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e7 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e7/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.7535 PMID:30291095

©Mohammed Al-Thani, Al-Anoud Al-Thani, Walaa Al-Chetachi, Shams Eldin Khalifa, Benjamin Vinodson, Badria Al-Malki, Ahmad Haj Bakri, Hammad Akram. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 03.05.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



#### **Viewpoint**

# The Case for Jointly Targeting Diabetes and Depression Among Vulnerable Patients Using Digital Technology

Adrian Aguilera<sup>1,2</sup>, PhD; Courtney Rees Lyles<sup>3</sup>, PhD

<sup>1</sup>School of Social Welfare, University of California, Berkeley, Berkeley, CA, United States

<sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States
<sup>3</sup>Division of General Internal Medicine, Zuckerberg San Francisco General Hospital, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, United States

#### **Corresponding Author:**

Adrian Aguilera, PhD School of Social Welfare University of California, Berkeley 120 Haviland Hall, MC 7400 Berkeley, CA, United States Phone: 1 510 642 8564 Fax: 1 510 643 6126 Email: aguila@berkeley.edu

## Abstract

It is well publicized that mobile and digital technologies hold great promise to improve health outcomes among patients with chronic illnesses such as diabetes. However, there is growing concern that digital health investments (both from federal research dollars and private venture investments) have not yet resulted in tangible health improvements. We see three major reasons for this limited real-world impact on health outcomes: (1) lack of solutions relevant for patients with multiple comorbidities or conditions, (2) lack of diverse patient populations involved in the design and early testing of products, and (3) inability to leverage existing clinical workflows to improve both patient enrollment and engagement in technology use. We discuss each of these in depth, followed by new research directions to increase effectiveness in this field.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e1) doi:10.2196/diabetes.6916

#### KEYWORDS

diabetes; depression; chronic illness; digital health; vulnerable populations

## Introduction

## Targeting Conditions Like Diabetes and Depression Simultaneously

Depression and diabetes are highly comorbid disorders that are of major public health concern, particularly among low-income populations [1]. Having diabetes doubles the risk of depression [2]. Comorbidity of the 2 disorders is associated with increased mortality [3] and worse clinical outcomes, including increased diabetes symptoms, poorer glycemic control, poorer self-management, and higher likelihood of complications [4]. There is a growing body of literature that suggests that physical activity is strongly linked to both depressive symptoms and glycemic control [5-10], making self-management strategies with an emphasis on initiating and maintaining physical activity levels a high priority [11]. In fact, targeting depression by increasing physical and social activity, also known as behavioral

RenderX

activation, may be more palatable to patients and as effective as approaches focused on thoughts and emotions alone [12]. Stress management, healthy coping strategies, and problem solving are also key elements of behavioral interventions for both diabetes and depression [13]. However, interventions have tended to focus on *either* depression or diabetes alone, despite their co-occurrence and similar behavioral treatment strategies. The siloed approach to addressing conditions individually is often criticized, yet it remains the standard approach in both traditional health care and digital health.

Technology-based interventions like text messaging and smartphone applications have shown some efficacy in helping patients engage in the healthy behaviors but similarly remain siloed in their approaches. Thinking creatively about targeting common elements such as physical activity management to improve mood as well as blood sugar levels is one novel way to ensure that patients facing multiple chronic conditions do not
need to download or enroll in multiple programs to be able to work on improving their health. For example, there is evidence that 1-way educational content delivered via texting can improve diabetes outcomes for vulnerable patient populations [14], and this content could be combined with passive sensing technology on smartphones to provide even more personalized support on physical activity behaviors using accelerometers that could benefit patients with both diabetes and depression without significant tracking effort required for patients [15,16].

# Lack of Design and Testing With Diverse Patients

Underserved and vulnerable patient populations from low-income and racial/ethnic minority backgrounds face the disproportionate burden of chronic disease like diabetes in the United States, and yet few digital health products are designed with these patients' needs and skills in mind. As of October 2015, smartphone ownership in the United States was at 68% with Latinos (64%) and African Americans (68%) very close to the overall ownership rate. Individuals with incomes under \$30,000 (52%) and those whose highest level of education was less than high school (41%) or high school (56%) had lower rates of smartphone ownership rate [17]. Including diverse patient populations with complex health care conditions in user-centered design work would better reflect the general patient population and their competing needs and lived experiences in everyday life [18]. Diversity in participants also ensures a wide range of feedback, as opposed to only recruiting participants who have extensive prior experience using technology and give much different types of information about the digital solution. For example, we understand the importance of designing within safety net populations to ensure that the content is easy to understand and available in the appropriate format and languages. Also, digital health interventions may be experienced differently based on one's cultural and social context. For example, during a text messaging intervention for depression, Spanish speakers tended to report feeling cared for and supported while English speakers reported that the intervention helped them be more self aware [19]. In the end, it is more likely that mobile interventions will be accessible and easy to use for all patient populations if they are designed and tested with diverse patients from the outset, which has direct implications for widespread dissemination and implementation [20].

# Thoughtfully Linking Digital Programs to Clinical Processes to Increase Patient Engagement

We see a role for mobile technology to extend existing care processes to provide support for patients in between office visits to reduce the burden on providers and to make integrated treatment more personalized, efficient, and available [21]. It is clear from the growing body of literature that mobile interventions result in even larger effect sizes when the messages are integrated into existing clinical care structures [18,21-25]. For example, patients are more likely to sign up for technology programs when they have an established relationship with a provider or health care system that will be sponsoring the program, and digital health interventions are most effective when they are combined with real or perceived connections to health care providers [26]. In many instances, patients state that

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e1/

XSL•FC RenderX they feel that their provider is directly communicating with them via technologies like texting, even if the content is mostly automated on the back-end [19].

In addition, clinical practitioners recognize the importance of increasing holistic support for patients with both depression and diabetes [27-29] but acknowledge that providing intensive, in-person comanagement cannot be ramped up without improved clinic capacity and/or efficiency. In this realistic understanding of time constraints, technology can then serve as a means to reach a larger group of patients with personalized educational or motivational content. For example, there is evidence that self-reported patient data such as mood ratings collected via technology can be a proxy for more intensive gold standard measures [30]. Without much additional effort, the same clinic-embedded technology platform could also be used to subsequently identify nonresponsive individuals as the program progresses. Clinic staff members could use the nonresponse data to target intensive in-person support to nonengaged patients who need it most. This is particularly salient because one of the primary barriers to the widespread implementation of technology-enabled interventions is the ability to keep patients engaged in using the programs over time. Several real-world examples have shown that uptake of many digital interventions is high at the onset but wanes quickly over time [31]. Particularly for vulnerable patient populations, there are higher levels of competing life demands that make long-term participation in disease self-management programs challenging [32]. Therefore, targeting and planning for some level of human support from the clinic is essential in maintaining use with digital interventions.

# Future Research Directions

# **Codesign of Technology Among Diverse Patients With Multiple Chronic Conditions**

As the first steps in creating technology relevant for diverse patients with both diabetes and depression, we have ensured that our research team (1) reflects both behavioral health and physical health expertise and (2) is situated within outpatient clinics that serve predominantly low-income patients who bring a wide variety of life experiences to this work. We will use this environment to ensure that our user-centered design and technology usability testing represents a diversity of people so that the final products can be applied more broadly. Sampling directly from patient populations served in public health care systems and community health centers can ensure that the future uptake of the technology will not be hindered by fundamental challenges of digital literacy, health literacy, and/or language accessibility.

# Integrated Focus on Primary Care Integration and Leveraging Technology to Improve Patient Engagement

Moving forward, we will also continue to aim for clinic integration whenever possible. The roles of technology and in-person clinic relationships are likely cyclical and reinforcing. For example, the perceived connection with a provider may be a powerful component that increases enrollment into technology

programs offered within a clinic setting. In turn, the technology might provide engagement/usage data that can then allow clinics to know to whom and when to reach out to solve barriers and improve sustained participation in the program. In other words, rather than offering one-on-one support to all participants, technology can help triage one-on-one intensification *only* to those not responding to the initial automated messaging. Our goal also includes answering important research questions about how much human support and when is ideal to reach the highest number of people.

# Considerations of Low-Cost Technology Solutions for Widespread Impact

Finally, our team will continue to investigate technologies that are widely accessible for low-income and diverse populations rather than designing for the newest devices or services. For example, the widespread use, low cost, and highly scalable nature of text and other messaging technologies (eg, WhatsApp, Facebook Messenger) makes them potential tools in reducing disparities. While the digital divide is wide for use of broadband Internet and for smartphone use, mobile technologies are pervasive across the socioeconomic spectrum, making messaging an ideal tool to increase the reach, adoption, and implementation of efficacious interventions for chronic illness. Furthermore, text messaging is a powerful common denominator technology that can be powerful when combined with back-end programming and machine learning that can take data that are received and act upon them in a personalized manner. When these data are analyzed and visualized by a clinician, they can also inform provider decision making. For example, clinicians could be alerted when individuals have had long periods of lower than average activity or mood to intervene and problem solve at indicated times. The bottom line is that technologies continue to change, but our research program will focus on key functions like messaging that will continue to be a core tool of digital health for many years to come.

# Conclusions and Implications

In order for digital health technologies to achieve their promise, they must address health in a more holistic way that helps prevent and treat the various health conditions that people manage without having to engage in various interventions. In this essay, we have presented the example of diabetes and depression as 2 interventions that can be addressed simultaneously by a broader vision of supporting key health behaviors like physical activity and stress management. It is also important to create and test these technologies with populations most impacted by health problems, in particular, vulnerable and underserved populations. Last, in order to reach scale, digital health technologies should be integrated into clinical care so that data can be integrated and used to improve quality and efficiency. If these steps are taken, we believe that digital health can maximize its positive impact on improving population health.

# Acknowledgments

Adrian Aguilera was supported by National Institutes of Health grant K23MH094442. Courtney Lyles was supported by Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality grant R00HS022408.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Thomas J, Jones G, Scarinci I, Brantley P. A descriptive and comparative study of the prevalence of depressive and anxiety disorders in low-income adults with type 2 diabetes and other chronic illnesses. Diabetes Care 2003 Aug;26(8):2311-2317. [Medline: <u>12882854</u>]
- 2. Anderson RJ, Freedland KE, Clouse RE, Lustman PJ. The prevalence of comorbid depression in adults with diabetes: a meta-analysis. Diabetes Care 2001 Jun;24(6):1069-1078. [Medline: <u>11375373</u>]
- 3. Katon WJ, Rutter C, Simon G, Lin EH, Ludman E, Ciechanowski P, et al. The association of comorbid depression with mortality in patients with type 2 diabetes. Diabetes Care 2005 Nov;28(11):2668-2672. [Medline: <u>16249537</u>]
- 4. Colon E, Giachello A, McIver L, Pacheco G, Vela L. Diabetes and depression in the Hispanic/Latino community. Clinical Diabetes 2013 Jan 17;31(1):43-45. [doi: 10.2337/diaclin.31.1.43]
- 5. Lin EH, Katon W, Von Korff M, Rutter C, Simon GE, Oliver M, et al. Relationship of depression and diabetes self-care, medication adherence, and preventive care. Diabetes Care 2004 Sep;27(9):2154-2160. [Medline: 15333477]
- Sigal RJ, Kenny GP, Wasserman DH, Castaneda-Sceppa C, White RD. Physical activity/exercise and type 2 diabetes: a consensus statement from the American Diabetes Association. Diabetes Care 2006 Jun;29(6):1433-1438. [doi: 10.2337/dc06-9910] [Medline: 16732040]
- Lysy Z, Da Costa D, Dasgupta K. The association of physical activity and depression in type 2 diabetes. Diabet Med 2008 Oct;25(10):1133-1141. [doi: <u>10.1111/j.1464-5491.2008.02545.x</u>] [Medline: <u>19046190</u>]
- 8. Strawbridge WJ, Deleger S, Roberts RE, Kaplan GA. Physical activity reduces the risk of subsequent depression for older adults. Am J Epidemiol 2002 Aug 15;156(4):328-334 [FREE Full text] [Medline: 12181102]
- 9. Morrato EH, Hill JO, Wyatt HR, Ghushchyan V, Sullivan PW. Physical activity in U.S. adults with diabetes and at risk for developing diabetes, 2003. Diabetes Care 2007 Feb;30(2):203-209. [doi: <u>10.2337/dc06-1128</u>] [Medline: <u>17259482</u>]

RenderX

- 10. Penedo FJ, Dahn JR. Exercise and well-being: a review of mental and physical health benefits associated with physical activity. Curr Opin Psychiatry 2005 Mar;18(2):189-193. [Medline: <u>16639173</u>]
- 11. Qiu S, Cai X, Chen X, Yang B, Sun Z. Step counter use in type 2 diabetes: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Med 2014 Feb 27;12:36 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-36] [Medline: 24571580]
- 12. Dimidjian S, Hollon SD, Dobson KS, Schmaling KB, Kohlenberg RJ, Addis ME, et al. Randomized trial of behavioral activation, cognitive therapy, and antidepressant medication in the acute treatment of adults with major depression. J Consult Clin Psychol 2006 Aug;74(4):658-670. [doi: 10.1037/0022-006X.74.4.658] [Medline: 16881773]
- 13. American Association of Diabetes Educators. AADE: 7 self-care behaviors. Diabetes Educ 2008:445-449.
- 14. Arora S, Peters AL, Agy C, Menchine M. A mobile health intervention for inner city patients with poorly controlled diabetes: proof-of-concept of the TExT-MED program. Diabetes Technol Ther 2012 Jun;14(6):492-496. [doi: 10.1089/dia.2011.0252] [Medline: 22524591]
- Glynn LG, Hayes PS, Casey M, Glynn F, Alvarez-Iglesias A, Newell J, et al. Effectiveness of a smartphone application to promote physical activity in primary care: the SMART MOVE randomised controlled trial. Br J Gen Pract 2014 Jul;64(624):e384-e391. [doi: 10.3399/bjgp14X680461] [Medline: 24982490]
- Bort-Roig J, Gilson ND, Puig-Ribera A, Contreras RS, Trost SG. Measuring and influencing physical activity with smartphone technology: a systematic review. Sports Med 2014 May;44(5):671-686. [doi: <u>10.1007/s40279-014-0142-5</u>] [Medline: <u>24497157</u>]
- 17. Smith A. US smartphone use in 2015. Washington: Pew Internet and American Life Project; 2015. URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/files/2015/03/PI\_Smartphones\_0401151.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-01-11] [WebCite Cache ID 6nRvGFe7Y]
- Mohr DC, Schueller SM, Montague E, Burns MN, Rashidi P. The behavioral intervention technology model: an integrated conceptual and technological framework for eHealth and mHealth interventions. J Med Internet Res 2014;16(6):e146 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.3077] [Medline: 24905070]
- 19. Aguilera A, Berridge C. Qualitative feedback from a text messaging intervention for depression: benefits, drawbacks, and cultural differences. JMIR Mhealth Uhealth 2014 Nov 05;2(4):e46 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/mhealth.3660] [Medline: 25373390]
- 20. Lyles C, Schillinger D, Sarkar U. Connecting the dots: health information technology expansion and health disparities. PLoS Med 2015 Jul;12(7):e1001852 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001852] [Medline: 26172977]
- Glasgow RE, Kurz D, King D, Dickman JM, Faber AJ, Halterman E, et al. Twelve-month outcomes of an Internet-based diabetes self-management support program. Patient Educ Couns 2012 Apr;87(1):81-92 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2011.07.024] [Medline: 21924576]
- 22. Kreuter M, Farrell D, Olevitch L, Brennan L. Tailoring Health Messages: Customizing Communication With Computer Technology. London: Routledge; 2013.
- 23. Marcus BH, Bock BC, Pinto BM, Forsyth LH, Roberts MB, Traficante RM. Efficacy of an individualized, motivationally-tailored physical activity intervention. Ann Behav Med 1998;20(3):174-180. [Medline: <u>9989324</u>]
- 24. Nundy S, Dick JJ, Chou C, Nocon RS, Chin MH, Peek ME. Mobile phone diabetes project led to improved glycemic control and net savings for Chicago plan participants. Health Aff (Millwood) 2014 Feb;33(2):265-272 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1377/hlthaff.2013.0589] [Medline: 24493770]
- 25. Patrick K, Raab F, Adams MA, Dillon L, Zabinski M, Rock CL, et al. A text message-based intervention for weight loss: randomized controlled trial. J Med Internet Res 2009;11(1):e1 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1100] [Medline: 19141433]
- 26. Wagner EH, Austin BT, Davis C, Hindmarsh M, Schaefer J, Bonomi A. Improving chronic illness care: translating evidence into action. Health Aff (Millwood) 2001;20(6):64-78 [FREE Full text] [Medline: <u>11816692</u>]
- Bower P, Gilbody S, Richards D, Fletcher J, Sutton A. Collaborative care for depression in primary care. Making sense of a complex intervention: systematic review and meta-regression. Br J Psychiatry 2006 Dec;189:484-493 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.106.023655] [Medline: 17139031]
- Katon WJ, Lin EH, Von Korff M, Ciechanowski P, Ludman EJ, Young B, et al. Collaborative care for patients with depression and chronic illnesses. N Engl J Med 2010 Dec 30;363(27):2611-2620 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1003955] [Medline: 21190455]
- 29. Bogner HR, Morales KH, de Vries HF, Cappola AR. Integrated management of type 2 diabetes mellitus and depression treatment to improve medication adherence: a randomized controlled trial. Ann Fam Med 2012;10(1):15-22 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1370/afm.1344] [Medline: 22230826]
- 30. Aguilera A, Schueller SM, Leykin Y. Daily mood ratings via text message as a proxy for clinic based depression assessment. J Affect Disord 2015 Apr 1;175:471-474 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2015.01.033] [Medline: 25679202]
- 31. Eysenbach G. The law of attrition. J Med Internet Res 2005 Mar 31;7(1):e11 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.7.1.e11] [Medline: 15829473]
- 32. Aguilera A, Garza MJ, Muñoz RF. Group cognitive-behavioral therapy for depression in Spanish: culture-sensitive manualized treatment in practice. J Clin Psychol 2010 Aug;66(8):857-867 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1002/jclp.20706] [Medline: 20549680]

RenderX

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 28.10.16; peer-reviewed by R Sigal, P Ciechanowski; comments to author 21.12.16; revised version received 05.01.17; accepted 06.01.17; published 17.01.17. <u>Please cite as:</u> Aguilera A, Lyles CR The Case for Jointly Targeting Diabetes and Depression Among Vulnerable Patients Using Digital Technology JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e1 URL: http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e1/ doi:10.2196/diabetes.6916 PMID:30291080

©Adrian Aguilera, Courtney Rees Lyles. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 17.01.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/2.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



# **Original Paper**

# Impact of Facebook on Glucose Control in Type 1 Diabetes: A Three-Year Cohort Study

Goran Petrovski<sup>1\*</sup>, MD, PhD; Marija Zivkovic<sup>1\*</sup>, MD

University Clinic of Endocrinology and Diabetes, Center for Insulin Pump and Sensor, University Ss. Cyril and Methodius, Skopje, The Former Yugoslav Republic Of Macedonia

<sup>\*</sup>all authors contributed equally

# **Corresponding Author:**

Goran Petrovski, MD, PhD University Clinic of Endocrinology and Diabetes Center for Insulin Pump and Sensor University Ss. Cyril and Methodius Vodnjanska b.b. Skopje, 1000 The Former Yugoslav Republic Of Macedonia Phone: 389 70274728 Fax: 389 23147254 Email: goran.endo@gmail.com

# Abstract

**Background:** As the world is changing, traditional health care services should be adapted for the new era of technology and the Internet. One of the possible ways for communication between health care providers and patients is social media. There are several benefits of social media in health: increased interactions with others; more available and shared information; increased accessibility; social or emotional support.

**Objective:** The aim of this study was to evaluate the results of Facebook and CareLink software as a possible Internet tool to improve diabetes control in type 1 diabetes patients using a sensor augmented pump.

**Methods:** A total of 67 adolescents with type 1 diabetes and in the age range of 14-23 years were randomized in 2 groups: (1) Traditional group and (2) Internet group. In the traditional group, 34 patients were treated using standard medical protocol with regular clinic visits, where data were uploaded at the clinic and interventions (pump settings-basal bolus insulin and education) were delivered to the patient. In the Internet group, 33 patients were treated using Facebook and CareLink software (Medtronic Diabetes) on a monthly basis, where the data were uploaded by the patient at home and interventions (same as traditional group) were delivered via Facebook (written reports and chats). Both the traditional and Internet group had regular visits every 3 months with standard medical protocol. Glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA1c) was obtained before and every 3 months during the study for a 3-year-period.

**Results:** The improvement in glucose control was found in both groups: 7.9% (SD 1.4) [62.8 mmol/mol (SD 12.9)] to 6.9% (SD 1.2) [51.9 mmol/mol (SD 10.8)] in the traditional group, and 7.8% (SD 1.8) [61.7 mmol/mol (SD 17.2)] to 6.7% (SD 1.8) [49.7 mmol/mol (SD 17.3)] in the Internet group). Significant improvement of HbA1c (P<.05) was found in favor of the Internet group.

**Conclusions:** Social media such as Facebook as a tool can assist in standard medical care to improve glucose control in a long term period in adolescents with type 1 diabetes using insulin pump therapy.

(JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e9) doi:10.2196/diabetes.7693

# KEYWORDS

social media; type 1 diabetes; insulin pump; Facebook

# Introduction

Diabetes is a public health problem of increasing magnitude. The prevalence of diagnosed diabetes increased by 49% from

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e9/

1990 to 2002 and is expected to increase by 165% from 2000 to 2050 [1]. Health care providers are faced with an increased need of services with enormous number of patients and visits.

As the world is changing, traditional health care services should adapt to the new era of technology and the Internet.

Patients use the Internet to seek, meet, and interact with a community of patients with similar problems to share clinical information and to provide and receive support [2-4]. This is a new type of dynamic online communication in contrast to earlier health-related websites. It offers patients an opportunity to benefit from a social media to learn about their illness and to gain support from others with similar experiences.

Patients are becoming increasingly active on the Web [5]. One study reports that searching for health care information was the third most common Web-based activity [6], whereas the other study reports that 72% of adult Internet users search for support and medical information on the Web [7]. Other studies demonstrate that 67% of Internet users were using social media for whichever purpose, whereas 26% were using it for health-related issues [8].

One of the possible ways to deliver Internet care is social media, which can be defined as a group of Web-based applications that allow for the creation and exchange of user-generated content [9].

There are several benefits [10] of using social media in health: increased interactions with others, increased availability and sharing of information; increased accessibility; and peer, social, or emotional support. But there are also some limitations: lack of reliability, quality concerns, lack of confidentiality and privacy, risks of disclosing personal information on the Web, and harmful or incorrect advice.

Social media is sometimes viewed as manipulative and often perceived as a contradiction in terms because it is often interpreted as the business of selling goods and services. On the other hand, it can be used as a social purpose for behavior change and improved health [11].

There are different types of social media and they can overlap among the various services. With over 1.78 billion active monthly users worldwide in 2016 [12], Facebook is an important Web-based meeting place for social networking. Many specific groups for disease management have arisen on Facebook, representing important sources of information, support, and engagement for patients with chronic disease. However, relatively little research has been conducted for disease management. Facebook and Facebook groups serve as promotional spaces, support patients and their families [13], are repositories of recruitable research subjects, and serve as venues for the solicitation and provision of forms of disease management knowledge not necessarily available through more formal channels of professional consultation [14]. Recent studies evaluate the data of Facebook groups, where the mothers of children with type 1 diabetes seek and provide information to better manage the disease's daily demands [15] with 5 dominant thematic clusters ("food and correction," "diabetes and life," "hi group," "bureaucracy," and "needle"). The data from discussion boards with use of computer technology can assist health care providers to address these problems and improve glucose control and quality of life [16]. Facebook group "Diabetes Macedonia" was formed by patients' needs in 2008.

http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e9/

XSL•FC

Its first task was to share diabetes information among patients. It is a closed group that helps patients to communicate and share their experience with other patients. The enormous growth of new users (1840 patients, family members, etc, by September 2012) led to the creation of a structured platform by health care providers (doctors and nurses) to adjust and correct the information posted by patients, if needed.

The aim of the study was to evaluate results of Facebook and CareLink software as a possible Internet tool to improve diabetes control in adolescents with type 1 diabetes on sensor augmented pump. To our knowledge, this is the first long-term study where Facebook is used as a supplemental treatment to traditional clinic visits.

# Methods

Study participants included adolescents with type 1 diabetes, aged 14-23 years, with diabetes duration of 6.1 (2.3) years, treated with an insulin pump and sensor for at least 6 months, and had at least two outpatient visits to our center in the past year with intention to return. We did not find significant difference of glycosylated hemoglobin (HbA<sub>1c</sub>) level in the beginning of the study with 6 months before entering the study.

Patients were recruited at their regularly scheduled appointments, where the adolescent met with a trained research assistant who obtained written informed consent and assent, respectively. All procedures followed were in accordance with the ethical standards of the responsible committee on human experimentation (institutional and national) and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2005. Eligible patients and families were sequentially approached until 70 agreed to participate (3 patients did not finish the study).

Patient's participation was on a voluntary basis, and the opportunity to join the Facebook group "Diabetes Macedonia" was promoted in our service with an appropriate information packet. Patients were randomized in 2 groups:

- Traditional group: A total of 34 type 1 diabetes patients were treated using standard medical protocol with regular visits at clinic, where the data were downloaded using CareLink professional software (Medtronic Diabetes) at the clinic, and intervention (education, pump settings, basal and bolus insulin) were delivered to the patient.
- Internet group: A total of 33 type 1 diabetes patients were treated using CareLink personal program (Medtronic Diabetes), where the data were uploaded by the patient at home, automatically transferred to CareLink Professional, and interventions (same as traditional group) were delivered via Facebook (written reports and chats).

Insulin pump therapy was performed using aspart, lispro, and glulisine in a Medtronic insulin pump (model 722 or Veo) with a Medtronic MiniLink sensor. En-lite sensors (Medtronic Diabetes) were used on a continuous basis during the study and patients were encouraged to use the sensor at least 80% of the time. A CareLink personal account was prepared for all the patients and linked to the CareLink Professional software, which was used to analyze diabetes control.

During the entire study, all the patients received a standardized protocol of education about correct diabetes control provided by diabetologist and diabetes nurse, including carbohydrate counting, balanced nutritional program, and regular physical activity (3 h a week).

Patients from both groups were members of the Facebook group, and all of them got an opportunity to share their experience. Health care providers followed the posts on Facebook and intervened if anyone needed further information and advice. This information was available for patients from both groups. The traditional and Internet group had the same intervention delivered by different methods retrospectively (in clinic visit vs Facebook visit).

The duration of visit was 22 min (SD 4.5) in the traditional group and 21 min (SD 3.2) in the Internet group. The communication in the Internet group was performed using Facebook messages and chats.

Internet visits were mostly performed by physicians, and changes in the pump (ICHR, ISF, basal rates, and bolus wizard) was done by patients, if needed. Advice from nurses was mainly on support and technical aspects (low and high blood sugar, regular SMBG, infusion rotation, tubing, etc).

The following characteristics were evaluated (self-reports and previous medical history): age, duration of diabetes, and body mass index. Severe hypoglycemic events (defined as glucose level <2.8 mmol/l and inability to self-treat, requiring treatment by another person, where glucagon or intravenous glucose was required to solve the situation), and diabetic ketoacidosis (DKA) episodes (defined as hospital admission due to ketoacidosis with positive ketonemia or ketonuria, hyperglycemia >11 mmol/L and pH <7.3, and clinical signs with episodes of hyperglycemia) were also evaluated during the study.

Table 1. Clinical characteristics of patients enrolled in the study.

 $Hb_{A1c}$  (by high-performance liquid chromatography, reference value 4.6-5.8% [26.8 mmol/mol (SD 39.9)]) was measured every 3 months during the study in the 3-year-period. Mean blood glucose and insulin requirements were obtained from CareLink software every 3 months. Weight was measured at the beginning and at the end of the study.

Statistical analysis was performed with SAS version 8 for Windows (SAS Institute). Frequency distributions and appropriate summary statistics for central tendency and variability were used to describe possible differences between the two groups. The analyses included paired *t* tests to compare potential differences in Hb<sub>A1c</sub> between two groups from baseline.

# Results

Clinical characteristics are shown in Table 1. There was no significant difference of patient's characteristics.

All patients had Hb<sub>A1c</sub> above 7.5% (58.5 mmol/mol) before enrolling in the study. Hb<sub>A1c</sub> decreased in both groups: 7.9% (SD 1.4) [62.8 mmol/mol (SD 12.9)] to 6.9% (SD 1.2) [51.9 mmol/mol (SD 10.8)] in the traditional group, and 7.8% (SD 1.8) [61.7 mmol/mol (SD 17.2)] to 6.7% (SD 1.8) [49.7 mmol/mol (SD 17.3)] in the Internet group), with significant difference in the Internet group at the end of the study.

We did not find significant difference in TDD of insulin and weight change during the study. We noticed three DKA episodes in the Internet group (cannula occlusion and flu), in comparison with two DKA episodes in the traditional group (cannula occlusion), but there was no significant difference (Table 2). There were no severe hypoglycemia events in both groups.

Patient characteristics	Traditional group	Internet group	P value
Number	29	27	
Age (years), mean (SD <sup>a</sup> )	16.9 (2.7)	17.4 (2.4)	.54
Gender			
Male	13	12	
Female	16	15	
Diabetes duration (years), mean (SD)	5.6 (2.1)	5.4 (2.8)	.92
BMI <sup>b</sup> , mean (SD)	22.4 (3.8)	21.7 (3.4)	.64

<sup>a</sup>SD: standard deviation.

<sup>b</sup>BMI: body mass index.



### Petrovski & Zivkovic

Table 2. Glucose control of patients before and at the end of study. Severe hypoglycemia and Diabetic Ketoacidosis (DKA) are calculated as total number of events during the study.

Glucose control	Baseline		After 3 years		
	Traditional group	Internet group	Traditional group	Internet group	P value
$Hb_{A1c}^{a}$ (%), mean (SD <sup>b</sup> )	7.9 (1.4)	7.8 (1.8)	6.9 (1.2)	6.7 (1.8)	<.5
Hb <sub>A1c</sub> (mmol/mol), mean (SD)	62.8 (12.9)	61.7 (17.2)	51.9 (10.8)	49.7 (17.3)	<.5
Mean blood glucose (mmol/l), mean (SD)	9.7 (3.2)	9.8 (2.9)	8.8 (2.4)	8.6 (2.8)	<.5
TDD <sup>c</sup> insulin (units), mean (SD)	48.6 (1.9)	45.4 (2.1)	51 (2.6)	49 (1.7)	NS <sup>d</sup>
Severe hypoglycemia			0	0	NS
DKA <sup>e</sup>			1	2	NS

<sup>a</sup>Hb<sub>A1c</sub>: glycosylated hemoglobin.

<sup>b</sup>SD: standard deviation.

<sup>c</sup>TDD: total daily insulin.

<sup>d</sup>NS: not significant.

<sup>e</sup>DKA: Diabetic Ketoacidosis.

# Discussion

This study evaluates Facebook as a tool for communication and treatment in type 1 diabetes patients on the insulin pump compared with traditional clinic visits.

Outside of the Internet, social media have been shown to improve disease management and health outcomes for patients [17,18]. The use of social media in health care has been widely advocated [19,20], but there is little evidence describing the current state of the science and whether or not these tools can be used to treat the patient and to evaluate the potential benefits [21]. A recent study shows that use of the CareLink system with regular upload and contact with a diabetes team is associated with significantly improved glycemic control in compliant patients on sensor augmented pump [22]. Our findings demonstrate that social media can be used as an Internet tool for treatment of type 1 diabetes patients on the insulin pump as a part of traditional clinic visits. The idea of a synergistic relationship between social media users is one of the main perceived advantages of using these platforms [23]. Some of the recent studies suggest that there is inappropriate substitution for in-person visits and can also potentially lead to harmful results [24]. CareLink analysis together with Facebook was used to advice the patients about their diabetes control and to make changes in basal rates, bolus wizard setting, adherence to therapy, approach for low and high blood sugar, and education. Personalization, presentation, and participation in social media and health care make them highly effective [25]. The content can be tailored to the priorities of the patients. Every Internet visit was personalized with the patient's need (appropriate time and date) and used active patient participation in the decision-making process of diabetes management.

Despite the advantages of social media use in health, criticisms have emerged. The availability of misinformation is a risk, as health care providers are unable to control the content that is posted or discussed [26]. Our study tried to overcome these disadvantages, where the posted comments can be used if only the doctors granted the comment with "like." Additionally, accepting new patients in the groups must pass several controls to be assured that they are real.

Several authors speculate and denounce the role of the Internet in diffusing the flow of disease-management information [27,28], which are reported in several studies with empirical data, where self-management and compliance to insulin pump therapy can be improved using telemedicine [29]. Our findings suggest that Facebook diabetes communities contain a plurality of participants, including patients, family members, and health care providers. Our patients share their personal experience about specific issues (eg, hypoglycemia treatment) from which others can gain information and knowledge. Facebook can be used as a motivational tool, where patients post their Hb<sub>A1c</sub> levels, whereas others support them in the management of their diabetes. We can easily reach the patients with posting educational information on a Facebook group page. Acute complication (DKA and severe hypoglycemia events), TDD insulin, and weight change were not significant in both groups. Our study demonstrates a significant decrease (0.9%) in Hb<sub>A1c</sub> in the Internet group after 3 years. One of the possible reasons for improved diabetes management can be addressed to Internet monthly visits.

The project was lead on a voluntary basis for both patients and doctors. We are trying to raise a new momentum in the possible treatment of type 1 diabetes using social media and understanding from health care decision makers to include this option in their services.

We found that by using social media, patients gain diabetes knowledge and information, can be closer to their health care providers, and interact in their daily adjustments and moreover, it could help patients cope better with their daily life. This trial suggests that patients with type 1 diabetes prefer to communicate with their health care providers using social media. Social media such as Facebook as a tool can assist in standard medical care to improve glucose control in a long-term period in adolescents with type 1 diabetes using an insulin pump therapy.

XSL•FO RenderX

# Acknowledgments

The authors wish to thank all adolescents and their families that participated in the study with great enthusiasm.

# **Authors' Contributions**

Dr Goran Petrovski had full access to all the data in the study and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. GP performed the study concept and design, data acquisition, statistical analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, and clinical revision of manuscript. MZ performed statistical analysis and interpretation of data, drafting of the manuscript, and clinical revision of manuscript.

# **Conflicts of Interest**

None declared.

# References

- Boyle J, Honeycutt A, Narayan KM, Hoerger TJ, Geiss LS, Chen H, et al. Projection of diabetes burden through 2050: impact of changing demography and disease prevalence in the U.S. Diabetes Care 2001 Nov;24(11):1936-1940. [Medline: <u>11679460</u>]
- 2. Ravert R, Hancock M, Ingersoll GM. Online forum messages posted by adolescents with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Educ 2004;30(5):827-834. [doi: 10.1177/014572170403000518] [Medline: 15510534]
- 3. Farmer A, Bruckner HC, Cook M, Hearing SD. Social networking sites: a novel portal for communication. Postgrad Med J 2009 Sep;85(1007):455-459. [doi: 10.1136/pgmj.2008.074674] [Medline: 19734511]
- 4. Christakis N, Fowler J. The collective dynamics of smoking in a large social network. N Engl J Med 2008 May 22;358(21):2249-2258 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1056/NEJMsa0706154] [Medline: 18499567]
- 5. Timimi FK. Medicine, morality and health care social media. BMC Med 2012 Aug 02;10:83 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-10-83] [Medline: 22856531]
- 6. Fox S, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. 2011. The diagnosis difference URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/11/26/</u> <u>the-diagnosis-difference/</u> [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeTspmWS]
- 7. Fox S, Duggan M. Pew Research Center. 2013. Health online 2013 URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/media/</u> /Files/Reports/PIP\_HealthOnline.pdf [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeTvcJD7]
- 8. Duggan M, Brenner J. Pew Research Center. 2013. The demographics of social media users URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/</u> 2013/11/26/the-diagnosis-difference/ [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeTxkqgi]
- Allison M. Can web 2.0 reboot clinical trials? Nat Biotechnol 2009 Oct;27(10):895-902. [doi: <u>10.1038/nbt1009-895</u>] [Medline: <u>19816442</u>]
- Moorhead SA, Hazlett DE, Harrison L, Carroll JK, Irwin A, Hoving C. A new dimension of health care: systematic review of the uses, benefits, and limitations of social media for health communication. J Med Internet Res 2013 Apr 23;15(4):e85 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.2196/jmir.1933] [Medline: 23615206]
- 11. Ling J, Franklin B, Lindsteadt J, Gearon SA. Social marketing: its place in public health. Annu Rev Public Health 1992;13:341-362. [doi: 10.1146/annurev.pu.13.050192.002013] [Medline: 1599593]
- 12. Statista. 2016. Number of monthly active facebook users worldwide URL: <u>https://www.statista.com/statistics/264810/</u> number-of-monthly-active-facebook-users-worldwide/ [accessed 2017-05-29] [WebCite Cache ID 6qoizCjo5]
- 13. De la Torre-Díez I, Díaz-Pernas FJ, Antón-Rodríguez M. A content analysis of chronic diseases social groups on facebook and twitter. Telemed J E Health 2012;18(6):404-408. [doi: 10.1089/tmj.2011.0227] [Medline: 22650380]
- Greene J, Choudhry N, Kilabuk E, Shrank W. Online social networking by patients with diabetes: a qualitative evaluation of communication with facebook. J Gen Intern Med 2011 Mar;26(3):287-292 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-010-1526-3] [Medline: 20945113]
- 15. Troncone A, Cascella C, Chianese A, Iafusco D. What relatives and caregivers of children with type 1 diabetes talk about: preliminary results from a computerized text analysis of messages posted on the Italian facebook diabetes group. In: Bassis S, Esposito A, Morabito F, Pasero E, editors. Advances in Neural Networks: Computational Intelligence for ICT. Switzerland: Springer Nature; 2016:235-242.
- Troncone A, Cascella C, Chianese A, Iafusco D. Using computerized text analysis to assess communication within an Italian type 1 diabetes facebook group. Health Psychol Open 2015 Jul;2(2):1-9 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1177/2055102915615338]
- 17. Sayers S, Riegel B, Pawlowski S, Coyne JC, Samaha FF. Social support and self-care of patients with heart failure. Ann Behav Med 2008 Feb;35(1):70-79. [doi: 10.1007/s12160-007-9003-x] [Medline: 18347906]
- Fox S, Jones S. Pew Research Center. 2009. The social life of health information: Americans pursuit of health takes place within a widening network of both online and offline sources URL: <u>http://www.pewinternet.org/2013/11/26/</u> <u>the-diagnosis-difference/</u> [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeUFzA07]

RenderX

- 19. Morris K. Tweet, post, share--a new school of health communication. Lancet Infect Dis 2011 Jul;11(7):500-501. [Medline: 21842546]
- 20. Villagran M. Methodological diversity to reach patients along the margins, in the shadows, and on the cutting edge. Patient Educ Couns 2011 Mar;82(3):292-297. [doi: 10.1016/j.pec.2010.12.020] [Medline: 21273025]
- 21. Petrovski G, Zivkovic M, Stratrova SS. Social media and diabetes: can facebook and skype improve glucose control in patients with type 1 diabetes on pump therapy? One-year experience. Diabetes Care 2015 Apr;38(4):e51-e52. [doi: 10.2337/dc14-2487] [Medline: 25805869]
- 22. Shalitin S, Ben-Ari T, Yackobovitch-Gavan M, Tenenbaum A, Lebenthal Y, de VL, et al. Using the Internet-based upload blood glucose monitoring and therapy management system in patients with type 1 diabetes. Acta Diabetol 2014 Apr;51(2):247-256. [doi: 10.1007/s00592-013-0510-x] [Medline: 23982170]
- 23. Sarasohn-Kahn J. California Health care Foundation. 2008. The wisdom of patients: health care meets online social media URL: <u>http://www.chcf.org/publications/2008/04/the-wisdom-of-patients-health-care-meets-online-social-media</u> [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeUU2mHn]
- 24. Crocco A, Villasis-Keever M, Jadad A. Analysis of cases of harm associated with use of health information on the internet. JAMA 2002 Jun 05;287(21):2869-2871. [Medline: <u>12038937</u>]
- 25. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. 2011. The health communicator's social media toolkit URL: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/healthcommunication/toolstemplates/socialmediatoolkit\_bm.pdf</u> [accessed 2017-05-22] [WebCite Cache ID 6qeUb4kAZ]
- 26. Chou W, Prestin A, Lyons C, Wen KY. Web 2.0 for health promotion: reviewing the current evidence. Am J Public Health 2013 Jan;103(1):e9-18. [doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.301071] [Medline: 23153164]
- 27. Jain S. Practicing medicine in the age of facebook. N Engl J Med 2009 Aug 13;361(7):649-651. [doi: 10.1056/NEJMp0901277] [Medline: 19675328]
- Thompson L, Dawson K, Ferdig R, Black EW, Boyer J, Coutts J, et al. The intersection of online social networking with medical professionalism. J Gen Intern Med 2008 Jul;23(7):954-957 [FREE Full text] [doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0538-8] [Medline: 18612723]
- Schiaffini R, Tagliente I, Carducci C, Ullmann N, Ciampalini P, Lorubbio A, et al. Impact of long-term use of eHealth systems in adolescents with type 1 diabetes treated with sensor-augmented pump therapy. J Telemed Telecare 2016 Jul;22(5):277-281. [doi: 10.1177/1357633X15598425] [Medline: 26289613]

Edited by G Eysenbach; submitted 14.03.17; peer-reviewed by D Iafusco, G Petrovski; comments to author 19.04.17; revised version received 22.04.17; accepted 24.04.17; published 07.06.17.

<u>Please cite as:</u> Petrovski G, Zivkovic M Impact of Facebook on Glucose Control in Type 1 Diabetes: A Three-Year Cohort Study JMIR Diabetes 2017;2(1):e9 URL: <u>http://diabetes.jmir.org/2017/1/e9/</u> doi:10.2196/diabetes.7693 PMID:30291064

©Goran Petrovski, Marija Zivkovic. Originally published in JMIR Diabetes (http://diabetes.jmir.org), 07.06.2017. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work, first published in JMIR Diabetes, is properly cited. The complete bibliographic information, a link to the original publication on http://diabetes.jmir.org/, as well as this copyright and license information must be included.



Publisher: JMIR Publications 130 Queens Quay East. Toronto, ON, M5A 3Y5 Phone: (+1) 416-583-2040 Email: <u>support@jmir.org</u>

https://www.jmirpublications.com/

